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Key Performance Indicators  
 

 2022 
 

2023 

Employees 175 180 

% Women in Senior Management 50% 50% 

Cultural Diversity in our colleague base1  30% 29% 

Intermediary Net Promoter Score (NPS) 35 32 

Gross New Lending (£m) 795 190 

Total Mortgage Book (£m) 1,750 1,699 

Number of Active Accounts >8,500 >8,500 

Funding raised through Securitisations (£m) 400 750 

Net Interest Income2 (£m) 42.0 33.6 

Operating Costs2 (£m) 34.4 31.7 

Core Operating Profit2 (£m) 11.6 2.6 

Statutory Operating Profit (£m) 1.4 6.0 

Net Interest Margin2 2.19% 1.98% 

 

Colleague Engagement       

A ‘1 Star’ accreditation from Best Companies is a significant achievement. It shows an organisation is 

taking workplace engagement seriously (2022: 1 Star) 

 Trustpilot Score 

4.4 out of 5 (2022: 3.8) 

Sustainability rating 

Belmont Green was recognised with a gold medal accreditation from EcoVadis, one of the world’s 

leading business sustainability rating companies placing us in the top 5% of evaluated companies. 

 
1 Percentage of colleagues with a non-white British ethnicity. 
2 Figures are on a core operating profit basis and excludes items of income or cost that are considered to be 
one-off in nature and fair value accounting adjustments that are outside the Group’s control, consistent with 
the core operating profit table included in the Financial Review section. 
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Strategic Report  
 

Business Overview 
 

Operating under the Vida Homeloans brand, Belmont Green remains a Buy-to-Let (BTL) and 

Residential Owner-occupied (ROO) mortgage lending specialist, focused on meeting the needs of 

under-served customers who typically fall outside the underwriting parameters of mainstream 

mortgage lenders.  

Our business model and strategy are underpinned by our core purpose to ‘Help More People Find A 

Place To Call Home’. Over the past eight years we have lent £3.5 billion serving more than 17,000 

mortgage customers, but we believe we can do much more. 

We are passionate about the role Vida can play in empowering our customers to take the next step 

on their home ownership or landlord journey.  

Through our customer-focused culture, underpinned by our commitment to responsible lending, we 

will continue to work closely with our intermediary partners to support borrowers in these key market 

segments. 

 

What we do: 
 
Specialist lending 
 
Through our mortgage lending programme, we aim to serve the under-served, especially those with 

more nuanced personal circumstances or borrowing needs. Those who, for example, have complex 

income patterns, are self-employed, have ‘thin’ credit histories or are a foreign national or expat 

looking to invest in UK property. They could be a landlord with a BTL business set up through a Limited 

Company, or a landlord looking to mortgage a multi-use property. It is very often a combination of 

such circumstances, which means our customers are unable to access a mortgage from a mainstream 

mortgage lender.  

By using a combination of digitally accessible data and human underwriting expertise, we are able to 

help our customers access the borrowing they need at a level and price that is both affordable and 

sustainable. 

Our mortgages are distributed exclusively through a network of FCA-authorised mortgage 

intermediaries, meaning that every new customer receives independent mortgage advice before 

submitting an application to us. Our distribution strategy is based on building best-in-class 

intermediary advocacy, through dedicated service provision affording our intermediary partners 

direct access to our underwriters. We have centralised our intermediary facing activities into one 

single processing unit ‘V-Hub’, so that intermediary partners can understand up-front the drivers of 

the lending decision and requirements for supporting documentation.  

We have a strong track record of assessing and meeting customer needs through our detailed credit 

and affordability assessments and proactive arrears management and support. Modern technology 
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and external data sources are utilised to automate certain operational tasks, however every 

application received is subject to robust manual underwriting.  

 

How we do it 
 
Our Funding Model 
 
Our mortgage book, totalling £1.7 billion, has been funded through a successful and seasoned 

programme of securitisations. In 2023, the average note funding amounted to £1.4 billion, supported 

by warehouse funding facilities totalling £750 million by the end of the year, along with over £200 

million of capital from our shareholder, Pine Brook3. 

Our mature Tower Bridge Funding securitisation platform continues to attract a broad range of tier 
one investors to a franchise which has issued c.£3.7bn of Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities 
(RMBS) since inception.  
 
Wholesale funding programmes are supported by robust treasury systems and capital markets 
expertise, and we have established a strong reputation on this in the wholesale markets, underscored 
by the scheduled call of our first five issuances. Further highlighting our access to the RMBS market, 
even in a challenging economic climate, our £750m RMBS issuance in 2023 was met with significant 
demand and favourable pricing. 

 

  

 
3 References herein to "shareholder" or "Pine Brook" refer to Pine Brook PD (Cayman) Intermediate, L.P., or as 
implied by the context, its affiliated entities. 
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Chair of the Board's Statement 
 

2023 has proved to be another eventful and challenging year for the UK economy. We saw the highest 

interest rates in many years, alongside persistent rises in the cost of living. Inflation was propelled by 

a significant surge in energy prices, a consequence of the ongoing conflict in Ukraine, and the potential 

for political instability in the UK, with a general election looming large. These circumstances have 

affected our customers deeply and challenged us to provide them with strong levels of support while 

also protecting and developing our business. Despite the difficult economic backdrop and interest rate 

environment, I am pleased to report that 2023 was a year of continued progress for Belmont Green. 

We navigated the year with a focus on our long-term strategic objectives, laying a solid foundation for 

future growth. 

I have again been impressed with how our strategy, purpose and culture have guided our response to 

the external challenges posed and have provided real impetus to the support we have been able to 

give to our customers.  

This annual report sets out the progress we have been able to make in the face of this challenging 

business environment and the positive results we have been able to deliver for our stakeholders. 

The Board and Executive Team remain very focused on continuing to build a safe and sustainable 

business and our long-term vision remains ‘to become the leading challenger brand in the UK specialist 

mortgage market’. We are committed to offering competitive products to both new and existing 

mortgage customers and empowering them to take the next step on their property-owning journey. 

In 2022, we transformed our operating model by establishing the V-Hub, which offers our 

intermediary partners direct access to our underwriters, thereby enhancing our intermediary 

relationships and providing quick access to decision-makers. The simplified credit tiering and 

enhanced lending criteria we introduced in 2023 are tailored not only to serve our current customer 

base but also to ensure scalability and adaptability for future growth. Additionally, the Vida 'service 

pledge' reinforces our commitment to excellence as we continue to evolve. 

We remain very aware of the challenges and downside risks related to rising living costs, higher 

interest rates and inflation and continue to closely monitor customer behaviours. Although mortgage 

arrears have increased from a low level as the loan book continues to season, the level of credit losses 

remains low, demonstrating the effectiveness of our approach to understanding and assessing the 

credit risk of our customers and dealing with difficulties when they arise.  

We have made important steps in embedding the Consumer Duty throughout the business in order to 

deliver good outcomes for our customers, both new and existing. Our colleagues continue to work 

hard to provide the high levels of service that our customers and intermediary partners expect and 

ensure that support is available to all customers, including those who may be vulnerable or in financial 

difficulty, throughout their journey with Vida.  

Our corporate purpose is to ‘Help More People Find A Place To Call Home’ and as our business grows, 

it becomes increasingly important to actively shape and manage our culture. At Belmont Green we 

take great care in all that we do, and our business values and new culture strategy will shape the way 

we run our business and interact with all of our stakeholders.  
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During the year, the Board has spent considerable time discussing the new Culture Strategy and 

engaging with colleagues from the Culture Champions, Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Forum 

and Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Forum to ensure our culture priorities align with our 

approach to Sustainability, Diversity and Inclusion.  

Our colleagues are the bedrock on which the business is built, and it is through their energy, drive and 

responsible decision making that Belmont Green has been able to continue to deliver against its 

strategic aims. We therefore recognise the importance of investing in our people. We are dedicated 

to encouraging a supportive and inclusive culture where colleagues feel they belong and have the 

opportunity to grow and develop. Our commitment to increasing diversity at all levels is reflected in 

our EDI Charter and we strive to ensure that those who work within our business reflect the customers 

and communities we serve. 

We remain committed to being a socially responsible business and have made strong progress 

developing our ESG Strategy, embedding Environmental, Social and Governance considerations and 

enhancing our reporting and disclosure. We believe we can make a genuine and positive impact as a 

business and the commitment we are making has been reflected in a gold medal accreditation from 

EcoVadis, which puts us in the top 5% of the companies they rate.  

As a Board, we remain focused on ensuring our strategy is able to deliver long-term success and I 

would like to thank my fellow Board members, the Executive Team and all colleagues for their hard 

work and contribution to everything we achieved in 2023. I would also like to thank Alan Newton, who 

stepped down from the Board in February 2023, for his significant contribution over the years and 

wish him every success for the future.  

Pine Brook, our primary shareholder, continues to be very supportive and their relationship with the 

Board and Executive Team remains strong. Pine Brook’s continued support and trust means that the 

business remains well capitalised as we look ahead and continue to proactively engage with the 

regulatory authorities on our application to become a bank, regardless of the outcome in the short-

term. 

I am confident that building on our achievements, Belmont Green is well-positioned to significantly 

impact the mortgage market. If we are successful in applying for a banking license, we can extend our 

influence into the savings sector, further enhancing customer choice and value in our chosen 

segments. Our commitment to a customer-focused approach, supported by a robust culture, 

dedicated team, and strong corporate governance, position us well to face any further uncertainties 

in 2024 as the business continues to mature and prosper. 

 

 

 

 

Steve Haggerty,  

Chair 
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Chief Executive’s Review 
 

Introduction 

In a year marked by rising interest rates, we have successfully navigated the resulting changes in 

mortgage demand and the substantial challenges these conditions have posed to customer 

affordability. Against this background, our commercial strategy of focusing on specialist mortgage 

product segments, on applying a robust approach to credit risk management, on maintaining high 

levels of customer retention and on prioritising margins over volume has again served us well. 

That said, the clear limitations of a non-bank operating model have been laid bare as higher interest 

rates have amplified the benefits enjoyed by our peers, a large majority of whom are funded primarily 

through retail deposits. 

Despite these headwinds, our focus on our longer-term strategy has not wavered. We are proud to 

report a third year of continued profitability – a clear indication of our management team's ability to 

cope with tough trading conditions, whilst remaining focused on our primary strategic objective of 

becoming a retail deposit funded bank. With a banking licence in hand, we will have access to a more 

diversified funding base and will be better equipped to compete on a level playing field with other 

specialist mortgage lenders.  

Becoming a Bank 

Transitioning to a bank model is our principal strategic goal, enabling us to accept retail deposits 

directly from customers. This shift will not only allow us to inject heightened competition into the 

mortgage and savings markets but will also enhance choice and value for our customers. The ability 

to accept retail deposits will significantly bolster our business strategy, providing a stable and 

diversified funding source that enhances our competitive edge and minimises the risk to our business 

from disruption in the wholesale funding markets. 

Throughout 2023, we dedicated substantial time and resources toward our banking authorisation 

application. We have submitted our completed application to the UK regulatory authorities and are 

advancing with our comprehensive plan to set up and launch safely once authorisation is granted. 

Trading Overview 

Having sold a £0.5bn loan book towards the end of 2022, we opened the year with mortgage assets 

of £1.7bn.  With a clear focus on writing new mortgage business with sustainable returns rather than 

chasing volume in what was a very competitive marketplace, gross new lending in 2023 was 

consciously limited to £0.2bn.  

With £0.5bn of existing customer loans maturing from a fixed rate deal during 2023, and with higher 

prevailing mortgage rates posing a material payment shock for many customers, our ability to retain 

maturing customers was brought into sharp relief.  

Our decision to invest during 2021 in building out a new digital retention capability was very much 

vindicated, as we saw 62% of maturing customers take a new deal with us, allowing us to limit in year 

redemptions to £0.2bn, meaning that we were able to end the year with net mortgage assets largely 

unchanged at £1.7bn.  
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A continued focus on cost management resulted in an 8.6% reduction in operating costs year on year, 

supporting a statutory profit before tax of £6.0m for 2023 (2022: £1.4m profit), with an underlying 

core operating profit of £2.6m (2022: £11.6m profit) before tax, which reflects our resilience and 

adaptability in navigating the challenging economic landscape.  

We also successfully completed two RMBS transactions in 2023 raising £750m, with another £300m 

raised in early January 2024. Throughout the year, we received robust backing from our banking 

partners, and we continue to retain access to four warehouse facilities. This positions us well to 

support our growth plans in 2024. 

 

Customer Focus 

Inevitably, our success is dependent on delivering good outcomes for our customers, which is 

contingent upon our ability to creatively manage the proposition we offer, guided by our expertise in 

understanding the specialist mortgage market and demonstrating an ability to adapt to fast evolving 

trends.  

We believe our proposition provides good outcomes for customers throughout the whole of their time 

with us, with our approach to underwriting and pricing ensuring the delivery of fair value to everyone. 

Our approach to arrears management, including pre-arrears strategies, ensures that customers, 

particularly vulnerable customers, get the support they need. Our mortgage proposition has been 

informed by, and fully supports the objectives of the Consumer Duty. 

In 2023 we continued to strategically evolve our credit risk appetite, to allow us to offer more tailored 

lending solutions and enhance our ability to meet the diverse needs of our customers.  

We launched a Later Life Lending proposition, further demonstrating our dedication to meeting the 

changing needs of our customers, expanding our product portfolio, and driving business growth. 

In the middle of the year, we implemented a simplified tiering structure across our residential owner-

occupied and buy-to-let products. We also used the insight we gather from our credit risk analytics to 

broaden our lending criteria related to income, property type, and back-to-back remortgages. These 

changes were all aimed at streamlining our credit assessment process and providing greater flexibility 

to assist those customers with only minor credit blips to get access to the best products and rates 

possible.  As a result of these changes, we have witnessed excellent outcomes in terms of customer 

experience during the latter half of the year. 

To further enhance the delivery of our retention strategy, we have pinpointed and addressed critical 

customer challenges to enhance the overall experience. This effort included optimising the user 

journey on our digital portal and refining our customer communications strategy – from rewriting all 

messaging to adjusting the schedule of our email dispatches. Additionally, we enhanced our retention 

tracking capabilities, providing us with a more profound understanding of customer behaviours, 

preferences, and levels of engagement. 
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Operating Model 

We opened the year’s trading having made a significant shift in our operating model by moving from 

a traditional sales-led model towards a more service centred approach. In practice, this led to the 

removal of our field sales resource which was a bold step to take but one which has paid real dividends. 

Our service delivery for both intermediary partners and customers has dramatically improved across 

all measures, evidenced most clearly by the significant improvement in our TrustPilot score which has 

risen to 4.4 (2022: 3.8) out of 5.0, denoting an ‘excellent’ rating. 

This unique shift in the operating model has allowed us to improve the efficiency of our underwriting 

processes whilst also providing intermediary partners with improved response times and direct access 

to decision makers, a recipe which has been warmly received. 

When we launched the V-Hub, we knew that giving intermediaries direct access to underwriters was 

right, but the overall response from brokers has exceeded our expectations. The V-Hub is a central 

communications centre, handling all intermediary queries. It offers our intermediary partners swift 

and efficient support by providing direct access to a decision maker—a knowledgeable human point 

of contact. This contact can advise on case placement, offer the latest updates on in-flight cases, 

provide direct access to the underwriter managing their case and offer insights into our current 

mortgage offerings. 

Our growing confidence is amplified by our ‘service pledge’ through which we commit to refunding 

the customer fee if any of our intermediary partners feel they have received anything but Excellent 

Service. This hard-edged commitment to service excellence forces us to think very hard about the 

quality of what we do and we listen very carefully to the feedback we receive from our key 

intermediary partners. 

Our Intermediary Net Promoter Score (NPS) score remained consistently positive throughout the year, 

reaching +34 in Quarter 4. The overall NPS score for the year was +32 (2022: +35). 

In 2023, significant attention has been devoted to developing exclusive partnership solutions for clubs, 

networks, and packagers. The Premier Packager Club, launched in late Spring, offers exclusive services 

such as a dedicated Packager Support Team, a clear escalation route for challenging cases, a new 

exclusive credit tier, and a dedicated webpage on our website. 

Additionally, a Case Clinic Approach was implemented with our key clubs and networks to further 

enhance our proposition through collaboration. These virtual events allow intermediaries to meet 

with our Intermediary Relationship, V-Hub, and Product Management teams, who share updates on 

our products and proposition, providing a forum for knowledge sharing and support. 

I have attended a series of these meetings with clubs and networks during the year, and an action plan 

was established with each intermediary partner so that we have concrete actions in place to 

strengthen each of our relationships. Finally, in October, we hosted the Annual Key Lender Partner 

event in London, where the team and I updated our intermediary partners on progress and our future 

plans. 
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Strong Credit Risk Management 

With the macroeconomic outlook deteriorating over the course of the year, concerns remain over the 
impact of high inflation on the ability of our customers to meet their monthly payments. 

With that in mind, we have continued to take a proactive approach to customer management, making 
early contact whenever we identify any early signs of payment stress. 

As with all lenders in the mortgage market, we have experienced increased arrears throughout the 

year, with balances at or above 3 months in arrears climbing to 2.2% in December 2023 from 1.3% in 

December 2022. Despite this, our proactive arrears strategy has continued to serve us well, and we 

expect that arrears levels will remain within our overall risk appetite. Additionally, we have 

encountered no material conduct risk issues in the business and have successfully managed all 

controllable risks within our risk appetite. 

A new Enterprise Risk Management Framework has been embedded within the business, 
underpinning what we believe to be a bank standard risk management capability. 

The weighted average current indexed Loan-to-Value (LTV) of the mortgage book has increased 

marginally to 63% (2022: 61%) with the fall in HPI. We have recorded an impairment charge of £0.1m 

for the year with the loan loss coverage reducing to 33 basis points compared to the 34 basis points 

recorded for 2022.  

We will continue to take a cautious approach to the economic outlook in our IFRS 9 modelling, but 

this reduction reflects our view that, despite macroeconomic forecasts predicting potentially 

significant falls in house prices, we have retained a conservative approach to loan loss provisioning. 

 

People and Culture 

As a business with an aspiration to become a bank and grow over the coming years, we recognise the 

importance of having a clearly articulated culture strategy and the need to actively manage how it 

embeds in the business together with the behaviours which exemplify it. Our culture goes to the heart 

of who we are as a business and shapes the decisions we make, the behaviours we expect and the 

outcomes we strive for. The Board, Executive Team and wider leadership team have therefore worked 

extensively throughout 2023 to develop a clearly defined culture strategy and set out how that 

translates at a practical level into our shared behaviours and values. 

Colleague engagement remains exceptionally positive, as reflected in the high scores attained in our 
recent survey. For the first time, we've earned a spot on the Best Companies' list of the 100 best mid-
sized companies to work for in the UK. This recognition underscores our commitment to ongoing 
improvement, fuelled by valuable feedback from our team.  

We take pride in our diverse workforce, championing both ethnic and gender diversity through our 
EDI work programme. This effort has not gone unnoticed externally, as evidenced by our inclusion as 
a finalist at the Financial Reporter Women’s Recognition Awards, where we shared the stage with 
notable names in the financial services industry.  

Three years ago, we signed up to the HM Treasury Women in Finance Charter, committing to the 

progression of women in senior roles within financial services and have substantially met the targets 
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set. I am delighted to note that 50% of senior management roles within the organisation are now filled 

by women.  

In 2023 a standalone Culture Committee was established, which is Chaired by the Chief Legal & Culture 

Officer. This committee is tasked with ensuring effective oversight of the embedding of a culture which 

fully reflects the Vida Values and embodies a ‘customer first’ approach. It also plays a crucial role in 

challenging and reviewing people and conduct frameworks to oversee the delivery of an impactful 

workplace culture and a customer experience that sets Vida apart. 

 

Outlook 

Specialist mortgage lenders play an increasingly critical role in supporting borrowers overlooked by 

the larger lenders. We have established a successful, sustainable, and responsible lending business by 

working hard to understand and respond to the needs of our customers.  

As a management team, we have a proven track record for reacting swiftly and decisively to meet 

challenges posed by a shifting environment. We enter 2024 in a confident position, with committed 

funding capacity in place, a maturing loan book, a strong capital base, cautious provisioning reflecting 

the increasing arrears position, and a well-established distribution franchise – we are therefore well 

placed to execute on our plans for the year ahead. As a team, we remain fully committed to becoming 

the leading challenger brand in the UK specialist mortgage market, so that we can help ever more 

people find a place to call home. 

 



Belmont Green Limited 
For year ended 31 December 2023 
Corporate Governance Report 
 

13 

 

Our Culture and Values 
 

We are proud to have built a culture founded on the ethos of caring, and that ethos sits at the heart 
of our Vida Values, driving the way we run our business and interact with our customers and other 
stakeholders on a daily basis. We genuinely care about delivering the right outcomes for all of our 
stakeholders, whom we consider through the cultural framework of 4C’s; our customers, our 
colleagues, our company and the wider communities in which we operate.  

  

From the start to the end of their journey with us, our customers can trust us to put their needs and 

financial objectives at the centre of every decision we make, to do what’s right and to support them 

through the challenges they face along the way. In trying to meet the needs of all customers, not just 

the chosen few, we aim to be fair and open in all communications and processes, with the objective 

of ensuring that people get the very best possible deal they can. We will always try to act in their best 

interests to deliver good outcomes and to support them if circumstances mean they may be 

vulnerable. In short, we put the principles of the Consumer Duty at the very centre of everything we 

do. 

Our colleagues feel they belong in what is a diverse and collaborative environment, where they are 

empowered to take responsibility for driving delivery; where transparency is valued, and challenge is 

welcomed; and where everyone is supported to grow and develop. Echoing this dedication, our latest 

engagement survey results show that 88% of our colleagues feel that people at Vida genuinely care 

for each other and go out of their way to help, highlighting the strength and compassion of our team 

dynamics. We embrace a diversity of backgrounds and experiences in our people, in the deeply held 

belief that better outcomes will be achieved for customers if employees are better placed to 

empathise with and understand their unique circumstances. A one size fits all approach to life can 

often leave certain segments of society excluded or let down, and not least those who may be more 

vulnerable, so we try to keep this front of mind in all our dealings with customers. 

As a company we aim to build a resilient and sustainable business, one that delivers a fair profit by 

balancing the financial objectives of our shareholders with the needs of our customers, ensuring that 

the achievement of good customer outcomes is never compromised. We have already demonstrated 

our agility and ability to adapt to the challenges which all organisations have faced in recent times. By 

transitioning to become a bank, we will further enhance the resilience of our business model and 

ensure that even more people can be supported to find a place to call home.  

And we care deeply about the role we play in the society around us, understanding that in achieving 

our business purpose we help create inclusive and sustainable communities. We believe we have a 

responsibility to give back our time and resources into those communities because even small actions 

can make a real difference. Our ESG Strategy embodies our approach to our broader environmental 

and societal responsibilities as an organisation. Our core work helps communities thrive by providing 

improved access to safe and affordable housing for more people – a key building block of any thriving 

society. In addition, we give back to our communities by making available funds, expertise and time 

to help foster partnerships which can benefit those communities in which our customers live and 

work.  
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The Vida Values are well-established inside the business and recognised throughout the organisation. 

They provide a frame of reference for the behaviours expected from our colleagues every day. 

Refreshed in 2022, our Vida Values place an emphasis on being progressive as an organisation and 

trying to find ways to break old conventions, especially those which cause exclusion or customer harm. 

 

VISIONARY: We learn by breaking old habits and innovating to find creative solutions to 
problems. 

INCLUSIVE: We value each other’s differences and work hard to see people for who they 
really are. 

DYNAMIC:  We embrace change and get results by taking decisive action. 

AUTHENTIC: We build trust by being honest, straightforward and by keeping our promises. 

In summary, we value a Visionary, Inclusive, Dynamic and Authentic approach to achieving our 

purpose. At the heart of this is the fact that we care about our customers, our colleagues, our company 

and our communities. We believe that when these elements work together, we will be more 

competitive, we will attract and retain the best talent, our business and brand will sustain, and our 

communities will prosper. So we will be able to help more people find a place to call home. 
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Strategic Progress 
 

2023 represented another year of progress for Belmont Green against our longer-term business 

strategy and positioning the business for sustained profitable growth as an authorised UK bank.  

              

  Design compelling 
products and 
services for all our 
customers 

Deliver 
decisioning 
excellence and a 
first-class 
service  

Deepen our 
key 
intermediated 
distribution 
relationships 

Optimise 
funding to 
unlock 
growth 
ambitions  

Create a culture 
which 
empowers all 
colleagues to do 
their best work 

Successfully 
transition to a 
sustainable 
bank operating 
model 

Goals 

Design innovative 
propositions to help more 
people further their saving 
and homeowning 
ambitions 

Combine human 
expertise with digital 
tools and data insight  
to optimise the 
customer journey   

Build advocacy and 
trust through a 
singular focus on 
experience delivery 

Maintain access 
to stable, high-
quality and well 
diversified 
sources of 
funding  

Create a caring and 
supportive 
environment where 
individuals feel able to 
express themselves 
with confidence 

Embed a unified 
enterprise-wide 
control framework, 
delivering bank 
standard oversight and 
monitoring of a fully 
developed bank 

֍ Use deep market insight 
and data analytics to 
identify underserved 
customer segments and 
their key characteristics  
 

֍ Deploy carefully 
targeted proposition 
development to support 
good customer outcomes, 
underpinning planned 
organic originations growth   
 

֍ Utilise risk-based pricing 
methodologies whilst 
ensuring fair and 
transparent pricing for 
both new and existing 
customers 
  

֍ Maintain a strong 
retentions proposition, 
including efficient, digital 
processes and competitive 
product offerings 
 

֍ Support vulnerable 
customers and support 
those customers facing 
difficulty or changing life 
circumstances 
  

֍ Provide an 
excellent experience 
across the end-to-end 
customer lifecycle 
 

֍ Leverage an 
underwriting approach 
that can flex to meet 
customer 
circumstances and 
case complexity   
 

֍ Empower skilled 
underwriters to apply 
qualified discretion 
whilst operating within 
a clearly defined 
lending mandate  
 

֍ Utilise technology 
and data to remove 
friction from the 
customer journey  
  

֍ Outsource to expert 
partners for delivery of 
first class back-office 
services   

֍ Provide direct 
access to expert 
decision makers 
 

֍ Tailor marketing 
and distribution 
engagement to key, 
high potential 
partners, working 
with them to design 
and refine our 
communications and 
proposition  
 

֍ Be proactive and 
visible with our key 
partners – investing 
time to understand 
their business model 
and helping them to 
build their business 
as we build our own 
 

֍ Utilise creative 
brand marketing to 
amplify our key 
messaging across 
multiple channels   

֍ Fully 
leverage a 
securitisation 
funding 
programme and 
balance sheet 
management to 
minimise 
liquidity risk  
 

֍ Use forward 
flow alliances to 
fully exploit 
operational 
capacity whilst 
optimising 
capital usage   
 

֍ Gain access 
to retail 
deposits and 
central bank 
funding through 
a banking 
licence approval  
  

֍ Access 
diversified and 
cost-effective 
sources of 
capital to 
support balance 
sheet scale and 
minimise 
capital risk 

֍ Actively seek to 
create a diverse and 
inclusive workplace 
where equality and 
fairness form part of 
our business DNA 
   

֍ Create 
opportunities for our 
people to develop new 
skills, gain new 
experiences and have 
a positive impact on 
the world   
 

֍ Celebrate those 
moments when 
colleagues find a way 
to truly uphold the 
values and behaviours 
we aspire to   
 

֍ Embed and deliver 
against our Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion 
Charter 
 

֍ Embed a business 
appropriate hybrid 
working model that 
fully empowers our 
people to own their 
agenda and balance 
their work and home 
lives  

֍ Maintain a Board 
and Executive Team 
with the skills and 
experience required in 
a Prudential 
Regulation Authority 
(PRA) and Financial 
Conduct Authority 
(FCA) regulated 
environment 
 

֍ Adhere to 
governance processes 
with strong conduct 
and fair customer 
outcomes at their 
heart  
 

֍ Manage within an 
approved risk appetite 
appropriate to the 
strategy of the 
business and which 
avoids any 
unrewarded risk   
  

֍ Design resilience 
into the operating 
model ensuring data 
security, systems 
integrity and business 
continuity in our 
owned and outsourced 
business processes 
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2023 

֍ Updated our lending 
policy and risk tiering to 
more fully align to our 
Board approved credit risk 
appetite, expanding our 
proposition to serve a 
wider customer base and 
deliver better customer 
outcomes   
 

֍ Completed £0.2bn of 
organic mortgage loan 
originations, maintaining 
net mortgage loans at 
£1.7bn 
 

֍ A new Later Life 
Lending proposition was 
launched 
 

֍ Continued 
enhancements to our 
retentions proposition 
enabled us to retain £0.3bn 
of business in 2023, more 
than double 2022 
 
 
  

֍ Average call 

response time: 12 

seconds; call 

abandonment rate 

below 1% 

֍  More than 13,000 
calls were answered 

directly by 

underwriters 

֍ 16 days speed to 
offer (2022: 24) vs 
market average of 29 
days for Specialist 
lenders) 
 

֍ Intermediary Net 

Promoter (NPS) score 

of +32 (2022: +35) 

 

֍ Achieved a 
TrustPilot rating of 4.4 
(2022: 3.8) vs the 
industry average of 
2.9, marking the 
highest level of 
customer satisfaction 
in our history  

֍ A new 
intermediary-centric 
operating model, 
fully embedded in 
the business and 
very well received by 
the broker 
community 
 

֍ A new service 
pledge launched for 
intermediaries with 
1.18% claims made 
under the guarantee   

֍ The business 
reported its 
third 
consecutive 
year of 
profitability 
 

֍ Completed 
two 
securitisations 
totalling £750m 
of loans 
via our Tower 
Bridge Funding 
programme 

 
֍ Ongoing 
capital support 
from our 
primary 
shareholder 
Pine Brook   

֍ Hybrid working 
model successfully 
embedded   
 

֍ Board approved 
Culture Strategy now 
in place 
 
֍ Vida was 

recognised as one of 

the UK's top 100 mid-

sized companies, a 

testament to our 

strong colleague 

engagement and 

commitment to 

excellence 

 

֍ Enhanced 
Employee Value 
Proposition embedded 
 

֍ EDI Charter is 
enhanced with 50% of 
senior management 
positions now filled by 
women 
 
֍ All the actions from 

our ESG Strategy have 

been completed 

 
 
 
 
  

֍ Balances at or 
above 3 months in 
arrears remaining 
within our credit risk 
tolerances at 2.2% 
(2022: 1.3%) 
 

֍ New Enterprise Risk 
Management 
Framework approved 
by Board and adopted 
 

֍ Strengthened 
support provided to 
vulnerable customers 
and those in financial 
difficulty 
 
 
 
  

Forward 
Look 

֍ Design and build out our 
lending proposition into to 
new segments 
 

֍ Launch our first retail 
savings proposition to the 
market 
 

֍ Commercially exploit 
our credit risk appetite 
more fully  
 

֍ Utilise forward flow 
partnerships or asset sales 
to enhance returns as a 
bridge to bank status  

֍ Ensure good 

outcomes for all 

customers, especially 

vulnerable and those 

facing payment 

difficulties 

֍ Further deploy 
technology and data to 
drive enhanced 
operational efficiency 
 

֍ Maintain reputation 
for service excellence 
at greater scale 
 

 

֍ Demonstrate 

that the V-Hub 

operating model can 

operate successfully 

at scale  

 

֍ Fully centralise all 

broker queries and 

engagement into V-

Hub 

֍ Launch the 

banking brand 

internally and to all 

stakeholders 

 
  

֍ Source the 
capital needed 
to support our 
planned lending 
growth  
 

֍ Further 

optimise 

funding 

programme and 

build investor 

engagement 

֍ Optimise 

cash 

management to 

support bank 

transition  

 

֍ Fully embed a clear 

understanding of our 

Culture at all levels 

within the business 

֍ Evolve the hybrid 

working model as 

needed to balance 

business and colleague 

needs 

֍ Fully integrate our 
behaviours framework 
ready for life as a bank 
 

֍ Continue to deliver 

against our ESG 

Strategy  

 
  

֍ Receive regulatory 

approval for becoming 

a bank 

֍ Deliver bank-ready 

operating model and 

risk and control 

framework 

֍ Build sustainable 

profitability and 

shareholder returns  
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REGULATIONS 
 
During the year all relevant regulatory publications have been reviewed in detail by Belmont Green, 
any implications identified and required changes implemented within an appropriate timeframe. 
The volume of requests for information from the FCA has, as expected, increased during the year 
with particular focus on exercising forbearance for customers as the cost of living crisis developed. 
Belmont Green responds to such requests in a timely fashion and maintains robust controls to 
support the delivery of fair customer outcomes.  
 
The FCA Consumer Duty sets higher expectations for the standard of support provided to 
customers, and challenges firms to evidence the customer outcomes they are delivering. 
Implementation of the new rules is staged (with the requirement for existing products to be 
compliant by July 2023, and closed products by July 2024). This has been a priority area for Belmont 
Green during the year with activity being championed by the Board, and a Non-Executive Director 
assigned responsibility for oversight of the programme. The areas targeted for implementation 
during 2023 were delivered as planned, with the focus now on implementation for the closed 
products by July 2024. 
 
Belmont Green’s approach against the four key outcomes is described in the Sustainability Report. 
 

  

Key and emerging risks4: 

 

A review of each of these themes is provided in the Risk Report. 

 

  

 
4 Key and emerging risks are identified within each of the principal risk categories. 

Geopolitical risk Economic and 
competitive 
environment 

Credit impairment Material delay in 
securing banking 
licence 

Scale and pace of 
business change 

Information and 
cyber security risk  

Scale and pace of 
regulatory initiatives 
and change 

Embedding of 
Consumer Duty 
requirements 

Financial crime Climate risk   
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UK Mortgage Market  
 

Lending Volume 

2023 was a challenging year for both prospective and existing mortgage borrowers. The increase in 

Bank of England base rate across 2022 and early 2023 resulted in higher mortgage rates, significantly 

impacting on affordability, which was further exacerbated by high levels of inflation increasing the 

cost of living for many customers. 

As well as mortgages becoming less affordable, potential borrowers also adopted a more cautious 

approach, due to a combination of the worsening economic backdrop and forecast reductions in 

house prices.  

Against this backdrop, total residential property transactions in 2023 fell by 19% to 1,018,890, the 

lowest level since 2012. 

Overall gross lending in 2023 was £223bn, a 29% reduction from £314bn in 2022. 

Reflecting the constraints outlined, the most significant driver of the reduction in the market was the 

home mover market which fell 31% in the year to £133bn. 

Additionally, remortgage activity saw a decrease of 23% as a larger share of existing borrowers seeking 

to refinance chose to undertake a Product Transfer with their current lender. In such cases, full 

affordability assessments are generally not necessary, provided there is no increase in the loan 

amount or any other significant change. This shift contributed to an increase in Product Transfer 

transactions, which rose to £219 billion, a 11% uplift from the 2022 figures. 

While both the Residential Owner-occupied (ROO) and Buy-to-Let (BTL) markets have shown similar 

trends, the decline in gross lending has been notably sharper in the BTL market. Specifically, there was 

a 50% decrease in overall advances to £28 billion, as reported by UK Finance, in contrast to a 22% 

reduction in the residential sector. The BTL market experienced downturns in both purchase and 

remortgage segments. Despite robust tenant demand, purchase activities have been adversely 

affected by rising costs and landlords' apprehensions about potential new regulations. 

Our observations indicate that the downturn in the specialist market has been less severe, a situation 

attributed to a higher number of consumers facing difficulties in fulfilling mainstream lenders' criteria 

and a cautious shift in risk appetite among some prime mortgage lenders, which has, in turn, directed 

a larger customer base towards specialist lenders. We estimate the specialist market's value at £18 

billion in 2023, marking a 21% decrease, which is less than the overall market contraction of 29%. 

Despite the general market slowdown, demand for BTL within the specialist segment has remained 

relatively strong, with BTL lending constituting c. 76% of specialist gross lending. This proportion has 

stayed fairly stable throughout the year, buoyed by consistent underlying demand for privately rented 

housing and, consequently, a resilient specialist BTL borrowing sector. Over the past year, we've noted 

that while some smaller, amateur landlords are leaving the market due to economic and regulatory 

pressures, more seasoned investors continue to engage with the sector. This reflects the generally 

greater experience of landlords with specialist lenders due to larger average portfolios and a greater 

associated level of involvement. The ability of specialist landlords to diversify their income streams 
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across multiple properties also renders them less susceptible to financial instabilities during economic 

downturns, enabling better management of adverse conditions.  

House prices fell in 2023 across all the major indices, though the reductions seen were relatively 

modest and lower than anticipated by market commentators. 

 

Market Outlook 

In December 2023 UK Finance forecast a further 5% contraction in the gross mortgage market in 2024, 

reflecting the higher rate environment and ongoing low consumer confidence. Our own view is slightly 

more positive, reflecting recent improving economic data and early evidence of rate reductions driving 

increased activity levels. 

Anticipated interest rate reductions across 2024, and a gradual improvement in affordability and 

consumer confidence alongside pent-up demand is likely to limit any further reduction in house prices, 

with a potential for them to remain broadly flat year on year. 

 

Mortgage Arrears and Possessions 

UK Finance reported that the final quarter of 2023 saw 93,680 homeowner mortgages with arrears of  

2.5% or more of the outstanding balance. This represents a 7% increase from the previous quarter and 

a notable 25% escalation from the same period in 2022. Despite these challenges, the rate of mortgage 

possessions varied, with 540 homeowner mortgaged properties being repossessed in Q4 2023, 

reflecting a 14% decrease compared to the preceding quarter. 

The Buy-To-Let (BTL) mortgage sector faced its own set of challenges, with 13,570 mortgages in 

arrears of at least 2.5% of the outstanding balance in the last quarter of 2023, marking an 18% increase 

from the previous quarter and a striking 124% surge from Q4 2022. Repossessions in the BTL sector 

also increased, with 500 properties repossessed in Q4 2023, up by 11% from the preceding quarter. 

While mortgage rates are anticipated to have peaked and are expected to begin a decline in 2024, the 

persistence of these figures highlights the continuing hardship faced by many borrowers. The sector's 

recovery remains incomplete, reflecting the sustained impact of the evolving economic landscape on 

homeowners and property investors. Fitch Rating’s Global 2024 Credit Outlook estimated UK market 

late-stage mortgage arrears (3 months+) will increase from 1% for 2023 to 1.25% for 2024 and 1.40% 

for 2025. 

In response, the government, in collaboration with the Financial Conduct Authority and lenders, has 

implemented the Mortgage Charter, providing vital support to UK mortgage holders. Additionally, 

lender-imposed stress tests have ensured borrowers' resilience against increased mortgage payments, 

even when interest rates surpass those at the inception of their mortgage agreements. 

Notably, the total number of possessions across both BTL and homeowner mortgaged properties 

remained relatively low at 1,040 in Q4 2023, a stark contrast to nearly 2,000 possessions in Q4 2019, 

before the pandemic. This data underscores the effectiveness of the measures implemented to 

support mortgage holders, despite the growing financial pressures in the evolving economic climate. 
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Our Mortgage Book  

All our new mortgages are distributed through intermediaries, with 96% of lending in 2023 on a fixed 

rate basis, mainly with a 2- or 5-year term. 

Lending Volumes 2022/3 (£m) 

 2022 2023 
Net new Lending5 683 190 
Repayments (net of interest) (264) (240) 
Asset Sale (481) - 
Net Lending (62) (50) 
Closing Balance Sheet 1,750 1699 
   
Product Transfers 113 305 

 

In the latter half of 2022, given the prevailing economic climate, we undertook measures to 

significantly curtail new lending volumes. This decision came in the wake of a noticeable divergence 

between the costs of wholesale and retail funding, which gave a considerable competitive advantage 

to those mortgage lenders with access to retail deposits. 

In response to these market dynamics, 2023 saw us refine our offerings to focus on delivering 

sustainable product returns rather than chasing volume.  We achieved this by enhancing our lending 

criteria and streamlining our credit tiering strategy for both BTL and ROO loans, ensuring our 

continuing competitiveness in a challenging economic landscape. 

The year 2023 concluded with new lending amounting to £190 million, of which £123 million (65%) 

was attributed to BTL and £67 million (35%) to ROO loans. This marked a shift from the 2022 

distribution, where BTL loans constituted 81% and ROO loans 19% of our lending portfolio. 

In 2023, reflecting the reduction in our new lending aspirations, increasing product maturity volumes, 

and the prevailing market environment, we also made significant further improvement to our already 

strong product transfer proposition. Customers approaching the maturity of their product, or on a 

revert rate, are able to request a product transfer through our bespoke online portal either directly or 

via their broker. Further improvements made during the year included additional pre-maturity 

customer communications with enhanced wording to improve clarity, numerous customer journey 

improvements to our Product Transfer portal and system enhancements plus widening the availability 

of our portal to Packagers.  

Our strong retention proposition helped to limit redemptions in 2023 to £240m (net of interest), 

slightly below the level seen in 2022, despite our 2023 product maturity volumes more than doubling 

from 2022. Product Transfer volumes in 2023 were £305m, an increase from £113m in 2022. 

Consequently, the proportion of customers taking a new deal with Vida increased to 62% of maturities 

in 2023, with the mix being predominately BTL (76%), broadly in line with the maturity mix. 

 
5 Gross new lending net of forward flow 
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As of 31 December 2023, the overall mortgage balances remained stable at £1.7 billion, with 74% of 

the lending attributed to BTL and the remaining 26% to ROO properties. A significant majority of our 

customers have chosen fixed-rate products, with only 9% currently on a variable rate. This figure was 

a slight decrease from the previous year, as many customers opted for the security of new fixed-rate 

deals amidst a rising rate environment.  

The loan book's weighted average current indexed Loan-to-Value (LTV) stood at 63% as of 31 

December 2023, indicating a healthy balance in our lending practices. Notably, only 1% of the loan 

book had an LTV above 85% , reflecting our prudent approach to credit risk management. The average 

LTV for new mortgage lending in 2023 was 70%. 

Our BTL portfolio, anchored in residential properties, includes loans for specialist property types such 

as Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and Multi-Unit Blocks (MUBs), which make up 22% (2022: 

20%) of our BTL loan book. A notable 29% (2022: 25%) of the BTL portfolio consists of loans borrowed 

via limited companies, and approximately 42% (2022: 42%) of our BTL clients are portfolio landlords, 

each owning four or more properties. Despite the surge in mortgage interest rates, our origination 

practices have maintained a strong weighted average interest coverage ratio at 171% (2022: 172%), 

with an even higher rate of 219% (2022: 225%) for HMOs and MUBs. 97% (2022: 97%) of our BTL 

customers opt for interest-only mortgages, and five-year fixed-rate mortgages remain the preference 

for 86% (2022: 88%) of our clients, showcasing a significant demand for financial stability amongst our 

borrowers. The BTL loan book's weighted average Loan-to-Value (LTV) at origination and the average 

loan size have remained relatively stable, standing at 71% (2022: 72%) and £226k (2022: £229k), 

respectively. 

Turning to our ROO portfolio, we continue to support diverse home ownership aspirations, with just 

over 50% of our lending directed towards first-time buyers. Our approach is inclusive, accommodating 

complex income scenarios or minor adverse credit histories in our affordability assessments. This 

inclusivity benefits, among others, the self-employed, where approximately 28% (2022: 29%) of our 

ROO lending has been where at least 1 applicant is self-employed. High loan-to-income (LTI) multiples 

above 4.5 remain a rarity, with the average LTI comfortably positioned at 3.4 (2022: 3.4). Most of our 

ROO customers, 95% to be precise, favour capital and interest repayment mortgages. Historically, the 

majority of these customers have shown a preference for either two or five-year fixed-rate mortgages, 

accounting for 42% and 56% respectively (2022: 48% and 51%). The weighted average LTV at 

origination for the ROO loan book and the average loan size have consistently been stable at 72% 

(2022: 72%) and £164k (2022: £164k). 

We remain focused on supporting our customers and helping them navigate the changing economic 

environment.  At origination less than 10% of our borrowers meet the FCA definition of ‘credit 

impaired’ as we continue to closely monitor customer behaviours. Arrears have increased from a low 

level as the loan book continues to season and the economic environment became more challenging. 

As of 31 December 2023, balances at or above three months in arrears were 2.2% (vs. 1.3% in 2022). 

The increase in arrears was largely due to the impact of the rising costs of living and borrowing on a 

small group of borrowers, and we continue to work closely with those needing assistance. The level 

of new forbearance requests remains low with 55 (2022: 52) live Agreement to Pay (ATP) as at the end 

of December, representing <1%% of the book.  
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Financial Review 
 

Given the challenging market conditions experienced in the year, we are pleased to report another 

year of statutory profit before tax of £6.0m (2022: £1.4m profit). This profit exceeded the targeted 

profit for the business in 2023 and there was a core operating profit before tax of £2.6m (2022: £11.6m 

profit) demonstrating the ongoing profitability of the business model. Further details are set out in 

the “Core Operating Profit” section below. 

2023 saw a continuation in the volatility of both 2-year and 5-year swap rates, ranging between highs 

of 6.23% and 5.37% and lows of 3.79% and 3.27% respectively. The changes in the interest rate 

environment have shifted the competitive landscape and in particular the returns available for non-

bank lenders. As such, we have focused on managing our balance sheet growth in line with preparing 

to become a bank.  

Our origination levels in 2023 reflected a subdued market for both Residential Owner-Occupied and 

Buy-to-Let lending, with gross new lending of £190m (2022: 683m) for the year. This was 

supplemented by increased retention lending volumes of £305m (2022: £113m). As a result of this 

strong retention performance, our balance sheet remained stable with gross loans to customers of 

£1.70bn (2022: £1.75bn) at the end of 2023.  

Our RMBS platform, Tower Bridge Funding, continues to be a highly regarded and respected funding 

franchise within the UK. Two transactions were executed in 2023 raising £750m. By the close of 2023, 

the company had completed ten public transactions, with the fifth of these successfully being called 

in June. Belmont Green utilises RMBS funding to augment warehouse funding capacity. 

Throughout 2023, we continued to have access to four warehouse facilities. We have experienced 

strong support from our banking partners over the course of the year and successfully renewed two 

warehouses in the year at competitive rates, with our banking partners continuing to work with us to 

accommodate changes to lending policy, which allowed us to broaden our product offering.  

In summary, this year we have achieved a statutory profit despite market headwinds and without 

access to deposit funding. We have delivered this profit whilst continuing to implement new, bank 

standard systems and procedures. Through a strong retention performance, the business has 

preserved the size of the mortgage book, in spite of the reduced new business originations caused by 

price shifts in the market. The successful completion of two RMBS transactions in the year with surplus 

demand demonstrates a continuation of the Tower Bridge Funding franchise’s strong reputation. 

However, with wholesale funding market spreads remaining higher than pre-2021 levels and the 

aforementioned shift in mortgage pricing, having access to retail deposits will be of great importance 

to the business as we look to grow profitability in the future. 

Income Statement 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income decreased to £33.7m from £42.9m in 2022, given the stability in the size of the 

mortgage book net interest margin (NIM) also decreased to 1.99% in 2023 (2022: 2.24%). The fall in 

NIM was largely driven by overall market competition putting pressure on the mortgage yields 

achievable on new lending.  
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Gross Funding costs increased to 6.15% compared to 2.93% in 20226 reflecting predominantly the 

higher interest rate environment and to a lesser extent funding margins. The increase in funding 

margin was largely driven by the replacement of existing deals with the completion of Tower Bridge 

Funding 2023-1 PLC and Tower Bridge Funding 2023-2 PLC which were priced at the higher prevailing 

market rate. 

Other Operating Income 

Other operating income of £0.9m in 2023 (2022: £(6.2)m) consisted principally of the servicing fees 

received on loans that were sold as part of the forward flow agreement in 2021 and 2022. The charge 

included in this line in 2022 included the loss of £9.6m on sale of a portfolio of loans. 

Fair Value Movements 

Fair value movements reflect the impact of changing interest rates on financial instruments held at 

fair value, primarily interest rate derivatives and the offsetting impact on the change in fair value of 

the underlying assets and floating rate liabilities, allowed due to the application of macro fair value 

and macro cash flow hedge accounting. 

Belmont Green intends to hold its loans and financial instruments to maturity and these movements 

will unwind over the lifetime of the loans and the fair value movement is not viewed as part of the 

core performance of the business. In 2023, a profit of £3.9m was recorded from fair value movements 

compared to a loss of £0.7m in 2022. For further details on fair value movements, please refer to note 

7 to the financial statements. 

We continued to carry out pipeline hedging throughout 2023. These hedges are accounted for using 

cash flow hedging. As the loans that we intend to hedge are not yet on the balance sheet, a hedging 

relationship is formed between the floating interest rate on funding and the financial instruments. 

The ability to hedge loans at application stage, allows us to mitigate our exposure to swap rate 

fluctuations in the period between application and completion. This year, the amortisation of cashflow 

hedges which have been de-designated upon completion of the mortgage, have been reclassified from 

net profit/(loss) from derivatives to other interest income. This income, therefore, is now included 

within net interest income as this better reflects the economic impact of de-designated cashflow 

hedges. No adjustment has been made to prior year results on the grounds of materiality. 

Administrative Expenses 

Once again, in 2023, cost control was a key focus area. Despite incurring costs of £0.7m on building 

the infrastructure and making structural changes for bank readiness, total administrative expenses for 

the year decreased to £32.4m in 2023 compared to £35.5m in 2022. This was in a large part due to 

the review of headcount levels at the end of 2022 that reduced expenses by £3m on an annual basis. 

After excluding the one-off items highlighted in the Core Operating Profit section below, the 

comparison becomes £31.7m in 2023 versus £34.4m in 2022. This represents a 7.8% decrease. 

  

 
6 Funding costs are defined as interest expense divided by total warehouse and securitisation funding on a 13-point 

average basis. 
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Impairment Provisions 

In 2023, the impairment charge in the income statement was £0.1m compared to a credit of £0.5m in 

2022. This year we have taken the view that the number of Post-Model Adjustments (PMA) applied 

in previous years to the IFRS 9 model could be reduced, most notably with respect to affordability and 

EPC ratings. The reduction in the Affordability PMA reflects the increased provisions being calculated 

by the IFRS 9 model as the rising cost of living was reflected in the increased risk profile of the customer 

base. The EPC PMA was removed following government legislation that scrapped the requirements 

for EPC ratings for Buy-to-Let properties. 

Arrears levels increased steadily during 2023. At the end of 2023, loan balances at or above 3 

months in arrears made up 2.2% of the total loan book compared to 1.3% in 2022. An element of this 

increase is attributable to the relative seasoning of our book which was then re-enforced by our 

subdued levels of new origination this year. We will continue to monitor these trends going forward 

and take action as and when necessary. 

Core Operating Profit 

The statutory profit before tax for 2023 was £6.0m (2022: £1.4m profit) whilst the core operating 

profit was £2.6m (2022: £11.6m). Core operating profit excludes items of income or cost that are 

considered to be one-off in nature and fair value accounting adjustments that are outside the Group’s 

control. The table below sets out the adjustments made to operating profits, as well as the individual 

net interest income and administrative expenses components, in the derivation of core operating 

profit.  

 2023  2022 

 

Net 
interest 
income 

Admin 
expenses 

Profit 
before 

taxation  

Net 
interest 
income 

Admin 
expenses 

Profit 
before 

taxation 

 £m £m £m  £m £m £m 

            
Per Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 33.7  (32.4) 6.0   42.9  (35.5) 1.4  

Adjustments            

Loan portfolio sale          9.6  

Fair value volatility    (3.9) 
 

   0.7  

Remediation provisions (0.1)  (0.2) 
 

(0.9)  (1.2) 

Exceptional items             

- restructure      
 

  1.0  1.0  

- lease termination      
 

  0.1  0.1  

Banking licence one-off costs   0.7  0.7  
 

     

            

Core income/expenses/profit 33.6  (31.7) 2.6  
 

42.0  (34.4) 11.6  
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Items which were not considered core operating items included the fair value volatility on financial 
instruments that are part of the Group’s hedging arrangements of on-balance sheet exposures that 
will unwind over the lifetime of the loans. Implementation costs related to the build of the 
infrastructure to become a bank and the costs of the banking licence application have been treated as 
adjustments in deriving core operating profit. The one-off loan portfolio sale in 2022 was not 
considered to be a regular part of our business model. 

Balance Sheet 

Gross loans to customers decreased by 2.9%, to £1,699m (2022: £1,750m). Buy-to-Let loans made up 

74% of the loan book at 31 December 2023 (2022: 73%).  

Wholesale funding totalled £1,677m at the end of 2023 (2022: £1,749m), of which £1,239m related 

to securitisation funding (2022: £1,118m). The Tower Bridge Funding 2020-1 PLC securitisation was 

successfully called in June 2023, temporarily reducing the total amount of securitisation funding, with 

the bulk of the loans from that deal being moved into the Tower Bridge Funding 2023-1 PLC 

securitisation. 

Total share capital, of which 99.5% has been provided by Belmont Green’s private equity investor, 

Pine Brook, stood at £204m (2022: £204m). The business is confident it will continue to benefit from 

the support of its core shareholder for the foreseeable future. 

To achieve future profitability, the business will look to three key drivers. Accessing deposit funding 

as soon as possible, maintaining the size of the current book in preparation for the banking licence, 

and preserving a streamlined and efficient cost base. This strategy will allow us to preserve capital for 

deployment later in the year, making full use of the superior spreads facilitated by deposit funding. 
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Sustainability Report 
 

Our Approach to Sustainability  
 

At Belmont Green we believe a clearly articulated approach to sustainability is how we best support 

our purpose and deliver our business strategy and in a way which is consistent with our values. 

We believe we can have a genuine and positive impact and by implementing our ESG Strategy we 

will have the best chance of becoming the sustainable bank which we aspire to be. 

Our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Strategy was approved by the Board in December 

2022 and throughout 2023 we have focussed on implementing the Strategy and embedding a 

sustainable mindset across the business. A number of important initiatives have been delivered and 

we have enhanced our data and reporting, therefore we were delighted that the progress we have 

made was recognised with a gold medal accreditation from EcoVadis, one of the world’s leading 

business sustainability rating companies placing Belmont Green in the top 5% of companies assessed 

by them. 

We have integrated sustainability in the way we operate our business, supporting the underserved 

borrower, nurturing a diverse and committed workforce and ensuring we make a positive contribution 

to society, and contribute to the three United Nations Sustainable Development Goals we identified 

in 2022 that align with our strategy. 

In 2023 we updated our materiality analysis to understand the sustainability topics that matter most 

to our stakeholders, and we were pleased that the feedback showed that our current strategy, 

including our Culture and ESG Priorities align with the material topics identified.  

 

Customer 
Satisfaction 

 

Risk Management 

 
Employee Health 

and Wellness 

 

Business Model 
Resilience 

 

Environmental 
Management 

 

Culture and 
Purpose 

 
Providing products 
and services which 
give good customer 
outcomes, ensuring 
support is available 
for vulnerable 
customers. 

 

Managing both 
financial and non-
financial risks 
within the 
business. Ensuring 
our business is 
protected from and 
prepared for risks 
and potential 
disruptions. 

 

Providing a safe 
and flexible 
workplace and 
supporting 
employees’ health 
and wellbeing. 

 

Ensuring that our 
business can 
survive under 
potentially difficult 
market conditions. 

 

Reducing the 
impact we have on 
the environment 
through our 
operations and 
activities. 

 

Ensuring our caring 
culture and Vida 
values are central 
to the way we in 
which we achieve 
our goals. 

 

 

We will continue to enhance our sustainability-related disclosures as the governance and reporting 

landscape for ESG continues to develop and we will seek to set more ambitious targets and deliver 

further initiatives that will support our stakeholders.  

Embedding ESG into the culture and governance across Belmont Green will help to ensure we achieve 

good outcomes for our customers, our colleagues feel supported and empowered, our company 
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effects responsible decision making, and we are able to have a positive impact with our charity 

partners and our wider business community. 

ESG Strategy 
 

At Belmont Green our culture is founded on the ethos of caring, it sits at the heart of our values, 

driving the way we run our business and interact with our stakeholders. Our ESG Strategy is an integral 

part of our Culture Strategy and builds upon a number of the Culture Priorities where directly relevant 

to ESG matters, supporting our Purpose and delivery of our strategic plan.  

Our ESG Vision is simple and focuses on building a safe and sustainable business. It takes into account 

the interests and priorities of all our stakeholders whom we consider through the cultural framework 

of 4C’s; our Customers, our Colleagues, our Company and the wider Communities in which we 

operate. 

 

Progressing our ESG Priorities (4 C’s) 
 

PURPOSE 
To Help More People Find A Place To Call Home 

ESG Pillars 

Customers Colleagues Company Community 

Support customers to 
achieve their housing 
and financial 
objectives and help 
when times are 
challenging. 

Provide an enabling 
and supportive 
workplace where 
colleagues enjoy 
working at Vida. 

Operate transparently 
and responsibly in all 
that we do.  

Have a positive impact 
on the wider 
community and 
environment. 

 

Customers  

At Belmont Green, our commitment to understanding, respecting, and addressing our customers' 

needs has been pivotal in establishing a successful, sustainable, and responsible specialist mortgage 

lending business. Our goal is to broaden access to our services, enabling both new and existing 

mortgage customers to progress on their home ownership or landlord journey through competitive 

product offerings. 

In 2023, we streamlined our credit tiering for both ROO and BTL markets to enhance accessibility for 

more customers, particularly those with past adverse credit issues. We implemented several 

improvements to our lending criteria, covering borrower, affordability, and property requirements. 

Furthermore, we expanded our support for homeowners, landlords, and intermediary partners by 

introducing new products. These include a range of Later Life lending option and the inauguration of 

our bespoke Premier Packager Club, offering a unique proposition and service tailored to more 

specialist customers. 
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Our approach is underpinned by a commitment to treating customers fairly and fulfilling regulatory 

obligations, principles that guide decision-making at both the Board and Committee levels. We have 

undertaken important steps in embedding the Consumer Duty requirements across the business in 

order to continue to deliver good outcomes for our customers. Our colleagues continue to work hard 

to provide the high levels of service that our customers and intermediary partners expect, and we 

ensure that support is offered to all customers, including those who may be vulnerable or in financial 

difficulty, throughout their journey with Belmont Green. The Senior Independent Director, who is the 

Chair of the Board Risk Committee, is also our Consumer Duty Champion. This helps us ensure that in 

the discussions and challenge taking place at Board level, the principles and practice of under the 

Consumer Duty are truly embedded into the organisation driving good outcomes for customers.  
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Regulatory Context – Consumer Duty 
Our progress towards implementation of the Consumer Duty is covered in the Strategic Progress 
section. The below summarises this approach against the four key outcomes: 
Products and Services – We have a robust Product Governance Framework in place to ensure our 
products are designed to meet the needs of our target customers. As part of the framework, a 
‘Value Proposition Canvas’ has to be completed for all new propositions. This includes clearly 
identifying the target borrower and their needs, and how the proposition will meet those needs. 
The framework also includes Annual Product Reviews to monitor that our products are performing 
as anticipated. 
Price and Value – Our approach to pricing is designed to offer fair value to customers throughout 
their product lifecycle. Our pricing principles are the cornerstone of this approach and are the 
standard that all product and pricing changes have to meet. These principles cover new business, 
retention products and revert rates and are supported by a robust pricing model, which allows full 
assessment of each product against the principles set. Further detail on our assessment of fair value 
is included earlier in this section under ‘Our Pricing Strategy and Assessment of Fair Value’.  
Consumer Understanding – We believe it is important that all customers taking a new mortgage 
receive impartial advice to enable them to make an informed decision. Consequently, our new 
lending is distributed solely through intermediaries. We provide intermediaries with full details of 
our products, pricing and criteria, which is supported by both more detailed information on our 
website and our V-Hub, giving intermediaries direct telephone access to our underwriters. Further 
information is provided earlier in this section in ‘Intermediary Distribution’. 
Product Transfers are able to be made direct through our online portal both on an execution only 
basis, as well as through an intermediary. All customers approaching the maturity of their product 
are sent a number of written communications detailing the options available to them at maturity. 
Within both these communications and our online portal customers are recommended to contact 
an independent financial advisor if they are unsure of the best option for them. As part of our 
Product Governance Framework a Value Proposition Canvas has to be completed for all new 
propositions, which includes sections on how we will ensure customer understanding, an 
assessment of the suitability of the distribution strategy, and consideration of the impact on 
vulnerable customers. 
Consumer Support - Post completion, customers are supported by our contact centre and a 
dedicated existing customer section of our website. Our contact details are prominently displayed 
in all communications, both pre and post completion, as well as on the website. Our online 
mortgage service allows customers to check their mortgage balance, make a payment and contact 
our customer service team. Customers are proactively encouraged to contact us if they have any 
concerns making their mortgage payment. This is supported by online content with details of debt 
advice and support available. Robust processes exist to support vulnerable customers, with markers 
used to ensure they are clearly identifiable and ensuring that the customer is supported 
appropriately. 

 

 

We continue to maintain strong dialogue with our intermediary partners and are committed to the 

highest standards of customer care. The changes we made to our operating model in 2022, providing 

our intermediary partners with direct access to our underwriters through our V-Hub and the launch 

of our ‘service pledge’ in early 2023, both demonstrate our commitment to offering excellent service. 

This is key in our business model when delivering excellent service to our intermediary partners that 

our customers benefit as a result.  



Belmont Green Limited 
For year ended 31 December 2023 
Strategic report 
 

30 
 

Customer service is closely monitored and discussed at the Customer Committee and the Board. 

Quarterly engagement surveys are run to seek feedback directly from our customers and 

intermediary partners, and in 2023 our Intermediary NPS score remained consistently positive 

throughout the year, reaching +34 in Quarter 4. The overall NPS score for the year was +32 (2022: 

+35). We also achieved ‘Excellent’ status on Trustpilot at 4.4 out of 5 (2022: 3.8), with over 700 

reviews.   

An established governance framework, policies and procedures are in place to ensure we lend 

responsibly within our credit risk framework and risk appetite and that we observe best practice in 

looking after our customers and their data. Such policies include Responsible Lending Policy, Credit 

Lending Policy, Customer Policy including Vulnerable Customers and Arrears Management Policy.   

Personal information is managed in accordance with the Data Protection Regulation and the General 

Data Protection Regulation Principles. The Data Protection Policy is owned by the Chief Risk Officer, 

with day-to-day responsibility delegated to the Director of Compliance who is also our Data Protection 

Officer and outlines the risks and procedures which are in place, privacy notices are also available on 

our websites. Annually all colleagues are required to complete data protection training and 

assessment to ensure they understand the obligations placed on them and the company.      

At Belmont Green, we recognise that we don't always get everything right, and our published 
Complaints Policy details our approach to handling complaints to ensure fair outcomes for our 
customers. We are committed to managing complaints justly and resolving them as swiftly as possible. 
Our goal is to learn from these complaints by identifying and addressing the root causes. Information 
on how complaints are handled is regularly reviewed and discussed at the Customer Committee, with 
significant findings escalated to the Board Risk Committee and subsequently reported to the Board. 
In 2023, we referred 16 complaints to the Financial Ombudsman Service (FOS), none of which were 
upheld, affirming the effectiveness of our internal resolution mechanisms. 

We remain very aware of the challenges and downside risks related to rising living costs and higher 

interest rates and recognise that some customers using our products may become vulnerable due to 

personal or unforeseen circumstances. We aim to provide a proactive approach to the handling of 

such customers to ensure fair treatment and good customer outcomes by exploring and agreeing 

reasonable measures of support. Customer vulnerability is well documented and understood across 

the business with Vulnerable Customer Standards supporting an overarching Customer Policy. The 

identification of and fair treatment of vulnerable customers is monitored by all three lines of defence 

in their relevant monitoring and testing frameworks. Key risk indicators and oversight management 

information are reported to the Customer Committee and, where appropriate the Executive Risk 

Committee and Board Risk Committee.  

From the start to the end of their journey with us, we want to ensure our customers can trust us to 

put their needs and financial objectives at the centre of every decision we make, to do what’s right 

and to support them through the challenges they face along the way.   

Colleagues  

Our colleagues are the foundation of our business, and we want to create an inclusive workplace 

environment in which colleagues are encouraged to develop and pursue their personal and career 

goals, where they feel valued and understand the contribution they are making to Belmont Green. 
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Learning and Development 

Our updated Learning and Development Framework encourages personal and professional 

development and provides a wealth of training support and opportunities through our new digital 

learning hub and through face-to-face workshops led by our Learning and Development team. During 

2023 a series of soft skills workshops was made available to all colleagues, and we supported a number 

of colleagues through professional qualifications.   

All colleagues are required to undertake specific training modules throughout the year to ensure they 

have the skills necessary to undertake their roles and we support colleagues in gaining professional 

qualifications where required. At an individual level, people managers are expected to drive 

conversations about our values and behaviours with their teams and to support colleagues with the 

implementation of their Personal Development Plan. An online performance management tool, 

Appraisd, is used and specifically prompts discussion and feedback on each colleague’s alignment to 

our culture and values, and development progress conversations are prompted at all mid-year and 

end-of-year reviews.  

Recognition 

An important part of the Belmont Green culture is to ensure our colleagues’ voices are heard and that 

their contribution is recognised. Sitting within our virtual workspace, our recognition platform, 

Applause, encourages greater interaction from all areas of the business and makes it easy for people 

to say ‘thank you’ or ‘well done’. In 2023 over 361 shout outs were given to colleagues and 289 

colleague nominations and 25 group nominations were made for a V-Star award, our quarterly awards 

process which invites colleagues to recognise their peers for demonstrating our values and celebrating 

where individuals have gone above and beyond.  

In March 2023, we initiated 'The Big Idea,' inviting colleagues to suggest improvements to our work 

processes, and we are delighted to have collaborated with individuals and groups from all corners of 

the business to implement the top three ideas that emerged. 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

At Belmont Green, we are committed to encouraging a supportive and inclusive culture.  We believe 

that promoting diversity within the workplace is simply the right thing to do and we strive to ensure 

that those who work within our business reflect the customers and communities we serve.  

Being an inclusive business is key, not just to ensure a sense of belonging within the organisation and 

to retain colleagues, but to be able to understand and respond to the needs of our customers and 

other stakeholders who represent the whole spectrum of a diverse society. 

We want Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) to be at the heart of the organisation and to run 

through everything that we do. Through our policies and calendar of initiatives to support awareness, 

we have made good progress in promoting diversity within Belmont Green. 

Our EDI Charter outlines our commitments, and the EDI Forum consists of colleagues from across the 

business who bring a diverse set of views. Together, they have developed a focused agenda that 

encourages discussion, engagement, and improved awareness. This includes inifiafives such as 

ensuring gender diversity and promofing the development of women, supporfing people with 

disabilifies (including those with hidden disabilifies), celebrafing different cultures, races, and religions, 
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as well as a commitment to raising awareness around the importance of good mental health. In 2023, 

we were also proud finalists at the Financial Reporter Women’s Recognifion Awards. 

Engagement 

We were delighted to be recognised in the 2023 Best Companies league tables as one of the top 25 
companies in financial services and top 100 best mid-sized company to work for in the UK. At a 
company level, culture and employee engagement is measured through our annual engagement 
survey and colleague engagement remains high with engagement levels in excess of 90%. In February 
2024, we were awarded a Best Companies ‘1 Star’ accreditafion, signifying ‘very good’ workplace 
engagement levels once again. Insights from the 2023 survey have been instrumental in idenfifying 
areas for improvement, leading us to develop targeted acfion plans alongside our Culture Champions.  

Colleague wellbeing is very important to us. At the beginning of 2022 we moved to a hybrid working 
model which has enabled colleagues to better balance work and home lives in a way which suits their 
own needs as well as the business. We reviewed our employee proposition during 2023 and made 
enhancements to maternity, paternity and shared parental leave benefits and introduced V-Time; an 
approach to unplanned leave which supports colleagues by giving them the space and time they need 
when they need it. Annual leave was also increased, and all colleagues receive an additional day of 
leave for their birthday. In the latest engagement survey, 81% of colleagues confirm that they are 
happy with the balance between work and home life, while 87% report having the flexibility to work 
in a way that suits them. 

All colleagues are offered a comprehensive benefits package to support their professional and 
personal needs. This includes private medical cover, annual health MOT, Life Assurance, Income 
Protection Assurance, Company Pension and Annual Leave. With the rising cost of living we have 
hosted financial wellbeing sessions through our external benefits brokers AON. Several channels are 
in place to help colleagues and their families should they need support, including Vitality and our 
Employee Assistance Programme and we have 9 Mental Health First Aiders across the business who 
help raise the understanding of mental health in the workplace and provide initial support and 
signposting to colleagues.  

To support the embedding of our values and creating a caring culture where people feel a sense of 

belonging and engaged with the business, we have the role of Culture Champion. Our Champions’ 

network is made up passionate colleagues, with representatives in all departments. In line with the 

refresh of our values, the role of our Culture Champions evolved, and key responsibilities include: 

 Acting as a role model for our values. 

 Helping us to embed and bring to life our updated vision, purpose and values. 

 Encouraging peer-to-peer recognition at all levels. 

 Supporting our partnership with Crisis. 

 Ensuring our people know they have a voice and that is heard by representing their teams 

at monthly meetings. 

 Helping us to plan, facilitate and promote social activities. 

 Encouraging teams to complete our annual engagement survey, pulse survey and 

colleague NPS. 
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Company  

We are building a brand which we want all stakeholders to trust, delivering our strategic priorities in 

a manner consistent with our cultural values in an environment where everyone takes accountability, 

speaks up and does the right thing. Operating within a robust governance and risk framework helps 

ensure that the decisions and actions we take are ethical, support good customer outcomes and align 

with our purpose and values. To achieve this, we believe that having a diverse workforce, including 

among the senior decision makers, is key to enabling better decision making which avoids groupthink 

and allows for a variety of perspectives to be heard. This in turn assists with both the recruitment and 

the retention of talent.  

Belmont Green actively monitors diversity metrics through its ESG Scorecard and made a significant 

commitment to gender equality by endorsing the Women in Finance Charter in 2021. We proudly 

achieved a gender balance target of 50/50 among men and women across our Senior Management in 

2023. This group includes the Executive Team, Management Board, and Heads of Function. Striving 

for these ambitious targets, we leverage a hybrid working model and a compelling employee value 

proposition. 

This year, we've implemented several initiatives to foster diversity, such as overhauling our 

recruitment process to anonymise CVs, ensuring discrimination-free selection, diversifying interview 

panels, and launching training programmes focused on inclusivity and bias mitigation for managers. 

These efforts are designed to propel diversity improvement across the organisation. 

As an advocate for equal opportunity, Belmont Green pledges to remunerate all employees at least at 

the level of the National Living Wage. Since 2020, we have voluntarily produced gender pay gap 

reports, a practice we intend to maintain. Oversight of gender pay disparities and the formulation of 

corrective measures are entrusted to the Remuneration and Nominations Committee and Culture 

Committee, underscoring our commitment to fairness and equality in the workplace. 

Looking ahead to 2024, we will refine our approach to data collection and set out new, and better 

informed targets. This initiative will be undertaken with a keen awareness of regulatory standards, 

ensuring our objectives align with both our commitment to diversity and compliance obligations. 

Communities  

Belmont Green is committed to supporting the communities in which we serve. We seek to foster 

partnerships where we can make a difference and have a positive impact on the wider community 

and environment, and we believe in the value of giving back of our time, skills and resources.  

Giving back to the communities 

In 2020 a three-year partnership was established with Crisis whose mission is to end homelessness in 

the UK for good and their work is founded on the belief that everyone should have a safe, stable place 

to live. We share the same belief and throughout the year colleagues from across the business have 

engaged in fundraising activities for Crisis including the Vida Summer Challenge and Vida Alternative 

Marathon and we fulfilled our commitment to contribute £150,000 to Crisis. We view our partnership 

with Crisis as an important part of our giving back to community and we will therefore continue our 

partnership over the long-term, we have also taken into consideration colleague feedback and from 

2024 as well as supporting Crisis, colleagues can support charities or local community groups of their 

choice through the Give As You Earn scheme.   
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To support the wider community, everyone at Belmont Green is given a volunteering day and we want 

to support as many colleagues as possible to participate in giving back into their local communities, 

whether this is by using all or part of their volunteering day in one go, or an hour at a time. In 2023 

44% of colleagues used their volunteering day, and our Culture Champions will continue to help to 

plan, facilitate, and promote community activities. Aligning with our hybrid working model we intend 

to broaden our range of community programmes to further support local initiatives. 

Our community extends beyond our charity partners to our wider business community stakeholders. 

Maintaining open and effective relationships with the third-party business partners with whom we 

work forms an integral part of our business model and we are committed to undertaking sustainable 

procurement wherever possible and to developing this area as part of our ESG strategy.  

Suppliers 

In 2023 our Outsourcing and Supplier Policy and approach to onboarding and due diligence were 

reviewed to embed ESG considerations and strengthen our supplier oversight.  

Management is responsible for the day-to-day success of the supplier relationships, with a robust 

governance and oversight model in place to ensure that key service levels and metrics are constantly 

monitored and reviewed. The Board Risk Committee receives periodic updates regarding our material 

outsource service providers to ensure it retains oversight and is satisfied that the relationships 

continue to add strategic value to the business.  

During our supplier selection and due diligence process we consider whether the supplier has a good 

reputation, acts in an ethical manner and is socially responsible consistent with our values. As part of 

the due diligence process, we will consider if the supplier has an ESG plan or strategy, including its 

carbon emissions strategy, reporting and reduction targets and will request information on the 

suppliers’ approach to equality, diversity and inclusion, modern slavery, labour practices and health 

and safety. Monthly relationship management meetings and quarterly reviews are conducted for our 

Class 1 and 2 suppliers. 

We expect our suppliers to perform to the same standards of performance, culture, values and 

conduct as we expect of ourselves, and our new Supplier Code of Conduct was shared with our Class 

1 suppliers in 2023. 

Environment 

We support the UK Government’s pathway to Net Zero by 2050 and even as a small business we are 

conscious of the impact we have on the environment around us and that it is important that we act 

where we can, to minimise our contribution to climate change.  

Our direct environmental impact through our own business operations is relatively low, however we 

generate carbon emissions indirectly through the properties on which we lend and our supply chain.  

We have committed to reducing our scope 1 and 2 operational emissions by 50% from the 2019 

baseline by 2030 and our strategy to achieve this reduction is embedded in our Agile Working Policy, 

ensuring that our business model uses the benefits of technology to enable effective communications 

without requiring significant travel. Where travel is required, colleagues should consider the most 

environmentally friendly way to reduce their carbon footprint, and walking, cycling or commuting by 
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public transport are all actively encouraged. Season ticket loans are available to colleagues who rely 

on public transport to attend their work location. 

Alongside this we have taken the opportunity to reassess our office space and have taken actions 

which will reduce the energy consumption at our Head Office.   

We continue to seek to reduce the amount of waste we produce, by avoiding, re-using and recycling 

wherever possible. We have put in place a variety of strategies across the business to encourage 

colleagues help us be more sustainable. We do not use single use plastic at our Head Office, reusable 

mugs and water bottles have been provided, recycling bins have been installed and our Head Office 

waste is recycled, we aim to not send anything to landfill. We are also moving closer to a paperless 

environment; mortgage applications are processed on a paperless basis through to completion and all 

Board and Committee papers are now shared and viewed via Diligent software. We will only procure 

FSC certified paper ensuring all the paper we use is sourced responsibly, demonstrating our 

commitment to responsible forestry and encourage key suppliers who print for us to do the same. 

Stationary, office equipment, clothing and marketing materials will be, where possible, purchased 

from ethical and sustainable sources. 

During 2024 and beyond we will look more broadly at how we as an organisation can reduce our 

environmental impact. We will work with the owners of our office locations to ensure our waste is 

disposed of in an environmentally responsible way and investigate further initiatives that will reduce 

our emissions and help offset our carbon footprint. Since 2022 we have purchased carbon credits to 

offset our operational emissions and in 2023 184 Verified Carbon Units were purchased through 

Forest Carbon Limited and registered on The Verra Registry, supporting international projects.  

As a responsible lender we realise that we can have a material impact on the energy use from 

properties subject to our mortgages including through our lending policies, product development and 

pricing. We will explore different options for monitoring this performance as part of our risk 

framework for managing their impact on climate change. We continue to monitor the consultations 

concerning the energy efficiency of domestic and non-domestic properties. 

As part of our environmental strategy, we have committed to voluntarily reporting on scope 3 

emissions and to improving the scope and accuracy of the data we publish each year. During 2024 we 

will look to engage with our key suppliers to better understand the emissions linked to the goods and 

services that we purchase and further develop our sustainable procurement approach to ensure that 

our suppliers’ ESG strategies are aligned with our own goals.  

We are committed to developing our climate-related reporting capabilities and disclosures in coming 

years and will continue to further enhance our understanding of what we need to do. 

 

ESG Governance 
 

Operating within a robust governance and risk framework helps ensure that the decisions and actions 

we take are ethical, support good customer outcomes and align with our purpose and the delivery of 

our strategic objectives in a way which is consistent with our values. 



Belmont Green Limited 
For year ended 31 December 2023 
Strategic report 
 

36 
 

The CEO has overall accountability to the Board to ensure that sustainable and responsible practices 

are embedded within the business including those associated with environment / climate. He is the 

senior manager responsible for ensuring the identification and management of financial risks arising 

from climate change under the Senior Managers and Certification Regime.  

In relation to sustainability the Board is specifically responsible for:  

 Approving Belmont Green’s Values and Culture Strategy. 

 Developing, reviewing, and monitoring of the application of our culture and values. 

 Oversight of any strategic elements relating to ESG including approval of the ESG Strategy. 

 Reviewing our compliance with relevant corporate governance codes. 

 Approving the annual Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement. 

 Overseeing and managing of our overall framework of risk management. 

 Overseeing of financial reporting and controls. 

 Overseeing of financial crime, information security and data protection.  

 Approving the Whistleblowing Policy and review of reporting.  

 Setting our Remuneration Policy and material changes to colleague benefits. 

 Approving material outsourcing operations and arrangements. 

The Board Risk Committee is responsible for the monitoring and oversight of climate and transition 

risks. 

The Board receives regular updates on our ESG progress and ESG considerations and metrics are set 

out in an ESG Scorecard which is aggregated into our overall Company Scorecard which is reported to 

the Board monthly and measures our performance as an organisation. Progress against the Company 

Scorecard is taken into account in determining directors’ remuneration, bonus, and performance 

levels.  

Other Executive Committees play a significant role in developing and overseeing the delivery of our 

ESG strategy. The Customer Committee focuses on customer and conduct matters and the Culture 

Committee people and culture matters including ESG and EDI. The ESG Forum and EDI Forum were 

established in 2021 and have cross functional representation and directly report into the Culture 

Committee, which reports to the Remuneration and Nominations Committee and to Board. 

 

Human Rights 
 

Belmont Green prioritises respect for all human rights, particularly emphasising non-discrimination, 
fairness, and privacy. These principles are crucial for our key stakeholders: customers, colleagues, and 
suppliers.  
 
Operating solely in the UK, Belmont Green adheres to the Human Rights Act 1998, integrating the 
European Convention on Human Rights into UK law. We have established systems to ensure our 
operations align with all legal obligations and to identify any new or emerging requirements. 
 
The responsibility for upholding human rights across Belmont Green lies with the Board and CEO. Our 
goal is to proactively manage potential negative impacts on human rights while fostering positive 
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outcomes. This commitment is embedded in our employment, equality, customer treatment, and 
information security policies. 
 
Our policies are designed to ensure compliance with UK laws and regulations by employees and 
business partners, promoting best practices. Our policies are formulated and kept up-to-date by the 
relevant business areas, authorised in accordance with the governance procedures and are 
communicated to all employees. 
 
Our compliance with human rights regulation is integral to our overall compliance framework, and 
any breaches or potential breaches would be investigated and addressed through the Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework and, if appropriate, its disciplinary procedures. There were no cases of 
human rights investigations raised in 2023. 
 
We comply with and support the objective of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, in raising awareness of 
modern slavery and human trafficking. Belmont Green is committed to ensuring there is no modern 
slavery or human trafficking in our supply chains or in any part of the business and to acting ethically 
and with integrity in all business relationships. Belmont Green actively engages with suppliers to 
ensure compliance with Modern Slavery legislation is achieved. This commitment is reflected in our 
Supplier Code of Conduct. 
 
Belmont Green publishes an annual Modern Slavery Statement, describing policies for ensuring 
compliance, which can be found on the Belmont Green website. 
 
The company undertakes extensive monitoring of the implementation of all its policies and is not 
aware of any incident in which the organisation’s activities resulted in an abuse of human rights or a 
breach of Modern Slavery legislation. No fines or prosecutions in respect of non-compliance with 
human rights legislation, including Modern Slavery legislation, have been incurred in the last financial 
year. 
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Non-financial Information and Non-financial Key Performance Indicators  
 
This section constitutes the Non-financial Information Statement, prepared in order to comply with 
Sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006. The information is provided by cross-reference: 
 

Reporting Requirements Policies and Standards which 
govern BGFL Approach 

Reference 

Environmental Matters  Environmental, Social and 

Governance Policy 

 Credit Lending Policy  

 

Sustainability Report,  
Directors’ Report, Risk Report 

Colleagues  Employee Handbook  

 Agile Working Policy 

 Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Policy 

 Family Policy 

 Health and Safety Policy 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

 Absence Management 
Policy 

 V-Time Policy 

 Disciplinary Policy 

 Capability Policy 

 Health and Safety Policy 

 Grievance Policy 

 Recruitment and Selection 
Policy  

 

Sustainability Report, 
Risk Report 

Social Matters  Responsible Lending Policy  

 Credit Lending Policy 

 Customer Policy including 
Vulnerable Customers 

 Arrears Management 
Policy 

 Operational Resilience 

 Volunteering Policy 

 Complaints Policy  
 

 

Sustainability Report, Risk 
Report 

Human Rights  Modern Slavery Statement  

 Data Protection Policy  

 Record Retention and 
Destruction Policy 

 Supplier Code of Conduct 

 Privacy Notices 
 

Sustainability Report, 
Risk Report 
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Anti-corruption and 
Anti-bribery Matters 
 

 Anti-Bribery and 
Corruption Policy 

 Anti-Money Laundering 
Policy 

 Fraud Policy 

 Conflict of Interest Policy  
 

Sustainability Report 

Stakeholders  Outsourcing and Supplier 
Policy  

 Disclosure Policy  

 

Governance  Committee Terms of 
Reference  

 Financial Crime 
Framework  

 Legal Framework  

 Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework  

Corporate governance,  
Risk Report 

Description of Business Model  Business Overview 

Description of Principal Risks 
and Impact of Business 
Activity 

 Risk Report 

Non-financial Key Performance 
Indicators 

 Strategic Progress, 
Sustainability Report 

Sustainability Information  Sustainability Report 
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Risk Report 
 

Approach to Risk Management 
  
Belmont Green continues to evolve its approach to risk management to ensure that risks which are 
inherent in the business activities and operations we undertake are managed in a balanced, robust 
and disciplined manner and fully mindful of our Consumer Duty responsibilities. This approach ensures 
that such risks are managed and mitigated effectively, reflective of the residual level of risk in order 
to secure an appropriate commercial return through the cycle.  
 

Risk taking is an inherent part of our business but must be managed and controlled to ensure good 
outcomes for customers, alignment with our strategic objectives, and the long-term financial security 
and sustainability of the company. This is achieved through a well-established and 
embedded Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF), which takes a top-down and bottom-up 
approach to risk identification and management within the Risk Governance structure using a Three 
Lines of Defence model.  
 

The Board is ultimately responsible for establishing and ensuring maintenance of a sound system of 
risk management and internal controls and approving Belmont Green’s overall risk appetite.  
 

Risk Strategy 
 

The Risk Strategy is an integral part of our overall strategy and sets out the strategic risk management 
objectives and priorities that support the achievement of Belmont Green’s overall strategic goals.   
Our Risk Strategy is to understand all the risks that arise from our activities, setting appetite for risks 
essential to our business model and setting tolerances for risks that arise as a consequence of doing 
business, to ensure that these are managed within our stated risk appetite through the effective 
application of our ERMF.  
Whilst the Risk Strategy is shaped by our strategic priorities, there is one that has particular relevance 
and resonance – “Operate within a bank standard risk and control framework” which is built upon the 
following pillars:  
 

 Setting a Board approved risk appetite aligned to and commensurate with the strategy of 

the business, avoiding any unrewarded risk.  

 Maintaining a Board and Executive Team with the skills and experienced required in PRA 

and FCA regulated environments.  

 Embedding an enterprise-wide risk management and control framework that delivers 

bank standard risk management, oversight, and reporting.  

 Ensuring fair customer outcomes is at the heart of everything we do and reflecting the 

requirements of the FCA’s Consumer Duty.  

 Designing resilience into the operating model ensuring data security, systems integrity 

and business continuity in our owned and outsourced business processes.  

  
As we continue to transition towards becoming a bank, we will focus on the effective risk management 
of our principal risks as well as ensuring that any changes or extensions to our risk profile (e.g., 
Prudential & Conduct Risks associated with retail deposit taking) are identified, assessed and managed 
effectively.  
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Risk Culture 
The risk culture derives from Belmont Green’s vision, mission, strategic priorities and values and is 
defined as the normal attitudes and behaviours exhibited by colleagues at all levels, with regards to 
risk awareness, risk taking and risk management.  
 

Belmont Green’s risk culture is built upon the four following elements:  
 

 Tone from the top: the Board and Executive Management in their behaviour and attitude 

set the expectations and requirements of an effective risk culture and this is reinforced 

through the application of Board approved policies and frameworks. Colleagues are 

encouraged by the Board, Executive and Management to act with integrity, especially in 

the fair treatment of customers and to escalate observed and suspected non-

compliance.   

 Accountability: our colleagues understand the core values of Belmont Green and how this 

impacts its approach to risk management. Where individuals have specific responsibilities 

with regard to risk, these are included in the role profiles and objectives, and colleagues 

understand that they will be held accountable for their actions and risk-taking and risk 

management behaviours. This is also supported by a no-blame culture which prevents 

discrimination and harassment.  

 Effective communication and challenge: a sound risk culture should promote an 

environment of open communication and effective challenge in which decision-making 

processes encourage a broad range of views, allow for testing of current practices, 

stimulate a constructive critical attitude among staff, and promote an environment of 

open and constructive engagement throughout Belmont Green. It is recognised that a 

culture in which colleagues are encouraged and empowered to express their curiosity is 

commensurate with a strong risk culture and control environment. This is also supported 

by an effective and well-embedded whistleblowing framework.  

 Incentives: Belmont Green’s performance management arrangements promote the 

desired risk management behaviours and attitudes. The remuneration framework 

(including the remuneration policy and incentive scheme) is subject to review by the 

second line function and where appropriate external advisors, to further support and 

ensure that these are aligned to and support our risk culture and risk appetite. 

Remuneration policy is reviewed and approved by the Board on at least an annual basis. 

 
The effective application and embedding of a strong risk culture is assessed on a regular basis in a 
range of different ways, including the annual Employee Survey, and annual Whistleblowing Report to 
the Board. On an annual basis as part of the annual review of the effectiveness of the ERMF, the CRO 
undertakes an assessment of whether Belmont Green’s risk culture supports the achievement of its 
Strategy, Purpose and Values.  
 
 
 

Risk Management Framework 
Belmont Green’s approach to effective risk management was enhanced during 2023, with further 
investment in key areas such as credit risk, operational resilience, information security, technology, 
outsourcing and third-party management, financial crime, and model risk.  
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Notable activities and changes in relation to risk management during the year are summarised below:  
 

 The Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF) was reworked in 2023, to deliver a 

bank-ready framework, which was fully embedded as we move to becoming a bank. The 

bank-ready ERMF included enhanced definitions of the risk appetite for a number of 

principal risks.   

 The Credit Risk Management Framework has been reviewed in line with our credit risk 

appetite and the underlying Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) relating to the mortgage portfolio, 

particularly with a view to the challenging economic environment for our customers (cost 

of living, rising interest rates etc.).   

 We have delivered a comprehensive programme of enhancements as required to meet 

the FCA’s Consumer Duty requirements.  

 Our Operational Resilience Strategy and supporting framework has been further 

developed to enable our Important and Key Business services to be monitored and 

managed more effectively.  

 Enhancements to the existing risk governance framework including the incorporation of 

an Operational Risk Committee to support even greater focus on operational risk and 

operational resilience.  

 The information security framework has been further enhanced during 2023 through the 

successful implementation of a new Security Operations Centre (SOC) and a Security 

Incident and Event Management (SIEM) platform.  

 The Compliance monitoring framework has been strengthened in 2023 and provides an 

enhanced approach to delivering effective monitoring across the business and for key 

outsourcing.  

 Our existing stress testing and scenario analysis framework has been enhanced to support 

the additional analysis underpinning both the ICAAP and ILAAP submitted as part of our 

banking licence application.   

  
Effective risk management is key to the successful execution of our strategy, and our approach is set 
out within our ERMF, underpinned by the following key elements:  
 

 Risk Strategy, which incorporates Belmont Green’s risk culture and principles for effective 

risk management. 

 Risk Appetite.  

 Enterprise Risk Management Framework.  

 Principal risks that we are exposed to and seek to manage effectively.  

 Risk Governance and Control.  

 Risk Management (assessment and monitoring).  

 The regulatory and legislative framework we operate within.  
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Enterprise Risk Management Framework  
 

All of Belmont Green’s business and support service activities, including those outsourced to third-
party providers or originated via brokers and other intermediaries must be risk managed within the 
requirements of the ERMF. The ERMF sets out minimum requirements and the standards and 
processes that are expected to be applied to meet regulatory and in-house requirements and 
expectations. Risks are identified, measured, managed, monitored, and reported using the ERMF. The 
design and effectiveness of the ERMF is overseen and reviewed by the Board Risk Committee with the 
ERMF being subject to annual review and approval by the Board.  
 

Responsibility for risk management sits at all levels within Belmont Green. The Board sets the ‘tone 
from the top’ and all colleagues are expected to adopt the role of risk manager in all aspects of their 
own roles.  
 

The ERMF describes the activities, techniques and tools that are mandated to support the 
identification, measurement, control, management, monitoring, reporting and challenge of risk across 
Belmont Green. It is designed to provide an integrated, comprehensive, consistent, and scalable 
structure that is capable of being communicated to and clearly understood by all colleagues 
within Belmont Green.  
 

The ERMF also incorporates the organisational arrangements for managing risk with specific 
responsibilities allocated to certain functions in accordance with a well-established Three Lines of 
Defence Model. This ensures that there is clear accountability, responsibility, and engagement at 
appropriate levels within Belmont Green, which can provide robust review and challenge, as well as 
be challenged.  
  
A key part of the ERMF is its alignment with our Values and appreciation by colleagues that they are 
all responsible for risk management. This is achieved through a programme of training for the Board 
and all colleagues, led by the HR Function, working closely with the Risk Function.  
 

Belmont Green’s ERMF can be visualised as a pyramid with the identification and management of risks 
done using both a ‘top-down’ and ‘bottom-up’ approach. It provides robust policies, controls, 
processes, procedures, and reporting for effective risk management, delivered through appropriate 
risk escalation and governance in a Three Lines of Defence model.  
 

The Board is responsible for setting Belmont Green’s Mission and Values. It reviews and approves the 
overall risk appetite on the advice of Board Risk Committee which also approves key risk policies. The 
Board approves the business strategy, consistent with our Mission, Values and Risk Appetite.   
 
Operationally, the ERMF is organised around our principal risks and a well-established and embedded 
Three Lines of Defence Model (Refer to the relevant sections of the current report).  
 

The ERMF, including the Risk Governance Structure and Three Lines of Defence is visually summarised 
in the diagram below.  
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All of Belmont Green’s risk activities are subject to detailed and comprehensive governance 
arrangements that detail how risk-based authority is delegated from the Board to the Board Risk 
Committee and to the various risk management committees and individuals in accordance with the 
corporate governance and ERMF requirements. Risk governance and oversight is detailed further 
below.  
  
  

Risk Appetite 
 
The level of risk that Belmont Green is willing to accept in the various elements of its business are 
defined in our Board Risk Appetite Statements, which articulate both qualitative and quantitative 
measures of risk that are cascaded across the business, calibrated by reference to our risk appetite 
and absolute capacity for risk absorption.  
 

Belmont Green’s risk appetite is not static and continues to evolve to support our overall business 
objectives, the operating environment and risk outlook. The risk appetite is reviewed periodically by 
the Board Risk Committee and agreed with the Board on an annual basis, or more frequently if 
required. A dashboard with the status of each risk metric (Key Risk Indicators and Early Warning 
Indicators) is monitored on a monthly basis against our risk appetite (Board Limits and Boundary risk 
Conditions) and reported to each Executive Risk Committee, and in accordance the requirements of 
the ERMF to the Board Risk Committee and the Board. The Board Risk Committee and Board exercise 
their judgement as to the appropriate action required in relation to any risk appetite breach 
dependent on the situation at the time.  
 

The details of the risk appetite statements for each principal risk are provided below in the Principal 
Risks section. 
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Principal Risks 
  

Belmont Green has identified, maintains and periodically reviews those categories of risk which it 
believes could significantly affect the successful achievement of its strategy and corporate objectives, 
with these risk categories determined to be principal risks. Key and emerging risks are identified 
through the lens of the principal risk categories. 
 

These principal risks were identified and are maintained through consideration of both external 
guidance and internal assessments including: the Basel 3 risk classifications; best industry practice; 
and the areas, scale and nature of inherent risks to which Belmont Green is exposed to.  
 

For each of these 10 principal risks we have a board-approved definition and a risk appetite that sets 
out our approach to accepting, mitigating, managing, or avoiding the risk. Certain risk types are an 
inherent part of our business model. Where this is the case, a key principle is that the risk must be 
adequately measured, monitored, and compensated in order for the business model to be sustainable. 
Where risks are not explicitly taken and adequately compensated, they are avoided, or where this is 
not practical, measured, monitored, and minimised. The size of inherent threat associated with 
principal risks tends to equate to higher levels of resource use, but also more mature control processes 
and lower levels of residual risk. Despite this, some segments of risk may increase in prominence with 
higher residual risks as a result of changes in the internal or external environment.  
  
The range of risks faced by Belmont Green and our appetite for these risks is reviewed annually, or 
more frequently if required, by the Executive Risk Committee (’ERC’) before being presented to Board 
Risk Committee (BRC) for review, challenge, and final approval by the Board in its annual review and 
approval of the ERMF. Our appetite for each of the identified principal risks is described qualitatively 
below and described quantitatively through a series of Key Risk Indicators (’KRIs’) which are used to 
track risks at a granular level.   
 

Principal Risk  Definition  Risk Appetite  Risk Mitigation  

Business Risk  The risk that we do not 
achieve our strategic 
objectives or business 
plan, including financial 
forecasts.  

The business has clear 
strategic targets and 
clear risk appetites to 
ensure that these 
targets are achieved 
in a risk controlled 
and sustainable 
manner.  

Executive Committee are responsible 
for executing the business plan 
according to strategic objectives and 
within approved risk appetite. The 
extent, if any, to which this is not 
achieved is monitored using 
appropriate KRIs and reported to the 
Board for discussion.  
  

Capital Risk  The risk that we have 
insufficient capital to 
cover stressed 
conditions, regulatory 
requirements or 
growth plans.  

We have no appetite 
for breaching internal 
limits or regulatory 
capital requirements 
and no appetite for 
having insufficient 
capital to deliver our 
financial plans over 
the next 12 months.  

We prepare financial forecasts and 
draw down equity as required. This 
ensures we always remain within 
appetite.  
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Conduct Risk  The risk of customer 
harm or poor outcomes 
through unsuitable 
products, poor service 
or process failures.  

We have no appetite 
for offering products 
or services to our 
customers which are 
unsuited to their 
needs, or which may 
cause the customer 
harm. We have no 
appetite for systemic 
conduct risk and poor 
outcomes resulting 
from products or 
actions which impact 
on our customers or 
the integrity of the 
market. We seek to 
minimise these risks 
(as far as possible) 
and where instances 
of potential or actual 
harm are identified 
we will provide 
appropriate 
remediation. Whilst 
we recognise that 
minor operational or 
service issues may 
occur which could 
affect customers, 
these must not result 
in poor customer 
outcomes or harm for 
those customers.  

We seek to minimise these risks as far 
as possible through process design 
and monitoring; where instances of 
potential or actual harm are identified 
we will provide appropriate 
remediation. Where conduct issues 
arise, these are mitigated and 
reported in accordance with the 
requirements of the ERMF, including 
where appropriate oversight by 
Executive Risk and Customer 
Committees, Board Risk Committee 
and ultimately the Board.  

Funding Risk  The risk arising from 
not having access to 
stable funding markets 
and a range of funding 
sources.  

We have no appetite 
for committed 
funding requirements 
which are not covered 
by committed funding 
capacity and we have 
no appetite r for 
funding requirements 
due to optional debt 
calls that are not 
covered by total 
funding capacity, 
without any reliance .  
on future planned 
equity injections 

We maintain sufficient committed and 
uncommitted facilities to ensure we 
always remain within appetite.  
  
We plan new funding transactions 
that ensure we maintain sufficient 
funding coverage and assess our plans 
against internal and market capacity.  
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within 30 days of 
stress conditions.  
  
Funding coverage will 
be maintained over 
the next 12 months 
without reliance on 
any new funding that 
is unlikely to be 
achieved.  
  

Liquidity Risk  The risk that we are not 
able to meet our 
obligations as they fall 
due or can only do so at 
excessive cost.  

We have no appetite 
for not meeting our 
obligations as they fall 
due including under a 
severe but plausible 
stress lasting three 
months. It is accepted 
that we will be reliant 
on future planned 
equity injections after 
30 days.  

We prepare liquidity forecasts, plan 
our funding transactions, and draw 
down equity to ensure that we remain 
within appetite at all times.  

Market Risk  The risk of a reduction 
in our earnings and / or 
value resulting from 
adverse movements in 
financial markets. This 
includes all risks 
incorporated into 
Interest Rate Risk in the 
Banking Book (IRRBB). 
IRRBB extends to 
Interest rate, basis, 
swap spread, inflation 
and product option 
risks.  
  
  

The only market risk 
to which we are 
exposed is interest 
rate risk. We only 
have appetite for 
residual risk 
exposures after vanilla 
hedges with 
derivative 
counterparties rated 
BBB or higher by at 
least one of S&P, 
Moody’s or Fitch.  

Fixed rate mortgages are hedged 
through interest rate swaps, with the 
residual exposure quantified and 
managed within board limits and the 
supporting control environment.  

Model Risk  
  
  

The potential loss we 
may incur as a 
consequence of 
decisions that could be 
principally based on the 
output of models, as a 
result of errors in the 
development, 
implementation or use 
of such models. Model 
risk can have negative 

We have no appetite 
for using models that 
are not fit for purpose 
and/or have issues 
resulting from a 
periodic review 
validation carried out 
by Vida’s second line 
model risk function 
that have not been 
addressed / are not 

 Vida has a Model Risk Management 
(MRM) framework that is 
proportionate to its size and business 
activities. Vida has a consistent, firm-
wide model tiering approach that 
assigns a risk-based materiality and 
complexity rating to each of its 
models in the Model Register. Vida 
has an established definition of model 
that is in line with regulatory 
requirements and well-defined roles 
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consequences, such as 
financial losses due to 
inaccurate product 
pricing, higher 
unexpected losses due 
to credit risk, or 
liquidity shortages 
resulting from 
inadequate modelling 
assumptions in liquidity 
models.  

being addressed by 
agreed management 
actions.  

and responsibilities of the 3 Lines of 
Defence in relation to a model 
lifecycle. Models in the Model 
Register are subject to independent 
second-line model validations and the 
Model Risk Management Framework 
is periodically reviewed by third-line 
Internal Audit, in line with their risk-
based planning methodology.   

Operational 
Risk  

The risk of loss 
resulting from 
inadequacy or a failure 
in internal processes, 
people and systems, or 
from external events.  
  
(Operational Risk 
includes the following 
non-principal risk 
categories: Business 
Processes; Change; 
Financial Crime; 
Financial Reporting and 
Control; Information 
Security; IT Systems; 
Legal; Operational 
Resilience; Outsourcing 
& Third Party; People; 
and Regulatory).  

We have no appetite 
for systemic 
operational losses, no 
appetite for breaking 
any laws, and no 
appetite for losses 
from regulatory 
breaches or financial 
crime or for systemic 
or material regulatory 
breaches.   
  
Whilst we have very 
limited appetite (i.e., 
tolerance) for one-off 
and annual 
cumulative 
operational losses, we 
recognise that they 
are an inherent risk of 
operating our 
business, but must be 
minimised through 
policies, controls, 
processes, procedures 
(including reporting, 
escalation and prompt 
action) and insurance 
arrangements.  
  

Operational Risk is minimised through 
policies, controls, processes and 
procedures (including reporting, 
escalation and prompt action) and 
their impact mitigated, where 
appropriate, through insurance 
arrangements.  

Retail Credit 
Risk  

The risk of loss arising 
from default on 
mortgage lending.  
  
(Retail Credit Risk 
includes the following 
non-principal risk 
categories: Climate Risk 

We have appetite for 
credit risk arising from 
our mortgage lending, 
but the risk must be 
adequately 
compensated for 
taking this credit risk, 
i.e., on a risk adjusted 

Material risk factors are identified and 
quantified through product design 
and incorporated into our Price for 
Risk approach. Exposures are 
managed through risk limits and 
underwriting standards which are 
checked through first line Quality 
Control and second line Quality 
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and Credit 
Concentration Risk)  

basis and through the 
economic cycle.  
  
Therefore, we have 
developed a series of 
severe and plausible 
stress tests and 
scenarios to assess 
our through-the-cycle 
mortgage lending 
credit losses and 
resulting impact on 
our capital, liquidity 
and profitability. Our 
mortgage lending 
credit risk appetite is 
then set using the 
Board limits based on 
the results of these 
stress tests and 
scenarios.  
  

Assurance. Losses are managed 
through the Arrears Management 
process and reported to the relevant 
committee in accordance with the 
requirements of the ERMF.  

Wholesale 
Credit Risk  
  

The risk of loss arising 
from default of a 
wholesale money 
market counterparty.  
  
(Wholesale Credit Risk 
includes the following 
non-principal risk 
category: Credit 
Concentration Risk).  

We have very limited 
appetite for wholesale 
credit risk. Surplus 
funds must be 
invested in UK 
government securities 
or deposited with 
banks rated at least P-
1/A-1 by at least one 
of S&P, Moody’s, or 
Fitch.  
  

Wholesale Credit Risk is managed 
through policies, controls, processes 
and procedures (including forecasting, 
reporting, escalation and prompt 
action).  

  

 
 

Risk Governance and Oversight 
  

Risk governance describes the structure through which the Board allocates and delegates primary 
accountability, responsibility, and authority for risk management across Belmont Green.  
 

Responsibility for risk oversight is delegated from the Board to the Board Risk Committee and Board 
Audit Committee. The Board receives regular and detailed updates on the work of these committees. 
Ultimately responsibility for risk management and oversight rests with the Board.  
 

Belmont Green’s principal risks are detailed in the Principal Risks section. Responsibility for oversight 
of these principal risks is illustrated below.  
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                Oversight  
  
Principal   
Risk                    

Board  

Board Risk Committee  Board Audit Committee 

First Line  Second Line  Third Line  

  
Business Risk  

Executive Directors & 
Management Body  

CRO & Risk Leadership 
Team  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
Executive Risk 
Committee  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
Internal Audit  

Capital Risk  CFO, Finance & 
Treasury / ALCo  

CRO & Prudential Risk  

Conduct Risk  All colleagues / 
Customer Committee / 
Culture Committee  

CRO & Compliance  

Funding Risk  CFO, Finance & 
Treasury / ALCo  

CRO & Prudential Risk  

Liquidity Risk  CFO & Treasury / ALCo  CRO & Prudential Risk  

Market Risk  CFO & Treasury / ALCo  CRO & Prudential Risk  

Model Risk  First Line Accountable 
Executive Model 
owner / Model Risk 
Committee  

CRO & Model Risk  

Operational Risk  All colleagues / 
Operational Risk 
Committee  

CRO & Operational 
Risk  

Retail Credit Risk  Lending & 
Underwriting / Credit 
Committee  

CRO & Credit Risk  

Wholesale Credit Risk  CFO & ALCo  CRO & Prudential Risk  

  
The committees, functions and individuals listed in the above table are accountable and responsible 
for ensuring that the day-to-day risks are appropriately managed within the agreed risk appetite and 
in accordance with the requirements of the ERMF.  
  
Individuals are encouraged and expected to adopt an open and independent culture of challenge, 
which is important in ensuring risk issues are surfaced and debated, with views and decisions 
recorded. Risk governance and culture is reinforced through the provisions of the Senior Managers 
and Certification Regime.   
 

Formal risk escalation and reporting requirements are set out in the ERMF, risk policies, individual 
committee terms of reference and the approved risk appetite thresholds and limits.  

 
Three Lines of Defence 
  
Belmont Green has implemented the Three Lines of Defence model to ensure clear separation of risk 
management responsibilities between operational management which owns, manages and controls 
risks in Belmont Green (the “First Line”); oversight, testing and challenge of those operations and 
controls, together with Compliance oversight (the “Second Line”); and independent assurance of the 
first two lines (the “Third Line”) by Internal Audit. This provides consistent, coherent, and complete 
coverage of all the risks to which Belmont Green is, or potentially could be, exposed. All three lines of 
defence are tasked with supporting and developing a culture of risk awareness throughout Belmont 
Green to create the desired outcomes for the business and its customers.  
 

First Line of Defence – Business and Support Functions  
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The First Line of Defence comprises Belmont Green’s business and support units (and their individual 
staff) who are responsible for day-to-day identification, mitigation, management, and monitoring of 
all risks arising within their functions. In addition, the First Line of Defence is responsible for 
developing and communicating appropriate processes, controls, and procedures for managing risks in 
accordance with the ERMF and Belmont Green’s approved risk appetite.   
 

 

Risk and Control Self-Assessments (RCSAs), Internal Risk Events (whether a loss was incurred or not) 
and Near Misses are included in management information reporting and escalated, according to 
materiality, through the Risk Governance Structure. The First Line of Defence works, with oversight 
and challenge from the Risk Function, to implement actions to investigate control weaknesses 
identified through the RCSA and business as usual activity, Internal Risk Events and Near Misses, and 
implement remedial activity to stop them happening again. They also work together to identify, assess 
and mitigate risks on proposed new products, with approval being obtained through the Risk 
Governance Structure.  
 

Second Line of Defence – Risk Function  
Belmont Green’s Second Line of Defence is provided by the Risk and Compliance Function whose 
primary responsibilities are as follows:  

 Monitoring the effectiveness of the ERMF, Risk Governance Structure and Three Lines of 

Defence model, reporting findings/recommendations to the Executive Risk Committee 

and the Board Risk Committee, as required;  

 Monitoring Belmont Green’s exposures against approved risk appetite and boundary 

limits via the KRIs for each Principal Risk Type and reporting these to Executive Risk 

Committee, Board Risk Committee and the Board;  

 Delivering the annual Risk and Compliance Plan of second line activities that delivers 

effective oversight and challenge of first line risk management activities on a risk basis;  

 Working with, and providing oversight and challenge to, the First Line of Defence to 

identify, assess, manage and control all of Belmont Green’s risks;  

 Providing risk management and compliance advice and support to all departments 

within Belmont Green, particularly to the owners of policies, processes, controls and 

procedures (including in relation to the product development and approvals process);  

 Working with the HR Department regarding risk management training for the Board and 

all employees;  

 Ensuring awareness of existing and new regulations; and  

 Assessment and thematic reviews of the First Line of Defence’s performance and 

effectiveness at managing risks.  

 
The Risk Function is headed by the Chief Risk Officer (CRO), who is a member of the Board, attends 
Board Risk Committee and Board Audit Committee, chairs the Executive Risk Committee, Credit 
Committee and Model Risk Committee, and is a member of ALCo (Asset & Liability Committee), the 
Operational Risk Committee, the Customer Committee and the Culture Committee. The CRO is 
approved by the FCA as an SMF3 (Senior management function under the FCA Senior Managers and 
Certification Regime) Executive Director and is responsible for monitoring, overseeing and challenging 
risk management performance on an operational level. The Director of Compliance, who reports to 
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the CRO, is approved as the SMF16 – Compliance Oversight and SMF17 – Money Laundering Reporting 
Officer.  
  
Third Line of Defence – Internal Audit  
Belmont Green’s Third Line of Defence is its Internal Audit Function, which has a co-source 
arrangement with PwC. Internal Audit provides the Board with independent assurance regarding the 
suitability, operation, and effectiveness of our ERMF, Risk Governance Structure and First and Second 
Lines of the Three Lines of Defence model. Internal Audit attend Board Audit Committee meetings and 
Board Risk Committee meetings and report directly to the Audit Committee’s Chair. Internal Audit’s 
annual audit plan is approved by the Board Audit Committee and completed audit work is reported to 
the Board Audit Committee and resolution of identified issues and actions tracked.   

Key and Emerging Risks  
  

Belmont Green’s key and emerging risks, viewed through the lens of the principal risk categories are 
identified and are reviewed regularly by the Executive Risk Committee, the Board Risk Committee, and 
the Board.  
 

Key risks are those existing and identified risks that could cause the delivery of Belmont Green’s 
strategy, results of operations, financial condition and / or prospects to differ materially from 
expectations. They could also result in adverse customer outcomes, adverse market impacts, 
reputational damage and regulatory breaches / sanctions.  
 

Emerging risks are those risks that are new, or may have unknown components, the impact of which 
could crystallise over a longer period.  
 

Belmont Green sees ten themes as its key and emerging risks: 

 

A review of each of these themes is provided on the following pages. 

Geopolitical Risk Economic and 
competitive 
environment 

Credit Impairment Material delay in 
securing banking 
licence 

Scale and pace of 
business change 

Information and 
cyber security risk  

Scale and pace of 
regulatory initiatives 
and change 

Embedding of 
Consumer Duty 
Requirements 

Financial Crime Climate Risk   
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Geopolitical risk (within Business, Credit and Conduct Risk) 

Overview 
Geopolitical risk, such as the 
Ukraine war and the conflict in 
Israel and Palestine / or the 
continuing UK political 
uncertainty, with a general 
election expected in 2024, can 
present a risk to the business, its 
financials and earnings volatility, 
as well as its customers. 

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 Significant adverse movements in geopolitical risk could lead to material 
increases in inflation and interest rates, along with increasing impairments 
on our mortgage portfolio and / or driving down demand, business 
volumes and growth.  

 Continued cost of living challenges experienced by customers leading to 
potential affordability / resilience / vulnerability issues. 

 Such adverse movements could also have a material impact on our funding 
and our critical suppliers and the services that they provide. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 We commission an independent external expert analysis.  

 We undertake a comprehensive assessment of our risk appetite and stress 
test our business model (including our mortgage portfolio) to ensure that 
we can meet our objectives in severe but plausible economic conditions. 

 We regularly engage with our critical suppliers to foresee and mitigate any 
impact on services provided to us, relating to adverse movements in 
geopolitical risk. 

 We have continued to maintain a proactive approach to identifying and 
supporting vulnerable customers. 

 We are pursuing a diversified funding structure including planned access 
to retail deposits as part of securing a banking licence. 

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 We will continue to monitor areas of conflict around the world, the global 
economic situation and the UK economic / political situation and the 
impact that has on interest rates following the steep rises in 2023, rising 
energy prices, cost of living, inflation, borrowers’ affordability and house 
prices.  

 Accordingly, we will continue to update our affordability policy and 
underwriting criteria to ensure it remains appropriate and continue to 
manage and support vulnerable customers in this challenging 
environment. 

 We will continue to update our mitigating actions as and when 
appropriate, including the use of updated stress tests to reflect material 
changes in external and internal conditions. 

 We will continue to oversee our outsourcers and third parties to ensure 
that they remain operationally resilient in the event of geopolitical 
uncertainty. 

 We will continue to move towards successfully securing a banking licence. 
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Economic and competitive environment (within Business, Credit and Conduct Risk) 
Overview 
Significant adverse 
macroeconomic conditions 
(either pro-longed or short-term) 
can present a risk to the 
business, its financials and 
earnings volatility, as well as its 
customers. 
 
The trading environment during 
2023 remained very challenging 
with continued increases in 
interest rates, inflation and 
overall cost of living. 

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 We have seen the impacts of the economic downturn, which has led to 
material increases in inflation and interest rates, along with increasing 
arrears and impairments on our mortgage portfolio. 

 Continued cost of living challenges experienced by customers leading to 
potential affordability / resilience / vulnerability issues. 

 Rising competition may compress business margins and impact on target 
returns, as well as driving down demand, business volumes and growth. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 We undertake a comprehensive assessment of our risk appetite under 
baseline and stress economic scenarios to ensure that we can meet our 
objectives in severe but plausible conditions. 

 Our risk appetite is calibrated to help achieve the business strategy and is 
modified as required to reflect the uncertainty in economic and 
competitive landscape. 

 We have continued to maintain a proactive approach to identify and 
support vulnerable customers. 

 We carefully consider our risk appetite in its selected markets and 
prioritise the needs of existing customers over new origination. 

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 Targeted and controlled expansion of our risk appetite in our selected 
markets to align with the economic outlook as it emerges. 
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Credit impairment (within Credit and Conduct Risk) 
Overview 
As at 31 December 2023, 
Belmont Green’s mortgage 
portfolio was £1.70bn and is 
exposed to credit impairment if 
customers are unable to repay 
loans and any outstanding 
interest and fees. 
 
The shape of the prevailing 
economic conditions (stabilising 
but heightened interest rates, 
future falls in house prices, 
continued cost of living 
challenges) will play a key role in 
driving arrears rates and the 
impairment profile in the 
foreseeable future. 

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 Increases in arrears and credit impairment could lead to a material 
reduction in profitability and retained earnings and our ability to meet our 
objectives. 

 Continued cost of living challenges experienced by customers leading to 
potential affordability / resilience / vulnerability issues. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 We undertake a comprehensive assessment of our risk appetite under 
baseline and stress economic scenarios to ensure that we can meet our 
objectives in severe but plausible conditions. 

 Our credit risk appetite is modified as required to reflect the uncertainty 
in economic conditions. 

 We have undertaken a comprehensive review of the suite of existing credit 
risk KRIs resulting in an enhanced articulation and definition of our credit 
risk appetite. 

 We have continued to apply robust underwriting, affordability and lending 
criteria and where appropriate have enhanced these, contributing to 
continued  low numbers of possessions and credit losses. 

 We have continued to maintain a proactive approach to identify and 
support vulnerable customers. 

 The impact on IFRS 9 models and Post-model Adjustments (PMAs) are 
regularly monitored and reported to internal committees and approved by 
the Board Audit Committee. 

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 Continue to enhance our stress testing capability. 

 Continued regular review of the evidence supporting all key areas of 
judgement used in support of the model-based Expected Credit Losses 
(ECLs). 

 Develop further strategic credit risk management information to ensure 
timely and accurate reflection of risk in our lending segments, thereby 
enhancing our ability to make proactive decisions. 
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Material delay in securing banking licence (within Business, Funding and Liquidity Risk) 
Overview 
Securing a banking licence is one 
of our key strategic objectives in 
the short-term and is therefore a 
key enabler to the achievement of 
key elements of our strategic 
plan. 
 
Following the strong progress 
made throughout 2023 in all 
workstreams of the banking 
licence project, Belmont Green 
submitted an application to the 
regulators for a banking licence in 
January 2024.  
 
Our assumption is that following 
regulatory approval, we will 
launch as a bank in Q4 2024. 
However, we have built sufficient 
contingencies into our plan to 
accommodate a material delay 
into 2025.   

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 A material delay in securing a banking licence would result in a delay in 
achievement of a number of our strategic objectives (including planned 
levels of growth in the business) within the original timescales set out 
within our strategic plan.  

 
How we manage this risk? 

 Delivery of all key banking licence project milestones in line with plan, 
including Board attestation, retail savings build and regulatory reporting 
systems build. 

 Regular and effective communication and engagement with both 
regulators during the authorisation process. 

 Contingencies already built into our capital, funding, liquidity and lending 
plans with ability to further flex these (i.e., reduce planned growth) in the 
event of a material delay. 

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 Delivery of all remaining key banking licence project milestones in line with 
project plan. 

 Continued regular and effective communication and engagement with 
both regulators during the authorisation process. 

 Review of contingencies within existing capital, funding, liquidity and 
lending plans to ensure these remain appropriate. 

Scale and pace of business change (within Business and Operational and Conduct Risk) 
Overview 
The scale and pace of change 
could create delivery challenges 
and could lead to disruption of 
Belmont Green’s plans and 
impact the delivery of our 
objectives. 
 
Belmont Green needs to deliver a 
number of key changes to its 
internal processes and processes 
to operate as a bank. 
 
In addition, the groundwork set 
during 2023 around the 
Consumer Duty expectations will 
be further developed and 
enhanced throughout 2024.  
 

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 Failing to deliver changes to products, services and systems could result in 
our inability to meet customer expectations and our other strategic 
objectives. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 We have organised our strategic priorities into a clear roadmap through 
which we prioritise and manage the required resources, both from a 
project and business unit perspective. Delivery of the roadmap is critical 
to the achievement of our objectives. 

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 Our key change priorities include progressing with our banking licence 
application and preparations, and embedding the requirements of the 
Consumer Duty requirements.  All of this with careful consideration to 
ensuring the delivery of good outcomes for our customers. 

 Continuing to work with our key outsourcing partners with regard to their 
change programme, ensuring these are aligned with ours and deliver 
positive outcomes for our customers. 
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Information and cyber security risk (within Operational Risk) 
Overview 
The cyber threat remains 
significant and high profile across 
all industries. 
 
Cyber security and information 
risk continues to be a focus area 
for regulators and is increasingly 
assessed as an integral part of 
operational resilience. 
 
This is coupled with an increase 
in public awareness and 
regulatory focus specifically on 
cyber resilience in the face of 
increasingly targeted, destructive 
ransomware attacks experienced 
in the market. 

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 The evolving nature and scale of criminal activity could increase the 
likelihood and severity of attacks on our business and supporting systems, 
resulting in loss of confidence, reputational damage, data loss/theft and 
financial loss. Once we become a bank, we are cognisant of the increased 
inherent risk of information and cyber security risk and have therefore 
enhanced our capability in these areas. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 We continually review our information security control environment to 
reflect the evolving nature of the threats to which we are exposed. 

 Our strategy for managing information security risk is comprehensive, 
including a documented information security strategy, on-going threat 
assessments, penetration testing, deployment of preventative and 
detective controls and a programme of cyber awareness education and 
training. 

 We have implemented policies and procedures in order to ensure 
colleagues are aware of potential threats and the importance of Cyber and 
Information Security. 

 We have an outsourced independent Chief Information Security Officer 
who reports into the Chief Risk Officer, providing second line assurance on 
security services.  

 An annual training programme for data privacy and protection and Cyber 
and Information Security awareness is provided to all colleagues. 

 We have an established incident management plan and procedures 
including disaster recovery and business continuity. Incidents relating to 
breaches of the IT infrastructure are reported and discussed at ERC and 
reported to BRC and the Board in accordance with the requirements of the 
ERMF.  

 We have continued to enhance our technology and operational resilience 
layer, including the controls applied to our critical service providers. 

 InfoSec due diligence is carried out on all suppliers aligned to recognised 
industry best practice and standards. 

Focus areas for 2024 

 We will continue to invest in our information security risk management 
framework alongside delivering further enhancements in our operational 
resilience capability.  

 We will continue to oversee our outsourcers and third parties to ensure 
that they remain operationally resilient. 

 We will fully embed our Data Loss Prevention (DLP) strategy, focussing on 
continued evolution of the underlying control framework. 
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Scale and pace of regulatory initiatives and change  (within Credit, Operational, and Conduct Risk) 
Overview 
The prudential and conduct 
regulatory regimes continue to 
be subject to change and could 
lead to either increases in the 
required level and quality of 
financial resources or change in 
policies and processes to meet 
additional regulatory 
requirements. 
 
In our transition to becoming a 
bank, Belmont Green will 
implement a suite of new 
prudential regulatory 
requirements.  
 
In relation to non-financial risks, 
implementation / embedding of 
operational resilience and third 
party and outsourcing regulations 
will continue, along with further 
implementation of high priority 
regulatory initiatives as published 
in the Regulatory Initiatives Grid. 

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 A material change in existing regulatory requirements and the addition of 
unexpected future regulatory change could lead to either increases in the 
level and quality of required financial resources or material updates in 
policies and processes. This could lead to both additional capital / cost / 
investment and adversely impact our ability to execute existing objectives. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 We actively review regulatory publications to assess their implications for 
the business and oversee the impact analysis and subsequent delivery 
through relevant committees and forums.  

 We actively engage with regulators, industry bodies (e.g., UK Finance) and 
advisors in relevant consultation processes. 

 We actively manage and monitor compliance with regulatory 
requirements through our established and embedded risk governance 
framework. 

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 We will continue to maintain a robust approach to both identifying new / 
proposed regulatory changes (i.e., regulatory horizon scanning) and 
providing effective oversight over the delivery of such changes. 

 We will continue to move towards successfully securing a banking licence 
which will include ensuring all related processes, systems and practices 
align to the prudential regulatory requirements. 

 We will continue to oversee our outsourcers and third parties to ensure 
that our overarching framework remains within regulatory requirements. 

 We will continue to enhance our approach to operational resilience to 
ensure that this remains within regulatory expectations. 
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Embedding of Consumer Duty Requirements (within Conduct and Operational Risk) 
Overview 
The FCA Consumer Duty sets 
higher expectations for the 
standard of support provided to 
customers, and challenges firms 
to evidence the customer 
outcomes they are delivering. 
Implementation of the new rules 
is staged (with the requirement 
for existing products to be 
compliant by July 2023, and 
closed products by July 2024).  
 
This has been a priority area for 
Belmont Green during the year 
with activity being championed 
by the Board, and a Non-
Executive Director assigned 
responsibility for supporting the 
Chair and CEO in challenging the 
Board on how the firm is 
embedding the programme. The 
areas targeted for 
implementation during 2023 
were delivered as planned, with 
the focus now on 
implementation for the closed 
products by July 2024 along with 
continuing to embed the 
Consumer Duty requirements 
within our business lines ensuring 
that good customer outcomes 
and deep understanding of these 
remain at the forefront of all our 
customer interactions. 
 
 

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 Delivery of Consumer Duty requirements and therefore good customer 
outcomes is fundamental to how we operate and what we do as a 
business. 

 Ineffective implementation and embedding of the Consumer Duty 
requirements could result in poor customer outcomes, failure to meet our 
strategic objectives, loss of consumer and market confidence in Vida and 
regulatory sanction / fine. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 Development and execution of a robust implementation and embedding 
plan sponsored by our CEO. This plan focuses on effective delivery of the 
four key outcomes: Products and Services; Price and Value; Consumer 
Understanding; and Consumer Support. 

 The Board has appointed the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director 
as the Consumer Duty Board Champion, who along with the Chair and 
other Board members has played a key role throughout 2023 in 
overseeing, challenging and monitoring Belmont Green’s approach to the 
implementation of the Consumer Duty regulations ahead of the FCA 31 
July 2023 deadline, as well as ensuring the Board has continued oversight 
of the embedding of the Consumer Duty throughout the organisation. The 
Consumer Duty Champion received regular updates on the progress of the 
Implementation Plan outside of formal governance, gaining insight into 
regulatory expectations through industry publications and FCA seminars. 

 We have undertaken important steps in embedding Consumer Duty 
requirements across the business in order to continue to deliver good 
outcomes for our customers and our colleagues continue to work hard to 
provide the high levels of service that our customers and intermediary 
partners expect and ensure that support is offered to all customers, 
including those who may be vulnerable or in financial difficulty, 
throughout their journey with Vida. By appointing our Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director, who is also the Chair of our Board Risk Committee, 
as our Consumer Duty Champion has helped us ensure that regular 
discussions and challenge take place at Board level, the principles of the 
Consumer Duty are truly embedded into the organisation and are driving 
good outcomes for customers. 

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 Continued embedding of the Consumer Duty requirements, we are very 
much aware that this is not a ‘one-off’ activity, and further work should be 
expected as financial services embed the requirements. 

 Continued effective oversight by the Board including our Consumer Duty 
Champion. 

 Continued second and third line oversight, challenge and assurance 
activities to assess the level of embedding of the Consumer Duty 
requirements. 

 Continued strong and proactive engagement with regulator and trade 
bodies in relation to the development of good practice across the sector. 
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Financial Crime (within Operational Risk) 
Overview 
 
Financial crime is any kind of 
criminal conduct relating to 
money or to financial services or 
markets. This includes any 
offence involving: 
 Fraud or dishonesty; 
 Misconduct in, or misuse of 

information relating to, a 
financial market; 

 Handling the proceeds of 
crime; or the financing of 
terrorism. 

 
Although the risk has always 
been present in financial services, 
the increased use of digital 
channels and our planned move 
to becoming a bank has elevated 
the risk profile. With the 
development of technology, the 
type and impact of financial 
crime activities is likely to 
increase over the coming years. 

How could this impact our strategy or business model? 

 An inadequate control environment for financial crime could lead to 
increased operational losses, credit impairment and potentially regulatory 
enforcement, penalties and / or censure. 

 The reputational damage associated with financial crime could cause loss 
of business (both customers and intermediaries), impacting our revenues 
and financial position, as well as our regulatory standing. 

 Once we become a bank, we are cognisant of the increased inherent risk 
of financial crime risk and have therefore enhanced our capability in this 
area. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 We continue to enhance our control environment with respect to financial 
crime, including recruiting additional skilled and experienced resources 
into the second line.  

 The control environment and associated risks are monitored via our well-
established and embedded risk governance framework. 

 We conduct a firm-wide financial crime risk assessment, at least annually, 
to assess compliance with relevant policies. This focuses on: money 
laundering and terrorist financing risk, anti-bribery and corruption risk, 
sanctions risk, tax evasion risk and fraud risk. 

 An annual programme of financial crime awareness education and training 
is provided to all colleagues. 

 We have a dedicated Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) who 
reports into the CRO with an annual MLRO report provided to the Board. 

 Whistleblowing arrangements are in place so colleagues can report any 
activity which they consider to be inappropriate without fear of retaliation 
or detrimental action. 

 We restrict the giving and receiving of gifts and hospitality, and they must 
be declared to management whether accepted or declined.   

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 We will continue to invest in resources and risk identification, prevention, 
and control mechanisms to protect our customers and business from the 
facilitation of financial crime. This will be delivered in conjunction with the 
enhancement of existing policies, procedures, systems, and practices as 
part of our banking licence application. 
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Climate Risk (within Credit Risk) 
Overview 
 
Climate change and society’s 
response to it, presents financial 
risks which impact Belmont 
Green’s objectives. The risks arise 
through two primary channels: 
the physical effects of climate 
change and the impact of 
changes associated with the 
transition to a lower carbon 
economy.  

How could this impact our strategy, business model and customers? 

 Physical risks, such as flooding or subsidence could lead to damage to 
mortgaged properties, which could become temporarily or permanently 
uninhabitable, affecting rental income, and/or leading to a permanent 
drop in value. This could lead to increased defaults and/or losses on 
mortgage loans.  

 Transition risks, such as stringent requirements for energy efficiency on 
rented or owner-occupied properties, could impose a significant financial 
cost on borrowers for retrofitting, or leave them unable to rent or sell their 
property or permanently reducing the value of their property. This could 
lead to increased defaults and/or losses on mortgage loans. 

 Reputational risks could arise if we are seen to be taking inadequate steps 
to understand, monitor and mitigate our own impact on the climate. This 
can arise through our RMBS and warehouse investors, our equity 
investors, our intermediary partners or our customers. The impact could 
be reduced investment demand, increased cost of investment or reduced 
business. 

 
How we manage this risk? 

 Belmont Green has embedded the management of climate risk as a subset 
of one of its principal risks, credit risk. 

 Belmont Green considers the embedding of climate related matters and 
the wider ESG measures to be key initiatives. It is a key part of our broader 
ESG Strategy. 

 At present the most material impact is judged to be from EPC 
requirements on BTL properties. We have tightened our lending policy to 
ensure we only consider lending when properties meet, amongst other 
criteria, the minimum energy efficiency regulations by law. 

 We actively monitor our portfolio, via the measurement of new 
completion volumes across each EPC rating. For each EPC grade, we 
further consider the available levers and controls at our disposal, to 
appropriately manage the inherent risk on the back-book. Exposure levels 
are also benchmarked against the market – this ensures that we minimise 
the risk of over-exposure. Developments in regulation are also closely 
monitored, so that we proactively anticipate future changes and 
understand their impact on our customers. 

 We continue to analyse the potential impact of physical risks on our 
portfolio and report this in our annual climate risk report to Board Risk 
Committee. 

 We report on our carbon emissions annually, including a voluntary 
disclosure of scope 3 emissions.  

 
Focus areas for 2024 

 We will continue to monitor developments in EPC requirements, both for 
rented and owner-occupied properties and will respond with any required 
changes in lending policy or product design. 

 We are enhancing our analysis of potential physical risks to better 
understand where and when this exposure could materialise. 

 We will continue to expand our climate disclosures taking into 
consideration TCFD and the forthcoming ISSB Sustainability Standards. We 
are committed to improving the scope and accuracy of the data we publish 
annually, driving a better understanding of our emissions and informing 
the actions we are taking to reduce and mitigate their effects. 
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This Strategic Report has been drafted and presented in accordance with, and in reliance upon, 

applicable English company law, in particular Chapter 4A of the Companies Act 2006, and the 

liabilities of the directors in connection with this report shall be subject to the limitations and 

restrictions provided by such law.  

It should be noted that the Strategic Report has been prepared for the Group as a whole, and therefore 
gives greater emphasis to those matters which are significant to the Company and its subsidiaries.  

 
Approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for signature on behalf of the Board by 

 

 

 

Anthony Mooney 

Director 

12 July 2024 

 

Aimee.Landon
Anth
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Corporate Governance 
 

Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Board is committed to the principles of corporate governance contained in the UK Corporate 

Governance Code issued by the FRC in July 2018 (the ‘Code’), and the Wates Corporate Governance 

Principles for Large Private Companies and we voluntarily comply with these in relevant areas.  

 

Board of Directors and Senior Management  
 

Steve Haggerty – Chair  

Appointed in March 2016 

Steve is a Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Board of Directors. He qualified as being 

Independent when he was appointed as Chair. He has been continuously involved in the UK mortgage 

market for more than 50 years, starting with the Bristol & West Building Society in 1973. In 1990 he 

joined Homeloan Management Limited (HML) and as CEO and later Chair, was responsible for creating 

the largest mortgage servicer in Europe. Following spells as Managing Director of Skipton Building 

Society and Commercial Director of Northern Rock Asset Management (NRAM) on behalf of UKFI, 

Steve set up his own consultancy business, Hawkesbury Mortgage Services – specialising in mortgage 

portfolio trading and servicing. 

He has been an INED since 2010 during which time he has held numerous positions including Vice 

Chair of Melton Mowbray Building Society and Chair of Target Loan Servicing Ltd, Chair of Rockstead 

Ltd and Board member of Legal & General Home Finance Ltd.  

Appointed in March 2016 

 

Carol Sergeant CBE - INED  

Appointed in September 2019 

Carol is the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director and Chair of BRC. She has been Head of Major 

Banks Supervision at the Bank of England, Managing Director on the Board of the UK Financial Services 

Authority, Chief Risk Officer of Lloyds Banking Group, Trustee of the Lloyds Register Foundation and 

Chair of the Global Women’s Leadership Programme at Bayes Business School (formerly Cass). She is 

currently Chair of the Board Risk Committee of Danske Bank A/S (Copenhagen)* and was previously a 

Non-Executive Director of Secure Trust Bank PLC. 

Carol has led and participated in projects and reviews for UK Government and the EU Commission on 

financial services and regulation, including the HM Treasury review of Simple Financial Products, and 

has been on the Boards of a number of universities. 
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*Carol Sergeant has informed Belmont Green that she will step down from her role at Danske Bank 

A/S, effective 22 March 2024. 

 

Robin Churchouse – INED  

Appointed in April 2019 

Robin is an Independent Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Board Audit Committee. After 

gaining a law degree from Cambridge University, Robin qualified as a chartered accountant with Price 

Waterhouse in London since when he has gathered over 30 years of experience in financial services in 

the UK working as a regulator, management consultant, corporate finance advisor, and in a range of 

executive roles including finance, treasury, audit, risk and operations. He has extensive experience of 

financial services accounting, financial control and audit requirements, and of ICAAPs and ILAAPs 

including underlying modelling and over-arching stress testing elements. 

His most recent executive role was with the Yorkshire Building Society where he was Chief Financial 

Officer. Over 13 years, he held roles that involved leading the Group’s finance, treasury, audit, strategy 

and planning, legal and risk functions as well as a number of operational areas including underwriting. 

He obtained extensive exposure to all areas of Executive and Board committees and governance 

including main Board and Board Audit and Risk committees. He was heavily involved in seeing the 

Society (and those that merged with it) through the global financial crisis including extensive 

interaction with the regulatory team. 

Robin was formerly an Independent Non-Executive Director at Lookers plc and Lookers Motor Limited 

(a motor dealership and service group) and is currently Chair (designate) of Ethos Bank, a proposed 

start-up ethical and Sharia compliant UK bank.  

 

Peter Williams – INED  

Appointed in May 2016 

Peter is an Independent Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Board Remuneration and 

Nominations Committee. He has worked in and on the UK’s housing and mortgage market issues for 

over forty years both as a senior executive in mortgage trade bodies (Building Societies Association, 

Council for Mortgage Lenders and the Intermediary Mortgage Lenders Association) and as an 

academic and policy adviser to governments. He is currently attached to the Department of Land 

Economy at the University of Cambridge working on a variety of housing and mortgage issues including 

most recently research into mortgage prisoners, affordable housing policy across the UK and housing 

market downturns. As part of the Acadata research team he contributes to a monthly England and 

Wales house price report for e.surv.  

He is Chair of First Affordable, a ‘for profit’ housing association, a Trustee of the Housing Studies 

Charitable Trust and co-editor and contributor to the annual UK Housing Review. He was previously 

Deputy Director General of the Council of Mortgage Lenders, Executive Director of the Intermediary 

Mortgage Lenders Association, Professor of Housing at Cardiff University and Director of the 

Cambridge Centre for Housing and Planning Research.  
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Dana LaForge - NED  

Appointed in September 2020 

Dana is a Non-Executive Director representing the interests of the shareholder, Pine Brook. He joined 

Pine Brook in June 2020 as a partner and member on the Pine Brook investment committee. He 

represents Pine Brook as a board director of Belmont Green, Amedeo Holding Company Limited, Clear 

Blue Financial Holdings, Syndicate Holding Corp and Fidelis Insurance Holdings Limited. 

He has more than 20 years of private equity investment and management experience. He was the 

Chief of Staff of the Capital Markets and Investment Banking Group and a managing director and head 

of the North American financial institutions’ investment banking groups at Bankers Trust, BT Alex. 

Brown, and Deutsche Bank. Thereafter, he served as a partner of several entrepreneurial investment 

businesses and private equity funds focused on financial services where he was a member of the 

investment committee, invested capital and worked closely with portfolio companies. These included 

Brera Capital Partners and Colonnade Financial Group, a spin out from Deutsche Bank created to 

manage a private equity portfolio.  

He is active in cancer research as a Director of the Multiple Myeloma Investment Fund. He received 

an MBA from Harvard Business School, and a B.S. from Washington & Lee University. 

 

Alan Newton – INED  

Alan resigned from the Board with effect from 28 February 2023. 

 
Anth Mooney 

Anth joined Belmont Green as Chief Executive Officer in January 2020. He is a financial services expert 

who has deep experience in the mortgage and savings market. He has more than 25 years’ experience 

in financial services, the last 15 at an executive level in Retail Banking, Marketing, Strategy, Financial 

Services and Retail Operations, including as Director of Financial Services at Virgin Money, Retail 

Banking Director at Northern Rock, Managing Director of Thomas Cook Money, and CEO of Caversham 

Finance. 

John Rowan 

John joined Belmont Green as Chief Financial Officer in October 2020. He is a chartered accountant 

and a fellow of the Association of Corporate Treasurers. John has extensive knowledge in financial 

services garnered over 30 years. Over this period, he has held positions in corporate banking, risk, 

finance and treasury. His recent experience with Virgin Money and Provident Financial Group has 

provided John insight into the complex credit segment of retail financial services. 

Fraser McNeill 

Fraser joined Belmont Green as Chief Risk Officer in April 2022. He was previously CRO for Coventry 

Building Society and Saffron Building Society. Fraser is a senior risk management specialist with more 

than 20 years of experience working in senior risk management positions within the financial services 

sector. He has held senior management positions in risk, assurance and finance for a number of banks, 
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insurers and building societies including the Yorkshire / Clydesdale Bank, MetLife, the Skipton Group 

(including the Skipton Building Society), the Co-Operative Bank and Coventry Building Society.  

The senior leadership team includes the Executive Directors shown above and four further leaders 

across the business: 

Tommy Wight – Chief Operating Officer 

Tommy is a strategic change expert and technology leader with 20 years’ experience in financial 

services. He has a proven track record in delivering business value and growth through combining 

progressive technology with smart operating model design and creating a dynamic change 

environment.  

He joined Belmont Green in 2017 from Shawbrook Bank, where he was Director of Change and played 

a leading role in building the business ahead of a successful IPO in 2015. Prior to this he held various 

senior programme delivery roles at Deutsche Bank, NBNK Investments and RBS. 

Deb Smith – Chief of Mortgage Operations 

Deb has led large scale multi-functional operations for a number of national organisations. With over 

30 years’ experience in financial services, she has a track record of delivering quality customer service. 

She joined Belmont Green in 2018 from The Mortgage Works, the specialist lending area of 

Nationwide Building Society, where she led a high-volume operation, which included underwriting, 

contact centres and servicing teams. Prior to that, she led a multi-sited function, covering all back-

office disciplines, for The Co-op Bank 

Amanda Robinson – Chief Legal and Culture Officer and Company Secretary  

Amanda has over 20 years of legal experience gained in private practice and in-house, specialising in 

consumer finance, wealth management and asset finance.  

She joined Belmont Green in April 2020 from the Coventry Building Society where she was Head of 

Legal and responsible for savings, mortgages, data protection, commercial contracts, outsourcing and 

corporate governance. Prior to that she worked as Senior Legal Counsel at Citigroup and as a Senior 

Associate at Norton Rose (now Norton Rose Fulbright). 

Jennie Walton – Chief People Officer  

Jennie is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development with over 20 years’ HR 

experience in change management, organisation design, formulating reward strategies and 

implementing pay and grading structures.   

She joined Belmont Green in 2016 from Acenden where she was HR Director for two years.  Prior to 

this she was Director of HR at the Performing Rights Society and has held previous Head of HR positions 

at Thomas Cook and Virgin Retail.  
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Corporate Governance Report 

The Board of Directors of Belmont Green Finance Limited the principal operating subsidiary,is 

responsible for the governance of the business, setting strategic goals, providing the leadership to put 

them into effect and supervising the management of the business. It ensures that the business has 

sufficient resources to meet its objectives and to comply with all legal, regulatory and contractual 

requirements. The Board is committed to rigorous standards of governance and recognises that a 

robust governance framework with effective controls and clear accountability is essential to 

effectively discharge its responsibilities for safeguarding the prudent and sustainable operation of the 

business. Our corporate governance structure is based on the FRC’s UK Corporate Governance Code 

and the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies and we voluntarily 

comply with these in relevant areas. 

Full details of the Governance structure can be found in the Corporate Governance Report section of 

Belmont Green Finance Limited’s Annual Report and financial statements. 
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Directors’ Report 
 

The directors of Belmont Green present their annual report, together with the consolidated audited 
financial statements and Auditor's Report, for the year ended 31 December 2023. Belmont Green has 
been established to lend in and service the UK mortgage market via the intermediary channel under 
the brand name of Vida Homeloans. Belmont Green is authorised to provide mortgage finance and 
administer mortgages. The directors do not expect any significant change to the activities of Belmont 
Green. 

 

Climate-Related Financial Disclosures  
 

Belmont Green is committed to continually developing our climate-related reporting capabilities and 

disclosures in coming years. This year, Belmont Green has summarised our current approach to 

managing climate change risks and planned activities, building on our previous disclosures under the 

“Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting”. Belmont Green is not voluntarily reporting under TCFD, 

and this does not comprise a full TCFD disclosure. Our intention is to assist stakeholders in 

understanding the impact of climate change on our business in a more transparent and familiar way.   

 

Governance 

Governance of climate-related matters occurs through two lenses: firstly, through our broader ESG 

Strategy and secondly through the management of climate-related financial risks, which is integrated 

into our Enterprise Risk Management Framework.  

The ESG Strategy was approved by the Board in December 2022 and throughout 2023 we have 

focussed on implementing the Strategy and embedding a sustainable mindset across the business.  

Delivery of ESG activities is managed through the ESG Forum which reports into the Customer & 

Culture Committee. Further details of the ESG Strategy are set out in the Sustainability Report. 

The definition, taxonomy and risk appetite for climate risk is reviewed annually, and most recently 

approved by the Board in November 2023. Climate risk is reported to and overseen by Board Risk 

Committee, Executive Risk Committee and Credit Committee. The Board Risk Committee is 

responsible for the monitoring and oversight of climate and transition risks and the CEO has overall 

accountability to the Board to ensure that sustainable and responsible practices are embedded within 

the business. The CEO is the senior manager responsible for ensuring the identification and 

management of financial risks arising from climate change under the Senior Managers Regime. 

Strategy 

Climate considerations are becoming increasingly important factors in decision making. Regulators are 

developing tools, mechanisms and taxonomies to ensure it is integrated into the banking system, 

investment policies and risk management processes. However, the majority of climate reporting is not 

mandatory in the UK. For Belmont Green, as a small, unlisted, non-bank lender, currently the only 

mandatory reporting is the annual Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) of scope 1 and 

scope 2 carbon emissions. Belmont Green does, and will continue to, comply with all mandatory 
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reporting requirements and will continue to provide additional voluntary disclosures in a 

proportionate manner where we consider this is of value to our stakeholders. 

Climate considerations are also embedded into our business strategy, culture and decision-making 

processes in order to support our purpose and deliver our strategic aims in a way which delivers the 

best outcomes for our stakeholders, our people and our company. 

Risk Management 

We have taken a proportionate approach to climate-related financial risks, recognising both the 

significant medium-term impact that this is expected to have on our business and the evolving nature 

of the risks. The most significant risks for Belmont Green are set out below with explanations of how 

they could result in losses for Belmont Green. In most cases, losses are through credit risk and 

therefore we have implemented climate risk within our Enterprise Risk Management Framework as a 

sub-set of credit risk. 

The appetite for climate risk has been established by the Board as follows: 

We have no appetite for material climate risks, whether through transition or 

physical risks, that are not appropriately monitored, mitigated, avoided or explicitly 

accepted. 

Climate risks could affect the business through multiple different mechanisms. To ensure a 

proportionate approach, we have focussed on those mechanisms that we judge could result in 

material risk for our business in the short or medium term. We have assessed these to be as follows: 

The physical impact of climate change is expected to be much less in the UK compared to other 

countries. However, it is expected to affect our business in two main ways: 

 Flooding from increased rainfall, including secondary impacts where homes become 
uninsurable. 

 Subsidence increases in areas of South East England where rainfall will decrease and 
temperatures rise. 
 

Flooding and subsidence result in additional costs for our borrowers – repairing damage, lost rental 

income and increased insurance costs for higher-risk properties. This also results in a lower valuation 

of properties. 

Additional costs and lower valuations could increase the likelihood of default and also increase the 

potential loss given default. As a result, this may result in increased credit losses for Belmont Green. 

In addition, transition risk will arise from measures the government takes to encourage households 

to reduce energy consumption in particular: 

 Stricter energy efficiency (EPC) requirements on private rented properties. 

 Introduction of energy efficiency requirements for owner-occupied properties. 
 

We expect increased costs for our borrowers to meet those requirements, loss of rental income if 

properties cannot be rented out and reduced property valuations or sale costs if such properties are 

repossessed. This could increase the likelihood of default and also increase the potential loss given 

default. As a result, this may also result in increased credit losses for Belmont Green. 
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There is also a reputational risk if Belmont Green is unable to show sufficient progress in reducing 

emissions, either own emissions or those of our financed properties, or cannot provide sufficient 

information about emissions to regulators, investors or customers. 

Risk Mitigation 

Physical risk is managed at present through analysis and we are ready to adjust lending policy if the 

analysis shows that there is a material risk. We have analysed the risk of flooding in our present 

portfolio and this is not shown to be material. However, we are aware that the end of the FloodRe 

reinsurance scheme in 2035 may result in rising material costs for a number of our borrowers. We are 

also sourcing improved data on other physical risks including subsidence. 

Transition risk is managed through lending policy and portfolio analysis. Belmont Green’s lending 

policy does not permit properties that do not comply with current EPC requirements and we require 

borrowers to have a plan to meet new EPC requirements. We keep the political and regulatory position 

under close review and are ready to adjust our policies in line with any announced changes. We also 

monitor the EPC distribution of our portfolio and how it compares with the national average. 

Reputational risk is managed by following developments in the market and ensuring we remain in line 

with our peers and responsive to our stakeholders. At present the main areas of development are 

around disclosures, in particular the methodology on how we source the data for our scope 3 

emissions and if additional metrics can be sourced.  

Our EcoVadis sustainability reassessment was completed in 2023, with Belmont green receiving a 

rating upgrade and being awarded a gold medal accreditation which puts us in the top 5% of 

companies which EcoVadis have assessed. 

Metrics and Targets 

Under the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) framework, Belmont Green is required to 

disclose energy use and associated Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions from its activities. The reporting 

period is aligned with the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and covers Belmont Green and its 

subsidiaries. The methodology has been based on the UK government’s GHG Conversion Factors 

published on www.gov.uk and, for mortgage properties, the information included in the property’s 

Energy Performance Certificate. Calculations have been made for the reporting of: 

 Fuel use for transport for business travel (scope 1).  

 Electricity use within buildings (scope 2). 

 Fuel use for transport for staff commuting (scope 3). 

 Energy consumed by properties subject to our mortgages (scope 3). 

 Indirect emissions through our supply chain (scope 3). 
 

As part of our environmental strategy, we are committed to voluntarily reporting on scope 3 emissions 

and to improving the scope and accuracy of the data we publish each year, driving a better 

understanding of our emissions and informing the actions we are taking to reduce and mitigate their 

effects. 
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These figures are subject to a number of material estimates and uncertainties. In particular: 

 GHG Conversion Factors provide a consistent approach to measuring emissions across 
different reporting firms; however it is based on various averages that may not apply to 
our specific emissions. 

 Staff commuting and working from home emissions have been calculated based on a 
sample approach. 

 Supplier emissions is based on expensed cost during the year, excluding rent and rates. It 
does not include capitalised expenses. 

 The accuracy of supplier information is constrained by the level of public disclosures made 
by them; not all suppliers disclose their scope 3 emissions, disclosures are often 
aggregated across disparate business lines and geographical regions of the world and 
there is a lag with the publication of their disclosures. Estimates have been made 
wherever possible to ensure we provide the most accurate figures we are able.  

 Information on property emissions is only available for 80% of our properties and 
therefore it has only been possible provide a broad estimate for the overall portfolio. 

 Property emissions only includes mortgages that have been financed by Belmont Green 
and excludes those that have been sold either through asset sales or forward flow but are 
still serviced by Belmont Green. 

 Energy use by source does not include mortgage properties as this data is not available. 
 
 

Energy performance results       

Energy use by source   Units 2023 2022 

Electricity  MWh 51 159 

Transportation   MWh 75 158 

Total     125 317 
     

GHG emission results       

Emission by category   Units 2023 2022 

Scope 1 - Combustion of fuel for transport  T CO2 eq 6 23 

Scope 2 - Purchased electricity  T CO2 eq 10 31 

Scope 3 - Transport (staff commuting)   T CO2 eq 13 16 

Scope 3 - Energy consumed by staff working 
from home 

 T CO2 eq 109 114 

Total operational emissions  T CO2 eq 138 184 

Scope 3 - Suppliers  T CO2 eq 534 564 

Scope 3 - Mortgage properties  T CO2 eq 38,000 40,800 

Total     38,672 41,548 
     

Intensity Ratio       

Emissions per employee (operational emissions)   T CO2 eq 0.09 0.26 

Emissions per employee (scope 1, 2 & 3)  T CO2 eq 215 204 
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Our own energy use and associated GHG emissions decreased in 2023, reflecting the change of our 

intermediary support model from the traditional field-sales approach following the introduction of 

the V-Hub, and the move to our new smaller office in Egham.  

 

Belmont Green recognises that as a responsible lender we can have a material impact on the energy 

use from properties subject to our mortgages including through our lending policies, product 

development and pricing. We will explore different options for monitoring this performance as part 

of our framework for managing their impact on climate change. We continue to monitor the 

consultations concerning the energy efficiency of domestic and non-domestic properties. 

 

Targets 

 

We have agreed a target to reduce our own scope 1 and 2 operational emissions by 50% from the 

2019 baseline by 2030. Our strategy to achieve this reduction is to continue with our Agile Working 

Policy, ensuing that our business model uses the benefits of technology to enable effective working 

and communications without requiring significant travel. 

 

In addition, in 2023 we targeted and maintained a stable average portfolio EPC rating.  

 

Information Presented in Other Sections 
 

Information relating to a review of the business, future developments, results, people, corporate 
governance and principal risks and uncertainties is described in the Strategic Report. Belmont Green 
uses financial instruments to manage certain types of risk, including liquidity and interest rate risk. 
Further information about derivative financial instruments can be found in Note 10 to the financial 
statements. 

Political Donations 

Belmont Green does not make contributions to political parties, organisations or individuals engaged 

in politics, to support a political party, election candidate, political cause or as a way of influencing or 

gaining business advantage. 

Going Concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. In evaluating the 

appropriateness of this basis, the directors are satisfied that Belmont Green has the resources to 

continue in business for the foreseeable future, covering a period of at least 12 months from the date 

of approval of the financial statements. In making this assessment, the directors have considered a 

range of information relating to present and future, internal and external conditions and, in particular, 

the potential impact of the economic environment upon the business and its operations, markets, 

liquidity, capital and profitability. All of these factors have been set out in Note 2b to the financial 

statements. 
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Results 

The statements of comprehensive income and the statements of financial position can be found on 

page 81 and 82 respectively. 

The directors do not propose to pay a dividend. 

 

Directors 
 

The directors of the Company are set out below. All directors served throughout the period and to the 
date of this report unless otherwise stated. 
 
Anthony Mooney  

Dana LaForge  

John Rowan  

 

Auditor 
 

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that: 

 as far as each of the directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
company’s auditor is unaware; and 

 each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s 
auditor is aware of that information. 

This statement is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

The re-appointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor of the company is a matter reserved to the Board, on 
the recommendation of the Board Audit Committee. 
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement 

The directors of Belmont Green are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under 
that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the United Kingdom.  Under 
company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the 
company for that period.  In preparing these financial statements, International Accounting Standard 
1 requires that directors: 

 Properly select and apply accounting policies; 

 Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, 
reliable, comparable and understandable information;  

 Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs 
are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other 
events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance; and 

 Make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Anthony Mooney 
Director 
 
12 July 2024 
Company registration: 09828204 
 

Aimee.Landon
Anth
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BELMONT GREEN 
LIMITED 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Belmont Green Limited  
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

 the financial statements of Belmont Green Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the 
‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2023 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;  

 the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted 
international accounting standards;  

 the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006; and 

 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006. 

 

We have audited the financial statements which comprise: 

 

 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income; 

 the consolidated and parent company statements of financial position; 

 the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity; 

 the consolidated and parent statements of cash flows; 

 the related group notes 1 to 27; and 

 the related parent company notes 28 to 37. 
 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 

Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and, as regards the parent company financial 

statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

 

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 

are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the 

‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
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requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt 

the going concern basis of accounting included: 

 

 obtaining management’s forecasts and scenario analyses and assessing the multiple funding levels 
required in each scenario; 

 challenging key assumptions used in the forecasts based on historic trends and future outlook, 
including the impact of the current macro-economic uncertainty; 

 testing the clerical accuracy of those forecasts and assessing the historical accuracy of forecasts 
prepared by management; 

 assessing the intent and ability of the majority shareholder Pine Brook to continue to provide the 
capital required under management’s forecasts; 

 assessing the group’s ability to obtain further funding through the warehouse facilities and 
securitisation funding during the going concern period, including the group’s ability to refinance 
securitisations at the relevant call dates and rollover the existing external loan into the warehouse 
funding; 

 evaluating the group’s ability to meet the covenants under the warehouse facilities and securitisation 
special purpose vehicles (“SPVs”) in a stressed scenario; and 

 assessing the appropriateness of the going concern disclosures in the financial statements. 
 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue.  

 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 

relevant sections of this report. 

 

Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information 

contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 

information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 
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Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the 

financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of directors 
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 

company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or 

the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s 

website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

 

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 

procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 

irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 

including fraud is detailed below.  

 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s 

documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. 

We also enquired of management and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks 

of irregularities, including those that are specific to the group’s business sector.  

 

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and 

identified the key laws and regulations that:  

 had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
These included UK Companies Act, tax legislation and pension legislation; and 

 do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to 
the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the group’s regulatory 
requirements set by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

 

We discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists such as tax, valuations, 

economics, credit risk, analytics and modelling, financial instruments and IT specialists, regarding the 

opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might 

occur in the financial statements. 

 

As a result of performing the above, we considered the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and 

our procedures performed to address them are described below: 

 Revenue recognition specifically in relation to effective interest rate (“EIR”) adjustments: 

 obtaining an understanding of relevant controls that the group has established in relation to 
the recognition of revenue on an EIR basis; 

 challenging the appropriateness of the behavioural lives adopted by management with 
reference to historical customer redemptions, having tested the accuracy and completeness 
of the underlying data; 

 challenging any amendments made to the behavioural lives by management during the 
course of the year, based on the impact of product changes and recent customer redemption 
activity in light of the rising interest rate environment and economic uncertainty; 

 in conjunction with our analytics and modelling specialists, assessing the underlying code used 
to calculate the EIR adjustment and independently re-calculating the EIR model outputs; and 

 assessing the treatment of fees and charges arising on loans and advances to customers and 
the appropriateness of their inclusion or exclusion in the group’s EIR model. 

 Expected credit losses on loans to customers: 

 obtaining an understanding of relevant controls that the group has in place to manage the risk 
of inappropriate assumptions being used within the ECL model; 

 evaluating the appropriateness of the methodologies and policies chosen by management in 
relation to the determination of ECL on loans to customers; 

 in conjunction with our credit risk specialists, assessing the compliance of the modelling 
approach and methodology with the requirements of IFRS 9, and assessing whether the 
documented modelled approach was implemented in practice; 

 challenging management’s consideration of the future economic environment in conjunction 
with our economic specialists; 
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 evaluating the completeness and accuracy of post model adjustments in light of relevant 
macroeconomic factors, to assess whether all relevant risks were represented by these 
adjustments, in conjunction with our credit risk specialists; and 

 testing the accuracy and completeness of data used. 
 

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to 

the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we 

tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made 

in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any 

significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following: 

 

 reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance 
with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial 
statements; 

 performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate 
risks of material misstatement due to fraud;  

 enquiring of management, the audit committee and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential 
litigation and claims, and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and 

 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and 
reviewing correspondence with HMRC and the Financial Conduct Authority. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 

 the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their 

environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the 

strategic report or the directors’ report. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion: 

 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BELMONT GREEN 
LIMITED 

80 
 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; 
or 

 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

 

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 

the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 

members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To 

the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 

have formed. 

 

 

 

Kieren Cooper (Senior statutory auditor) 

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 

Statutory Auditor 

Birmingham, United Kingdom 

12 July 2024 

 
 

kdakin
Stamp
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  2023  2022 
 Notes  £'000  £'000 
  

    

Interest income and similar income 4  144,373  99,941 

Interest expense and similar charges 5  (111,887)  (57,859) 

Net interest income   
 32,486  42,082 

      

Other operating income/ (expense) 6  920  (6,173) 
 
Net fair value gain / (loss) on financial 
instruments 

7 

 3,903   (706) 

      

Net operating income  
 37,309  35,203 

Administrative expenses  8  (32,439)  (35,504) 

Operating profit before impairment and 
provisions 

 
 4,870  (301) 

Provisions  21  -  310 

Impairment (losses)/ releases 14  (55)  543 

Profit before taxation  
 

4,815  553 

Tax credit for the year  9  25   609 

Profit after taxation   
 4,840  1,162 

      

Other comprehensive income      

Cash flow hedge reserve (losses)/ gains   (10,468)  16,864 

Total comprehensive (loss)/ profit for the year  
 

(5,628)  18,026 
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  2023  2022 

 Notes  £'000  £'000 

Assets  
 

 
 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 24 
 

176,636 
 

171,811 

Loans to customers 13  
1,688,337 

 
1,685,600 

Derivative financial instruments 10  
49,350 

 
89,079 

Other receivables 15  
22,473 

 
17,648 

Deferred taxation asset 16  
13,565 

 
13,565 

Property, plant and equipment 17  
401 

 
966 

Intangible assets 18  
2,704 

 
2,837 

Corporation tax   -  12 

Total assets    1,953,466  1,981,517 
       

Liabilities     
 

 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 11  44,437  15,185 

Debt securities in issue 19  
1,676,909 

 
1,748,523 

Derivative financial liabilities 10  
10,730 

 
233 

Other liabilities 20  
78,615 

 
69,188 

Provisions 21  64  64 

Corporation tax   13  - 

Total liabilities    1,810,768  1,833,193 
       

Shareholders’ Equity     
 

 

Share capital 22  
203,990 

 
203,990 

Share premium   41  39 

Other reserves 12  6,396  16,864 

Retained losses    
(67,729) 

 
(72,569) 

Total shareholders’ equity    
142,698 

 
148,324 

Total liabilities and equity    
1,953,466 

 
1,981,517 

The notes on pages 85 to 131 form part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 July 2024 and signed on 
behalf of the Board. 
 

 

 

Anthony Mooney 

Company registration: 09828204 

Aimee.Landon
Anth
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Called up 
share capital 

Share 
premium 

Retained 
earnings 

 

Other 
Reserves 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance at 1 January 
2023 

203,990 39 (72,569) 16,864 148,324 

Share issuance - 2 - - 2 

Profit for the year   4,840  4,840 

Amounts deferred to 
cash flow hedge 
reserve, net of tax 

- 
 

- (10,468) (10,468) 

Total comprehensive 
income 

- - 
4,840 (10,468) (5,628) 

Balance at 31 
December 2023 

203,990 41 (67,729) 6,396 142,698 

      

      

Balance at 1 January 
2022 

203,990 
- 

(73,731) 
- 130,259 

Share issuance  39   39 

Profit for the year -  1,162 - 1,162 

Amounts deferred to 
cash flow hedge 
reserve 

- 
 

- 16,864 16,864 

Total comprehensive 
income 

- 
- 

1,162 16,864 18,065 

Balance at 31 
December 2022 

203,990 
39 

(72,569) 16,864 148,324 
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  2023  2022 

 Note £’000  £’000 

 
    

Net cash flows from operating activities  25 70,556  44,269 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 17 (24)  (131) 

Expenditure on software development 18 (674)  (1,040) 

Net cash flows from investing activities   (698) 
 

(1,171) 

Proceeds from loan note issuance  124,941  288,419 

Proceeds from loan taken  7,000  49,000 

Proceeds from shares issued  2     39 

Repayment of loan notes  (196,557)       (348,561) 

Interest on loan  36   9 

Repayment of interest on lease  (12)    (23) 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (446)  (1,350) 

Net cash flows from financing activities   (65,035)  (12,467) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   4,825  30,631 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  171,811  141,180 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  176,636  171,811 

 

 



Belmont Green Limited 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

85 

 

1. General information 
Belmont Green Limited (the “Company”) is a private limited company incorporated and registered in 
the United Kingdom. It is registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 with 
company number 09828204 and is limited by its shares. The Company’s registered address is 1 
Battle Bridge Lane, London, United Kingdom, SE1 2HP. 
The principal activities of the Group and the nature of the Group’s operations are set out in the 
strategic report on pages 4 to 62.  

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (£), the functional and presentational 
currency for the Group, and are rounded to the nearest thousand (£’000) unless otherwise stated. 

1. Accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements of the Group 
are set out below. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the United Kingdom. The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historic cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are detailed in note (k) 
below.   

(b) Going concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, with the directors having made 
an assessment that this is appropriate.  This assessment has been based upon a thorough review of a 
wide range of information relating to present and future, internal and external conditions and, in 
particular, the potential impact of the economic environment upon the Group and its operations, 
markets, liquidity, capital and profitability.  More specifically, but not exhaustively, the directors have 
considered the matters set out below. 

 The status of the Group’s banking licence application and an assessment of: 

 The capital and liquidity constraints that will be in place when operating as a bank on the 
basis approval is received by the date assumed in the Group’s financial and operating 
plans. 

 The impact of receiving approval from the regulators at a later date than that assumed in 
the Group’s financial and operating plans. 

 The impact of the Group’s application not receiving approval from the regulators. 

 The Group’s forecast funding and liquidity resources have been considered in the light of 
conditions within wholesale funding markets. Scenarios examining the potential periods to 
banking licence approval and the scenario in which approval to operate as a bank is not 
received in the 12-month period from the approval of these financial statements have been 
considered. The directors are confident that BGFL is able to execute its funding plans for the 
foreseeable future within the wholesale funding markets and continue operating in the event 
of an extended closure of the funding markets and in the event that banking licence approval 
is not received. 
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(b) Going concern (continued) 

Forecast arrears levels resulting from a more pessimistic view of the impact of higher interest rates 
and cost-of-living increases. The impact of these arrears levels on the forecast cash flows within 
the securitisation structures was assessed along with limits on warehouse facility arrears levels 
and other loan covenants. 

 The Group’s forecast profitability over the 12-month period from approval of the financial 
statements. The Group is forecast to continue to be profitable during 2024 and beyond and 
relevant covenants are forecast to be complied with. 

 All of the above considerations have been used to estimate the potential impact on capital 
contributions from Pine Brook, the Group’s private equity investor. Pine Brook remains 
committed to its long-term investment in the Group. 

 The operational resilience of the Group’s critical functions, including its outsourced customer 
servicing operations, its ability to handle increased levels of customer arrears and its IT 
systems. 

(c) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of the Company, its subsidiaries and 
other structured entities which are controlled by the Company (jointly referred to as the Group). The 
Group assesses whether it controls its subsidiaries and structured entities and the requirement to 
consolidate them under the criteria of IFRS 10. These entities are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group and are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
Upon consolidation intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated. Accounting policies are 
applied consistently across the Group. 

Control is achieved over subsidiaries and structured entities when the Company:  

 has power over an entity;  
 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity; and  
 has the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.  

 
If facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of 
control listed above, the Company re-assesses whether it still controls the entity. The Group manages 
the administration of its securitised assets and is exposed to the risks and rewards of the underlying 
mortgage assets through its continued subordinated investment in the securitisation structures. 
Where the Group does not retain a direct ownership interest in a securitisation entity, but it has been 
determined based on the above criteria that the Group controls those entities they are treated as 
subsidiaries and included in the basis of consolidation.  

(d) Operating segments 

The Group is outside the scope of IFRS 8, Operating Segments, and accordingly does not disclose 
segment information in these financial statements. 

  



Belmont Green Limited 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

87 

 CONFIDENTIAL

(e) Interest income and expense 

Interest income and interest expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments measured at 
amortised cost are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method, under IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments: recognition and measurement). This method 
calculates the amortised cost of the financial asset or liability and allocates the interest income or 
expense over the relevant period. The EIR is the rate which discounts the expected future cash flows, 
over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of a financial asset or 
liability. 

In calculating the EIR, the Group estimates the cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 
instrument but not future credit losses.  The calculation of EIR includes all amounts received or paid 
by the Group that are an integral part of the overall return, comprising of the incremental transaction 
costs to acquisition or issue of the financial instrument. 

Interest income and expense on derivatives designated as hedging instruments are recognised as part 
of net interest income and are recorded as a reduction to gross interest derived using the effective 
EIR method on the related hedged asset or liability. 

During the year, £5,100k was reclassified to ‘Interest Income’ from ‘Net Fair Value Gain / (Loss)’ in 

relation to the amortisation of accumulated fair value changes on hedging instruments up to the de-

designation date under the cash flow hedging model. This is a change in the year to more accurately 

present the movements in fair value of the hedging instruments as a result of interest rate risk hedging 

up until the point of the completion of the mortgages. There was no prior year re-statement as the 

Group only started the application of cash flow hedge accounting in June 2022 and its associated 

impacts to the financial statements was assessed to be not material.  

 (f) Fees 

Fee income is included in interest income and similar income and fee expense in interest expense and 
similar charges. Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument 
are recognised using the EIR method with the fees deferred and recognised over the expected life of 
the instrument. Fees that are not considered integral to the effective interest rate are generally 
recognised on an accruals basis when the service has been provided. 

(g) Taxation 

Income tax on the profit or loss comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in 
profit or loss, other comprehensive income or directly in equity, consistently with the recognition of 
items it relates to.  

Current tax is the expected tax charge or credit on the taxable profit or loss for the year and any 
adjustments in respect of the previous years. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income and expense that are taxable or 
deductible in future years and it further excludes items of income and expense that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes and is accounted for using the balance sheet 
liability method. 
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(g) Taxation (continued) 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis. 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash in the statement of financial position comprises cash at banks with a maturity of three months 
or less, which is subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

i) Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is 
provided at rates calculated to write-off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset on a 
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life as follows: 

Leasehold improvements and furniture  5 years 

Computer equipment    3 years 

All items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for indications of impairment annually and, 
if they are considered to be impaired, are written down to their recoverable amounts.  The cost of 
repairs and renewals is charged to profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

(j) Intangible assets 

Purchased software and costs directly associated with the development of computer software are 
capitalised as intangible assets where the software is a unique and identifiable asset controlled by the 
Group and will generate future economic benefits.                                                                                                                             

Costs to establish technological feasibility or to maintain existing levels of performance are recognised 
as an expense. The Group only recognises internally generated intangible assets if all of the following 
conditions are met:  

 an asset is being created that can be identified after establishing the technical and commercial 
feasibility of the resulting product;  

 it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and  

 the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.  

Subsequent expenditure on an internally generated intangible asset, after its purchase or completion, 
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Where no internally generated 
intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which it is incurred. 

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually and, if they are considered to be impaired, are 
written down immediately to their recoverable amounts. 
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(j) Intangible assets (continued) 

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:  

 Core software systems    5 years  

 Non-core software systems   3 years  
 

For development costs that are under construction, no amortisation will be applied until the asset is 
available for use and is calculated using a full month when available for use.  

The Group reviews the amortisation period on an annual basis. If the expected useful life of assets is 
different from previous assessments, the amortisation period is changed accordingly. 

(k) Financial Instruments 

Classification and measurement 

The Group classifies financial instruments based on the business model and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the financial instruments. Under IFRS 9, financial assets are measured in the 

following way: 

 Amortised Cost - Financial assets, predominantly mortgage loans to customers, that are held 
to collect contractual cash flows where the cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest are measured at amortised cost.  

 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - Financial assets are classified at fair value through 
profit or loss where they do not meet the criteria to be measured at amortised cost or where 
they are designated at fair value through profit or loss to reduce an accounting mismatch. All 
derivatives are carried at fair value through profit or loss.   

 
The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost. The Group has 
no financial assets or liabilities classified as held for trading.  

Recognition 

The Group initially recognises loans and advances to customers and debt securities in issue when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Other financial assets and 
liabilities are recognised on trade date, being the date the Group is committed to purchase or sell an 
asset. 

On initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost, fair 
value through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss, depending on the 
Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and whether cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest. 

Derecognition 

The Group derecognises financial assets when the contractual right to receive cash flows expires or is 
transferred, or the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset.  

At the point at which the Group sells any mortgage loans under forward flow agreements it would 
expect to derecognise these financial assets. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or has expired. 
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(k) Financial Instruments (continued) 

Amortised cost measurement 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to that asset. Subsequently, they are measured at amortised cost using the EIR method, less 
impairment losses. Borrowings, predominately debt securities in issue, are recognised initially at fair 
value, being their issue proceeds net of transaction costs incurred. These instruments are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the EIR method. 

Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  It is measured at a specific date 
and may be significantly different from the amount which will be paid or received on maturity or 
settlement date. 

Wherever possible, fair values have been calculated using unadjusted quoted market prices in active 
markets for identical instruments held by the Group. Where quoted market prices are not available, 
fair values have been determined using valuation techniques which, to the extent possible, use market 
observable inputs, but in some cases use non-observable inputs.   

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value or for which fair values are disclosed have been classified into 
three levels according to the quality and reliability of information used to determine the fair values. 

Level 1 

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. The Group does not hold any financial instruments falling 
within level 1 of the hierarchy. 

Level 2 

Level 2 valuations are those where quoted market prices are not available, for example where 
the instrument is traded in a market that is not considered to be active or valuation techniques 
are used to determine fair value and where these valuation techniques use inputs that are based 
significantly on observable market data.  

Level 3 

Level 3 valuations are those where at least one input which could have a significant effect on the 
instruments' valuation is not based on observable market data.  Such instruments would include 
the Group’s loans to customers as their valuation uses unobservable inputs on collectability rates 
and redemption profiles. 

The Group values loans to customers and debt securities in issue using level 3 valuation techniques.  
Loans to customers fair value is measured using modelled receipts of interest and principal which are 
discounted at market rates. The fair value of issued debt securities is calculated using modelled 
payments of interest and principal discounted at market rates for similar instruments. 

The fair values of derivative financial instruments, interest rate swaps, are calculated by discounting 
cash flows using appropriate observable market data.  As such these instruments fall within level 2 of 
the hierarchy. 
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(l) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECLs) associated with its 
financial assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

For loans to customers, accounts are assigned to one of three stages which are intended to reflect 

the deterioration in credit quality. BGFL’s Definition of Default is aligned with Stage 3 and defines an 

account in default as one that is equal to or more than 3 months in arrears on its contractual 

payments or those cases deemed to be fraud.  

 Stage 1 comprises mortgages that have shown no significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since 
origination. They carry an impairment provision equivalent to the ECL from those default 
events that are projected within 12 months of the reporting date (12-month ECL). 

 Stage 2 comprises mortgages that have shown a SICR since origination including mortgages 
that are subject to forbearance measures such as financial and non-financial arrangements. 
Probabilities of Default (PD) are calculated using a statistical model based on both internal 
and external credit bureau data. A SICR is determined either where the PD has increased more 
than a set threshold or where the mortgage is more than one month in arrears. The 
impairment provision for Stage 2 mortgages is based on the ECL over the lifetime of the 
mortgage (lifetime ECL). 

 Stage 3 comprises mortgages where there is objective evidence that it is credit impaired. A 
loan is determined to be credit impaired where it is more than three months in arrears, has 
been renegotiated for credit risk reasons or is in default, including possession. An impairment 
provision is calculated for Stage 3 mortgages based on the lifetime ECL, but with a PD of 100%. 

ECLs are calculated at individual loan level, with the calculations having three main components: PD, 
loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD). The LGD represents losses expected on default, 
given the probability of a loan moving from default to possession, the estimated recovery in the event 
of possession, costs incurred in the possession and sale of security and discounting of recoveries to 
present value based on the time to sale. The EAD represents the expected balance at the time of 
default, using the contractual amortisation of the loan equivalent to the account balance at default 
with three months of non-payment and the associated accrued interest. IFRS 9 requires the estimates 
of PD and LGD to take into consideration the effects of variations in forward-looking macroeconomic 
variables, which include house prices, unemployment and interest rates. 

The Group integrates probability-weighted macroeconomic forecasts into individual ECL calculations. 
The Group does not have an in-house economics function and sources economic forecasts from an 
appropriately qualified third party. The Group considers up to four macroeconomic forecast scenarios 
– base, downside, upside and severe. 

Loans are written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Where 
loans are secured, this is after receipt of any proceeds from the realisation of security. 
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(m) Derivative financial instruments  

The Group uses derivative financial instruments (interest rate swaps) to manage its exposure to 
interest rate risk arising from operational and financing activities. The derivative financial instruments 
are held solely for hedging purposes and are measured and held at fair value within the Statement of 
Financial Position. The group has elected to adopt and continues to apply the hedge accounting 
requirements of IFRS 9 for all hedge relationships covered by those requirements. In line with 
accounting standards, the changes in fair value of derivatives used to hedge particular risks can either 
be offset in the Income Statement or deferred to equity. The Group does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for proprietary trading purpose. 

(n) Hedge Accounting 

As permitted by IFRS 9, the Group continues to apply the requirements of IAS 39 to its hedging 
relationships.   

Hedge accounting allows one financial instrument, generally a derivative such as a swap, to be 
designated as a hedge of another financial instrument such as a loan or a portfolio of such instruments.  
At the inception of the hedge relationship, formal documentation is drawn up specifying the hedging 
strategy, the hedged item, the hedging instrument and the methodology that will be used to measure 
the effectiveness of the hedge relationship in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of the 
hedged risk.  The effectiveness of the hedging relationship is tested both at inception and throughout 
its life at least at every reporting period and if at any point it is concluded that it is no longer highly 
effective in achieving its documented objective, its hedging relationship is terminated and hedge 
accounting is discontinued. 

There are two types of hedge accounting strategies that the Group undertakes, and these are 
summarized below:  

Fair value hedges - Where the Group uses derivatives to hedge the interest rate risk that arises from 
fixed rate loans. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as fair value 
hedging instrument are recorded in the income statement, together with the change in the fair value 
of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk, providing there is an effective 
hedging relationship. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the hedge 
relationship is terminated and the changes in the fair value of the hedge item attributable to the 
hedged risk are no longer recognised in the income statement. The cumulative adjustment that has 
been made to the carrying amount of the hedged item is amortised to the income statement. 

Cash flow hedges – Where the Group uses derivatives to hedge the interest rate risk that arises from 
the mortgage application pipeline and from irrevocable offers to lend. This exposes the Group to 
movements in the fair value of derivatives until the loan is drawn. The effective portion of 
accumulated changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as cash flow 
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income in the cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or 
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts 
accumulated in equity are reclassified to the income statement in the periods in which the hedged 
item affects profit or loss. When a hedging instrument expires or is terminated, or when a hedge no 
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that 
time remains in equity and is recognised in the income statement in the interest income or expense 
through amortisation until its maturity.  When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income 
statement. 
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(n) Hedge Accounting (continued) 

The Group considers the following as key sources of hedge ineffectiveness: 

 the mismatch in maturity date of the swap and hedge item, as swaps with a given maturity 
date cover a portfolio of hedged items which may mature throughout the month; and 

 the actual behaviour of the hedged item differing from expectations, such as early 
repayment. 

 

(o) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, which 
is reliably measurable and when it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation. 
Provisions are measured at the directors' most reliable estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the obligation at the reporting date. 

(p) Employee benefits – defined contribution scheme 

During the period the Group operated a defined contribution pension. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund. The amount 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income represents the contribution payable to the 
scheme in respect of the accounting period. 

(q) Short-term employee benefits 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service. 

(r) Warehouse and securitisation structures 

 Warehouse facilities 

The Group has committed warehouse facilities to provide short-term funding for originated loans prior 
to transferring them to securitisation vehicles. The fees incurred in setting up and making 
amendments to these facilities are deferred and amortised over one or two years dependent upon 
the nature of the costs and any subsequent renewal costs over one year to reflect the rolling renewal 
nature of the facilities. These costs are included in deferred deal costs in note 15. 

The Group has an uncommitted warehouse facility. Given the facility’s nature the warehouse provider 
is not obliged to fund originations at any point. The set-up costs of the uncommitted facility have been 
written off when incurred rather than being amortised over the potential life of the facility agreement.  

Securitisation structures 

At 31 December 2023, the Group had five securitisation structures:  Tower Bridge Funding 2021-1 PLC, 
Tower Bridge Funding 2021-2 PLC, Tower Bridge Funding 2022-1 PLC, Tower Bridge Funding 2023-1 
PLC and Tower Bridge Funding 2023-2 PLC. The Group has retained the risks and rewards of ownership 
in respect of the loans transferred to these special purpose vehicles and they, therefore, fail the 
derecognition criteria and are included in the Group’s financial statements. 
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(r) Warehouse and securitisation structures (continued) 

Whilst the special purpose vehicles have been consolidated as 100% subsidiaries, the mortgage loans 
included within the deal structures are ring-fenced, with the cash flows being used to repay liabilities 
in line with the priority of payments set out in the relevant deal documentation. For Tower Bridge 
Funding 2021-1 PLC and Tower Bridge Funding 2021-2 PLC the senior debt is held externally with the 
junior debt and residual certificates retained by the Group. Tower Bridge Funding 2022-1 PLC, Tower 
Bridge Funding 2023-1 PLC and Tower Bridge Funding 2023-2 PLC were structured with vertical risk 
retention with 95% of the notes being held externally and the Group holding 5% of the notes and 100% 
of the residual certificates. The Group statement of financial position shows externally held notes as 
debt securities in issue. The amortisation period of set-up costs for the securitisation structures 
reflects the period to the term of the first call. These costs are included in deferred deal costs in note 
15. 

(s) Leases 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease 
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases. For these leases, the Group 
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the net present value of the future lease payments, 
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group 
uses its incremental borrowing rate.  

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: fixed lease payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or rate, the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual 
value guarantees; and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the 
exercise of an option to terminate the lease. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability (using the EIR method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made.  

The Group remeasures the lease liability and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use asset whenever: 

 The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting 
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

 The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected 
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured 
by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate. 

 A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate 
lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified 
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective 
date of the modification. 
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(s) Leases (continued) 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 

payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial 

direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter period of lease term and 

useful life of the right-of-use asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any 

identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.  

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components and instead 
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has 
applied this practical expedient. 

(t) Changes to significant accounting policies 

During the year, there was a change in accounting policy in relation to the presentation of the 
amortisation of the accumulated fair value changes recognised by the hedging instruments’ up to the 
de-designation date under the cash flow model in the Income Statement. The cash flow hedge 
amortisation income was reclassified in the Income Statement from ‘Net Fair Value Gain / (Loss)’ to 
‘Interest Income or Expense’. This change in presentation means that the mortgage product margin 
at the point at which products are priced ultimately is presented within the ‘Net Interest Income’ line. 
There was no prior year re-statement as the Group only started the application of Cash Flow Hedge 
Accounting from June 2022 and its associated impacts to the financial statements was assessed to be 
not material.  

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor  

and its Associate or Joint Venture 

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements 

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 

 

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material 
impact on the financial statements of the group in future periods. 
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3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in applying the Group's 
accounting policies. The key areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. 

i. Impairment of loans 

Significant increase in credit risk for transfer to stage 2 

The Group’s criteria for transferring loans from stage 1 to stage 2 are set by reference to thresholds 
for relative changes in the PD of loans compared to the PD at their origination and by the application 
of qualitative measures which, if triggered, will move a loan from stage 1 to stage 2. Setting the 
thresholds for transferring loans to stage 2 is a key area of judgement. 

LGD model 

The Group’s LGD model uses estimates including propensity to go to possession given default, time to 
sale, forced sale discount and costs of sale. The factor that has the largest impact on LGD is the house 
price index (HPI), with assumptions being set out in the table in the forward-looking macroeconomic 
scenarios section below. 

Forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios 

The calculation of PDs and LGDs requires the use of forward-looking estimates of macroeconomic 
conditions. The ECL calculations are sensitive to both the assumed forecast macroeconomic variables 
and the probability weightings assigned to the forecast scenarios. The ECLs calculated utilise economic 
forecasts that were considered to be appropriate at 31 December 2023. However, given the 
uncertainty over the path of the economy, the scenarios and their weightings are subject to a 
significant degree of estimation. 

In setting the economic forecasts, the Board has had regard to the forecasts produced by the firm that 
gives economic advice as well as forecasts published by the Bank of England and Office for Budget 
Responsibility. The Board has continued to allocate a broad distribution of weightings to the scenarios, 
but has reallocated 10% of the weighting from the downside to the base to give weightings of 50% 
base, 30% downside, 10% upside, 10% severe (2022: 40% base, 40% downside, 10% upside, 10% 
severe).  

These weightings continue to reflect the level of uncertainty in the economic outlook at the end of 
2023. 

The following table provides details of the forecast economic variables of each of the four forecast 
scenarios: 

  



Belmont Green Limited 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

97 

 CONFIDENTIAL

3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

  

The table below illustrates the ECLs calculated using 100% weighting to each scenario compared to 
the ECL calculated using the scenario weightings. The provision coverage has been calculated as the 
total ECL provision as a percentage of gross loans to customers. 

 

The calculation of ECLs is most sensitive to the forecast HPI movement assumptions. The probability-
weighted forecast movement in HPI ranges between -7.4% in 2024 and +3.0% in 2026. As an indication 
of sensitivity, a 2.0% absolute increase or decrease in the probability weighted HPI assumption would 
decrease ECLs by approximately £349k or increase them by approximately £399k respectively (2022: 
£169k decrease or £278k increase). 

  

2024 2025 2026

Variable Scenario % % %

GDP Base 0.6 2.0 1.6

(year-on-year) Downside -2.4 1.6 1.4

Upside 6.0 3.5 2.7

Severe -6.2 0.8 0.9

Unemployment Base 4.5 4.2 4.0

(end-of-year-rate) Downside 5.7 6.6 7.0

Upside 3.3 2.5 2.3

Severe 6.1 7.1 7.5

Inflation Base 2.7 1.5 1.6

(year-on-year) Downside 1.4 0.8 1.4

Upside 4.8 3.0 1.9

Severe 0.0 0.1 1.3

Bank Rate Base 4.75 3.75 2.75

(year-on-year) Downside 4.00 3.00 2.00

Upside 6.25 5.50 4.50

Severe 3.25 1.75 0.75

HPI Base -5.9 0.4 4.3

(year-on-year) Downside -10.1 -2.9 1.0

Upside 0.2 4.2 8.5

Severe -15.0 -7.0 -3.7

Weight

ECL

£'000

Prov'n 

Coverage Weight

ECL

£'000

Prov'n 

Coverage

Weighted - 5,589     0.33% - 5,925      0.34%

Base 50% 4,432     0.26% 40% 4,598      0.26%

Downside 30% 6,736     0.40% 40% 6,868      0.39%

Upside 10% 2,740     0.16% 10% 2,212      0.13%

Severe 10% 10,783   0.64% 10% 11,176    0.64%

2023 2022
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3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

The impact of applying multiple economic scenarios gives rise to a probability weighted ECL of 
£5,589k, 26.1% more than the provision of £4,432k calculated using the base scenario. By comparison, 
in 2022 the probability weighted ECL was 28.9% more than the base case ECL. 

Post-model adjustments (PMAs) 

PMAs are adjustments made outside of models to correct known data or model limitations. PMAs can 

also be judgmental, especially when addressing new risks or uncertainties that were not designed to 

be captured by the model when it was developed. Given continued economic uncertainty and other 

external factors affecting the loan book, PMAs have been applied in 2023, as they were in 2022, in the 

calculation of ECLs. In total, £1,696k of PMAs have been applied on a probability-weighted basis at 31 

December 2023 (2022: £2,349k) and are included in the total provision of £5,589k (2022: £5,925k). A 

summary of the largest PMAs and a table showing the split of PMAs is set out in the paragraphs that 

follow. 

 

Inflation has continued to be a theme in 2023, increasing the cost-of-living and putting pressure on 

customers’ ability to meet their mortgage payments. As mortgage arrears have increased as the loan 

book continues to season a PMA has been applied to cater for the risk that inflation has impacted 

the affordability of mortgage payments that has not been captured by the ECL model. 

The PMA has been applied to both the BTL and owner-occupied books and has considered affordability 

of payments when customers’ fixed rate periods come to an end. Assumptions regarding customers’ 

income, outgoings or, in the case of a BTL customer, interest coverage ratio have been made. As a 

result, a PMA of £542k has been made (2022: £1,018k). 

In 2022, this PMA allocated customers in Stage 1 who failed stressed affordability tests to Stage 2 and 

an assumption was made that all accounts on a fixed rate would revert to a margin above Vida Variable 

Rate at the end of their fixed term. For 2023, revert rates have been recalculated using forward-

looking forecasts of the Bank Rate which ensures a more accurate estimation of each individual 

account’s revert rate at the point of switch. In addition, the PMA no longer has an additional stress to 

the revert rates as in the current environment the forecast direction of travel of the interest rate curve 

is downwards. 

  

Provision PMAs (split below) 2022 2023 Movement

Affordability 1,018               542                  (476)             

Cladding 394                  356                  (38)               

Time to Sale -                   583                  583              

EPC Energy Certificate 751                  -                   (751)             

Later Life Lending/Lending into Retirement 187                  39                    (148)             

Expected losses on Repossessions -                   176                  176              

Total 2,349              1,696              (653)             
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3.Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

The Group has in the past lent to customers that are impacted by the cladding regulations now in 

place for blocks of flats. The Group amended its lending policy in 2020 to ensure that its exposure to 

properties that required cladding rectification works did not increase. Measures were introduced by 

the government with the Building Safety Act 2022 to provide support for owner-occupied flats in 

blocks of more than 11 metres in height but provided no support for owner-occupied flats in blocks of 

less than 11 metres or for Buy-to-Let flats. 

An additional provision has been made for the Group’s exposure to loans where the underlying 

property provided as security requires rectification work to meet cladding regulations, and where no 

support is provided by the government. The PMA has been estimated by using a stressed forced sale 

discount and a longer time to sale assumption in calculating a loss given default and an increased 

probability of default for those accounts in arrears. An additional provision of £356k has been made 

(2022: £394k). 

 The calculation of Loss Given Default uses a time-to-sale assumption that is defined as the time 

between a loan going into default and the sale of the property securing the loan. As BGFL did not have 

sufficient observations of default and/or repossessed loans at the time the IFRS 9 models were 

developed, the time-to-sale assumption was estimated as 14 months based upon expert judgement 

and industry benchmarking. Based upon observation of the loan book and length of time to 

repossession sale in the current economic environment, the assumptions have been amended to 24 

months for the owner-occupied book and 18 months for the Buy-to-Let book. These updated 

assumptions have been made outside of the IFRS 9 model via a PMA of £583k (2022: £nil). 

ii. Effective interest rate 

Estimates are made when calculating the EIR for loans to customers. The critical estimates in the EIR 

calculation are expected lives of loans and the assumed reversionary rates at the end of fixed rate 

periods. Bringing forward future reversionary rate income and spreading upfront fees received and 

paid creates assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position. These estimates are monitored 

to ensure their ongoing appropriateness. 

Management and the Board have reviewed the prepayment behaviour of the individual cohorts within 

the Belmont Green book against that modelled in the EIR calculations. Overall, they were satisfied that 

modelled expected loan lives were appropriate. 

iii. Deferred tax asset recognition 

The Group has unused tax losses that have been recognised as a deferred tax asset in the statement 

of financial position at 31 December 2023. This asset has been recognised on the basis that the 

directors believe it is probable that future taxable profits will be generated against which those tax 

losses can be utilised. The main assumption that the directors have placed reliance upon is the forecast 

growth of the Belmont Green business that will generate profits in future years. The directors have 

reviewed the forecast future profit performance of the Group, including the underlying assumptions 

of that forecast. Further information about the estimates used to determine the size of the recognised 

deferred tax asset based are disclosed in Note 16. 
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3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Since the 2022 financial year end, the directors have recognised tax losses that are forecast to be 

recoverable within five years (2022: five years) which has led to a deferred tax asset at 31 December 

2023 of £13.6m (2022: £13.6m). 

4. Interest receivable and similar income 

 2023  2022 

 £’000  £’000 

On financial assets held at amortised cost:    

Interest income on loans and advances to customers 96,872  94,539 

On financial instruments held at FVTPL:    

Net income on derivative financial instruments  47,501  5,402 

 144,373 99,941 

5. Interest expense and similar charges 

           2023            2022 

           £’000           £’000 

Interest expense and other charges 111,866  57,715 

Interest on lease liabilities 12  24 

IFRS16 interest adjustment for variable lease components 8  120 

 111,887 57,859 

6. Other operating income 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 
Gain / (loss) on purchase/ (disposal) of loan portfolio 28  (9,582) 
Forward flow (expense) / income (137)  2,926 
Income from product switch fees 16  - 
Income from servicing 1,013  482 

 920  (6,173) 

 

7. Net gain/(loss) from derivatives financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

Net (loss)/gain on derivative financial instruments  (47,862)  62,495  

Net gain/(loss) on assets held in fair value hedges 51,765  (63,201) 

 3,903  (706) 
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8. Administrative expenses 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

Staff costs 18,576  20,224 

Auditor’s remuneration:    

Audit of the company and consolidated financial statements 360  360 

Audit of the company’s subsidiaries 335  240 

Internal audit related assurance services 270  164 

Lease commitment under IFRS 16 360  1,180 

Operating lease rentals 131  92 

Other administrative costs 12,407  13,244 

Total 32,439  35,504 

 

Staff costs 

The aggregate remuneration of staff, including Executive Directors, for the Group and Company 
comprised: 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

Wages and salaries  15,323  16,075 

Social security costs  1,967  2,139 

Pension costs 984  1,001 

Termination costs 302  1,009 

Total 18,576  20,224 

The average monthly number of people employed by the Group and company (including Executive 

Directors) during the year is analysed below:  

 2023  2022 

Executive  8  8 

Business and customer operations 102  128 

Administration 47  52 

Technology 18  19 

Total 175  207 
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8. Administrative expenses (continued)  

The total amount for directors’ remuneration comprised: 
 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

Wages and salaries 1,384   1,454 

Social security costs  192  204 

Pension costs -   - 

 1,576  1,658 

 
There was one director in the company’s defined contribution pension scheme during the year (2022: 
nil).  The total amount payable to the highest paid director in respect of emoluments was £873k (2022: 
£970k). 

9. Taxation 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

 
Corporation tax    

Current year charge (18)  (13) 

Adjustments in respect of prior year 43  31  
 
Deferred tax    

Current year credit 9,451  4,950  

Adjustment in respect of prior periods -  (330) 

Effect of changes in tax rate 594  836  

Deferred tax asset not recognised (10,045)  (4,865) 

Total tax credit 25  609  

    

    

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year    

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation (4,815)  (553) 

    

Tax at UK corporation tax rate of 23.5% (2022:19%) (1,133)  (105) 

    

Effects of:    

Adjustments in respect of prior year 43  (299) 

Non-deductible expenses  (325)  (158) 

Effect of tax rate change 594  835  

Exempt amounts 10,891  5,201  

Deferred tax asset not recognised (10,045)  (4,865) 

Tax credit on loss on ordinary activities 25  609  

 
For an explanation of the deferred tax asset that has not been recognised refer to note 16.
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10. Derivative financial instruments 

The fair values and notional amounts of derivative instruments held are set out in the following table: 

   2023 

Instrument type 
 Notional amount 

Asset carrying 
value 

Liability carrying 
value 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Interest rate – not in hedging 
relationship 

 - - - 

Interest rate – fair value hedges  1,531,227 49,289 3,765 

Interest rate – cash flow hedges 
 224,763 61 6,965 

Total derivatives held for hedging 
purposes 

 1,755,990 49,350 10,730 

 

   2022  

Instrument type 
 

Notional contract 
amount 

Asset carrying 
value 

Liability carrying 
value 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Interest rate – not in hedging 
relationship 

 - - - 

Interest rate – fair value hedges  1,448,185 77,012 94 

Interest rate – cash flow hedges 
 263,095 12,067 139 

Total derivatives held for hedging 
purposes 

 1,711,280 89,079 233 

£1,531m (2022: £1,448m) of derivative instruments were designated in fair value hedge accounting 

relationships, where the hedged item notional amount was £1,531m (2022: £1,448m), thus 

maintaining a hedge ratio of 1:1. 

The carrying amount of the Group’s hedging instruments were as follows: 

  

Notional amount 
of hedging 

instrument 

Carrying amount of the 
hedging instrument 

  

Changes in fair value 
used for calculating 

hedge ineffectiveness 

  Assets Liabilities  

31 December 2023 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Fair value hedges      

Interest rate swaps 1,531,227 49,289 3,765 (55,398) 

Cash flow hedges     

Interest rate swaps 224,763 61 6,966 (11,975) 
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10. Derivative financial instruments (continued)  

  
Contract/notional 

amount 
Carrying amount of the hedging 

instrument  

Changes in fair value 
used for calculating 

hedge ineffectiveness 

  Assets Liabilities  

31 December 
2022 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Fair value hedges      

Interest Rate 
Swaps 

1,448,185 77,012 94 69,545 

Cash flow hedges     

Interest rate 
swaps 

263,095 12,067 139 11,844 

 

The carrying amount of the Group’s hedged items were as follows: 

 Carrying amount of the 
hedged item 

Accumulated 
amount of fair 

value hedge 
adjustments on 

the hedged item 

Change in fair 
value of hedged 
item in the year 

used for 
ineffectiveness 
measurement 

 Assets Liabilities   
31 December 2023 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Fair value hedges 
    

Interest rate     

Fixed rate mortgages1 1,531,227 - (23,933) 55,807 

     

31 December 2022     

Fair value hedges     

Interest rate     

Fixed rate mortgages1 1,448,185 - (76,396) (63,442) 

1Included within loans to customers 
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The hedged item for fair value hedges represents the portfolio of fixed rate mortgages and the change 
in fair value of the hedged item has been presented as a fair value adjustment for hedged risk within 
assets. 

  

Change in fair value of 
hedged item in the year 
used for ineffectiveness 

measurement 

 

Cash flow hedge reserve 

    
 

Continuing hedges 
Discontinued 
Hedges 

31 December 2023 £’000  £’000 £’000 

         

Cash flow hedges       

        

Interest rate 12,280  (7,007) 13,403 

 

  

Change in fair value of 
hedged item in the year 
used for ineffectiveness 

measurement 

 

Cash flow hedge reserve 

    

 
Continuing 

hedges 
Discontinued 

Hedges 

31 December 2022 £’000  £’000 £’000 

         

Cash flow hedges       

        

Interest rate (16,864)   4,964 11,900 

 

The hedged items for the cash flow hedge are the highly probable cash flows on issued floating rate 

notes. The effective portion of the change in fair value is deferred to the cash flow hedge reserve. 

The table above shows the amounts transferred to the cash flow hedge reserve and the breakdown 

between the live and discontinued hedges in the cash flow hedge reserve.  

The Group holds derivatives to manage and hedge the Group’s risk arising from financial markets. 

The Group has entered into interest rate swaps to reduce the risk of loss from movements in interest 

rates. The Group manages this exposure by hedging 100% of its fixed rate mortgage loan exposure 

through a combination of vanilla interest rate swaps and forward starting interest rate swaps. It has 

established hedge accounting relationships for interest rate risk using portfolio fair value hedges. 

Hedge ineffectiveness arises during the management of interest rate risk due to residual unhedged 
risk. Sources of ineffectiveness, which the Group may decide to not fully mitigate, can include basis 
differences, timing differences and notional amount differences. The effectiveness of accounting 
hedge relationships is assessed between the hedging derivatives and the documented hedged item, 
which can differ from the underlying economically hedged item. 

Interest rate swaps are classified as level 2 financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy. 



Belmont Green Limited 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

106 

 CONFIDENTIAL

The following tables show derivative notional amounts in the relevant maturity groupings in which 

they fall due. 

 Maturity 

 

 

Less than 3 
months 

3-12 
months 1-5 years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Total 
notional  

31 December 2023 £m £m £m £m £m 

Derivative assets 6.1 207.3 1,033.2 6.5 1,253.1 

Derivative liabilities - 1.0 164.7 337.1 502.8 

Notional  5.6 208.3 1,197.9 343.6 1,755.9 

 

 Maturity 

 

 

Less than 3 
months 

3-12 
months 1-5 years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Total 
notional  

31 December 2022 £m £m £m £m £m 

Derivative assets 131.7 379.8 1,125.9 44.4 1,681.8 

Derivative liabilities - - 26.0 3.0 29.4 

Notional  131.7 379.8 1,151.9 47.4 1,711.2 

 

The Group has 188 (2022: 171) derivative contracts with an average fixed rate of 2.51% (2022: 1.98%). 

In accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, the Group reports financial assets and 
financial liabilities on a net basis on the balance sheet only if there is a legally enforceable right to set-
off the recognised amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 

The Group entered into a one-way collateral agreement with one of its swap counterparties such that 
when the derivatives are in asset positions for the Group, the swap counterparty will post collateral, 
but when the derivatives are in liability positions for the Group, no collateral will be posted by the 
Group to the swap counterparty. All collateral on outstanding swaps is therefore included in other 
liabilities and is detailed in the table below. 

  



Belmont Green Limited 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

107 

 CONFIDENTIAL

10. Derivative financial instruments (continued)  

 

 

Gross 
amounts 

Amounts 
offset 

Net 
amounts 
reported 

on balance 
sheet 

Related 
amounts 

not offset: 
Cash 

collateral 
placed 

Net 
amount  

31 December 2023 £m £m £m £m £m 

Derivative assets 13.0 - 13.3 0.9 12.4 

Derivative liabilities 5.4 - 5.4 - 5.4 

 

31 December 2022   
  

 

Derivative assets 9.6 - 9.6 8.8 0.8 

Derivative liabilities 0.1 - - - 0.1 

 

In addition to the above BGFL had also posted an initial margin with a swap counterparty to facilitate 

hedging activities prior to the assets being on the balance sheet. The balance of the initial margin 

posted was £10.3m (2022: £8.5m) and is included in other assets.  
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11. Financial instruments  

The following table summarises the classification and carrying value of the Group’s financial assets 
and liabilities: 
   2023   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  

Assets 

 

FVTPL  
Amortised 

cost  

 

Total 

Cash and cash equivalents -  176,636  176,636 

Loans and advances to customers -  1,688,337  1,688,337 

Derivative financial assets 49,350  -  49,350 

 49,350  1,864,973  1,914,323 

Liabilities      
Amounts owed to credit institutions -  44,437  44,437 

Debt securities in issue -  1,676,909  1,676,909 

Derivative financial liabilities  10,730  -  10,730 

 10,730  1,721,346  1,732,076 

 

 

   
  

   2022   

 £’000  £’000  £’000 

Assets 

 

FVTPL  
Amortised 

cost  

 

Total 

Cash and cash equivalents -  171,811  171,811 

Loans and advances to customers -  1,685,600  1,685,600 

Derivative financial assets 89,079  -  89,079 

 89,079  1,857,411  1,946,490 

Liabilities      
Amounts owed to credit institutions -  15,188  15,188 

Debt securities in issue -  1,748,523  1,748,523 

Derivative financial liabilities  233  -  233 

 233  1,763,711  1,763,944 
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12. Other reserves 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 
Balance at 1 January 2023 16,864  - 
Effective portion of changes in fair value of interest rate swaps (11,971)  16,864 
Amounts transferred to the Income Statement 1,503   

Balance at 31 December 2023 6,396  16,864 

 
The cash flow hedge reserve is the cumulative net change in the fair value of the effective portion of 
the interest rate swaps entered into to hedge the mortgage pipeline. The ineffective portion is 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. Amounts transferred 
to the Income Statement relate to amortisations of fair value relating to de-designated hedges which 
are transferred in line with the expected cashflows of the underlying hedged item. .  
 

 
13. Loans to customers 
 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

BTL loans 1,250,194  1,277,203 

Owner-occupied loans 447,704  471,287 

Second charge loans 1,156  1,257 

 1,699,054  1,749,747 

EIR asset 18,805  18,174 

Provision for impairment losses (5,589)  (5,925) 

 1,712,270  1,761,996 
Fair value adjustment for hedged risk (23,933)  (76,396) 

 1,688,337  1,685,600 

 

Movements in loans to customers 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

At beginning of year 1,685,600  1,811,577  

Loans originated 189,642  682,732  

Effective interest rate adjustments 633  11,293  

Interest, fees & charges on loans 90,388  81,138  

Redemptions and repayments (330,724)  (344,643) 
Sale of loans -  (481,822) 

Charge for impairment losses 336  1,721  
Fair value adjustment for hedged risk 52,462  (76,396) 

 1,688,337  1,685,600  

There were no forward flow originations in 2023 (2022: £112.3m).  
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14. Expected credit losses 

The following tables show the movement in credit exposures by IFRS 9 stage and the corresponding 
movement in impairment provisions by IFRS 9 stage. 

        
Movement in loans to customers by 
stage – 2023 

Stage 1 
£’000  

Stage 2 
£’000  

Stage 3 
£’000  

Total 
 £’000 

Gross balance at 1 January 2023 1,041,635   662,983  45,129   1,749,747  

Transfers between stages             

To stage 1 320,931    (314,850)   (6,081)   -  

To stage 2 (133,088)   137,001  (3,913)  - 

To stage 3 (5,324)   (20,531)  25,855  - 

Originations (net of forward flow) 159,109    29,751   782   189,642  

Changes to carrying value (8,759)   (3,719)  1,184  (11,294) 

Loans to customers derecognised 
during the year (120,011)   (97,923)  (11,107)  (229,041) 

Gross balance at 31 December 2023 1,254,493   392,712  51,849  1,699,054 

 
    

Movement in loans to customers by 
stage – 2022 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total  

£’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Gross balance at 1 January 2022 1,124,651    643,601    44,091    1,812,343  

Transfers between stages:               

To stage 1 289,470    (288,949)   (521)   - 

To stage 2 (310,965)   315,876    (4,911)   - 

To stage 3 (4,210)   (13,694)   17,904    -  

Originations (net of forward flow) 171,458    103,579    188    275,225  

Changes to carrying value (6,866)   (7,761)   (173)   (14,800) 
Loans to customers derecognised 
during the year (221,903)   (89,669)   (11,449)   (323,021) 

Gross balance at 31 December 2022 1,041,635   662,983   45,129   1,749,747 

In addition, the mortgage offer pipeline of £65,849k at 31 December 2023 (2022: £12,811k) was 
classified at stage 1. 
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14. Expected credit losses (continued) 

Movement in ECLs by stage – 2023 

Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

£’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
Impairment provision at 1 January 
2023 647   3,443   1,835   5,925 

Transfers between stages:               

Transfers to stage 1 1,598   (1,479)   (119)   - 

Transfers to stage 2 (125)   296   (171)   - 

Transfers to stage 3 (7)   (203)   210   - 
Originations (net of forward flow) + 
pipeline 355   226   21   601 

Changes to carrying value (1,315)   (182)   1,311   (186) 

Loans to customers derecognised 
during the year (48)   (216)   (487)   (751) 

Impairment provision at 31 
December 2023 

1,105 
  

1,885 
  

2,599 
  

5,589 

Movement in ECLs by stage – 2022 

Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

£’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
Impairment provision at 1 January 
2022 1,216    3,889    2,541    7,647  

Transfers between stages:               

Transfers to stage 1 1,489    (1,450)   (39)   - 

Transfers to stage 2 (354)   675    (321)   - 

Transfers to stage 3 (9)   (189)   198    - 
Originations (net of forward flow) + 
pipeline 269    1,335    18    1,621  

Changes to carrying value (1,631)   (466)   258    (1,839) 

Loans to customers derecognised 
during the year (333)   (351)   (820)   (1,504) 

Impairment provision at 31 
December 2022 

647 
  

3,443 
  

1,835 
  

5,925 
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14. Expected credit losses (continued) 

Arrears performance 

The Group’s mortgage book has continued to experience relatively low arrears and limited defaults. 
Those loans more than three months in arrears represented 2.2% of the total portfolio balances (2022: 
1.3%) with owner-occupied at 4.4% (2022: 2.0%) and BTL at 1.4% (2022: 1.0%). 

At the end of December 2023, there was 1 owner-occupied loan in possession (2022: 1) and 11 BTL 
loans in possession (2022: 7). There were 10 repossession sales during the year (2022: 7). 

Movement in expected credit losses 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

At 1 January 5,925  7,647 

Charge for the year (55)  (543) 

Derecognition following September 2022 loan book sale -  (872) 

Written off in the year (281)  (307) 

At 31 December 5,589  5,925 

15. Other receivables 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

Swap collateral 10,250  8,500 

Deferred deal costs 5,362  4,649 

Prepayments 1,237  1,301 

Other receivables 5,624  3,198 

 22,473  17,648 
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16. Deferred taxation asset 

The movement in the deferred tax asset is as follows: 

     2023  2022 

     £’000  £’000 

At 1 January     13,565  12,975  

Adjustments in respect of prior periods     -  (330) 

Credit to income statement     9,451  4,950  

Effect of change in tax rate     594  835  
Deferred tax asset not recognised 

    
(10,045) 

 
(4,865) 

  At 31 December     13,565  13,565  

 
The net deferred tax asset is analysed as follows: 

     2023  2022 

     £’000  £’000 

Tax losses     13,271  13,446 

Other timing differences     294  120 

     13,565  13,565 

At the reporting date, the Group has unused tax losses of £151m (2022: £112m) available for offset 
against future forecasted profits with no expiry date. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in 
respect of £54m (2022: £54m) of such losses which includes the impact of the corporate tax change 
from 19% to 25%, effective from 1 April 2023. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 
the remaining £97m (2022: £58m) as the directors have assessed that it is conservative to recognise 
tax losses on the same basis as the prior year, albeit with some additional restriction, whilst 
acknowledging the inherent uncertainty of using forecasts to underpin the level of the deferred tax 
asset recognised. 

The deferred tax asset has been limited to £13.6m in respect of historical tax losses that are expected 
to be used to reduce future tax charges based on a five-year financial forecast. The forecast used to 
calculate this deferred tax asset is based on the recently approved five-year strategic business plan. 

The base forecast is inherently sensitive to the assumptions which underpin it, including 
macroeconomic conditions (such as forecast spreads and interest rates, future tax rates, expectations 
of credit losses) and is dependent on BGFL’s ability to successfully execute its strategy. As such, the 
expected utilisation of the deferred tax asset may vary significantly. A range of alternative possible 
forecast scenarios have been considered which result in a broad range of outcomes.  If a downside 
scenario was used, a lower deferred tax asset of £11.6m would be recognised. 

The five-year forecast period used to calculate the deferred tax asset is a significant judgement. The 
reliability of forecasts is inherently more uncertain the further into the future they extend. Five years 
is the period over which management has experience in forecasting and monitoring performance. 
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17. Property, plant and equipment 

2023 
Right of 

use asset  
Leasehold 

Improvements  
Computer 

Equipment  Total 
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Cost  
       

At 1 January 2023 4,840  537   560   5,937  

IFRS16 interest adjustment for 
variable asset components (4)   -   -   (4)  

Additions -   -   24   24  

Disposals   -  (6)  (184)  (190) 

At 31 December 2023 4,836   531   400   5,767  

Depreciation/amortisation 
       

At 1 January 2023 4,262  331  378   4,971 

Charge for the year 364   103   119   586  

Disposals -   (6)  (185)  (191) 

At 31 December 2023 4,626  428   312   5,366  

Net book value 
       

At 31 December 2023 210  103   88  401 

 

2022 
Right of use 

asset  
Leasehold 

Improvements  
Computer 

Equipment  Total 
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Cost  
       

At 1 January 2022 4,764   1,674   776   7,214  
IFRS16 interest adjustment for 
variable asset components 76  -  -  76 

Additions -  58  73  131 

Disposals -  (1,196)  (288)  (1,484) 

At 31 December 2022 4,840  536  561  5,937 

Depreciation/amortisation 
       

At 1 January 2022 3,159   1,132   516   4,807  

Charge for the year 1,103   332   151   1,586  

Disposals -   (1,133)  (288)  (1,421) 

At 31 December 2022 4,262   331   379   4,972  

Net book value 
       

At 31 December 2022 578   205   182  965 
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18. Intangible assets 

 2023  2022 

 £’000  £’000 

Cost 
   

At 1 January  3,811  2,926 

Additions 674  1,040 

Disposals -  (155) 

At 31 December 4,485  3,811 

Depreciation/amortisation  
 

 

At 1 January  974  518 

Charge for the year 807  611 

Disposals -  (155) 

At 31 December 1,781  974 

Net book value   
 

 

At 31 December 2,704  2,837 

 

Intangible assets comprise computer software, which consists of purchased software and other 
external costs directly associated with the development of software. The amortisation charge for the 
period is included in “Other administrative costs” as disclosed in note 8. 

19. Debt securities in issue 

Residential and buy to let mortgage assets are used as security for loan notes issued through the 
following vehicles: 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

Warehouse Funding    

Belmont Green Funding 1 Limited  98,853  145,887 

Belmont Green Funding 3 Limited 14,277  24,740 
Belmont Green Funding 4 Limited 129,530  218,827 

Belmont Green Funding 5 Limited 195,599  241,538 

 438,259  630,992 

Securitisation Funding     

Tower Bridge Funding 2020-1 PLC -  211,323 

Tower Bridge Funding 2021-1 PLC 171,696  280,600 

Tower Bridge Funding 2021-2 PLC 151,792  261,722 
Tower Bridge Funding 2022-1 PLC 220,926  363,886 
Tower Bridge Funding 2023-1 PLC 319,493  - 

Tower Bridge Funding 2023-2 PLC 374,743  - 

 1,238,650  1,117,531 

    

Total debt securities in issue 1,676,909  1,748,523 
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19. Debt securities in issue (continued) 

The asset-backed loan notes are secured on both fixed and variable rate mortgages and are 
redeemable in part from time-to-time, although such redemptions are limited to the net principal 
received from borrowers in respect of the underlying mortgages. It is likely that a large proportion of 
the underlying mortgages and, therefore, the notes will be repaid within five years. 

Asset-backed loan notes are expected to be repurchased by the Group from the outstanding Tower 
Bridge securitisations at the first call date. There is also the ability to repurchase the notes at any 
interest payment date after the call date. 

Interest is payable at fixed margins above SONIA.  

The Group priced an additional securitisation on 20 December 2023 with settlement taking place on 
9 January 2024. At 31 December 2023 the mortgages were not held within the securitisation vehicle 
and the issued notes were not recognised as liabilities. 
 

20. Other liabilities 
 2023  2022 

 £’000  £’000 

Term loans 56,000  49,000 

Accruals & payables 13,129  8,650 

Lease liability 262  688 

Forward flow completion monies received in advance 22  16 

Interest rate swap accrual 5,044  2,029 

Other liabilities 4,158  8,802 

 78,615  69,185 

 

Term loans consist of a £25m (2022: £25m) secured term loan from a third-party provider and a £31m 

(2022: £24m) term loan from the majority shareholder. Further disclosure around the shareholder loan 

is made in note 27. 

Total lease payments during the year were £457k (2022: £1,361k), with principal amounting to £445k 

(2022: £1,339k) and interest amounting to £12k (2022: £22k). 

 

21. Provisions 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

    

At 1 January  64  374 

Utilised during year -  - 

Credit for year -  (310) 

At 31 December  64  64 

 
Provisions include a dilapidations provision related to the anticipated costs of restoring leased assets 
to their original condition.  
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22. Share capital 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 
Authorised    

25,000,000 Preferred shares of £9.999 each 249,975  249,975 

25,000,000 Class A ordinary shares of £0.001 each  25  25 

1,000,000 Class B ordinary shares of £0.0001 each -  - 
4,700,000 Class C ordinary shares of £0.0001 each  -  - 

 250,000  250,000 

Issued, allotted and fully paid    
20,398,986 Preferred shares of £9.999 each  203,970  203,970 
20,398,986 Class A ordinary shares of £0.001 each  20  20 
1,000,000 Class B ordinary shares of £0.0001 each  -  - 
4,394,500 Class C ordinary shares of £0.0001 each  -  - 

 203,990  203,990 

 

23. Lease liabilities 

The Group has entered into leases for office space. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate 
applied to lease liabilities at inception was 3% resulting in the recognition of a lease liability of £262k 
(2022: £698k). 

 2023  2022 
 £’000  £’000 

Year 1  244  453 

Year 2 20  240 

Year 3 -  20 

 264  713 

Less: interest (2)  (15) 

At 31 December  262  698 

Analysed as:    

Current 20  441 

Non-Current 242  257 

 262  698 

 

24. Risk management and financial instruments 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that unfavourable market movements lead to a reduction in earnings or the 
Group’s economic value. The Group does not have a trading book nor foreign exchange exposures. All 
derivatives are entered into for the purposes of hedging.  

The main source of market risk is exposure to changes in interest rates and liquidity risk. Market risk 
is managed and monitored by the Group’s Treasury function with oversight by the Risk function.  
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24. Risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that unexpected losses may arise as a result of the Group’s borrowers or market 

counterparties failing to meet their obligations to repay. The classes of financial instruments to which 

the Group is most exposed are loans to customers and cash with other financial institutions. The 

maximum credit risk exposure equals the total carrying amount of these categories plus off-balance 

sheet undrawn mortgage facilities.  

Credit risk – loans to customers 

Credit risk associated with mortgage lending is largely driven by the housing market and the impact of 
inflation and unemployment on the ability of our customers to meet their monthly mortgage 
payments.. A recession and/or high interest rates could cause pressure within the market, resulting in 
rising levels of arrears and repossessions. 

All loan applications are assessed with reference to the Group’s lending policy. Changes to the policy 
are approved by the Board Risk Committee (BRC), with mandates set for the approval of loan 
applications. BRC regularly monitors lending activity, taking appropriate actions to adjust lending 
criteria in order to control risk and manage exposure. 

The following table provides a breakdown of loans to customers by indexed loan-to-value: 
 
   2023   

 BTL  

Owner-
occupied  

Second 
charge  Total   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  % 

0% - 50% 113,012   95,781   374   209,167   12.3% 

50% - 60% 247,870   104,240   260   352,370   20.7% 

60% - 70% 572,273   112,727   382   685,382   40.3% 

70% - 80% 286,197   76,242   140   362,579   21.3% 

80% - 90% 28,837   57,740   -   86,577   5.1% 

> 90% 2,005   974   -   2,979   0.2% 

Total loans to 
customers 

1,250,194   447,704   1,156   1,699,054   100% 
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24. Risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Credit risk – loans to customers (continued) 

 
 2022   

 BTL  

Owner-
occupied  

Second 
charge  Total   

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  % 

0% - 50% 122,810   112,261   389   235,460   13.5 

50% - 60% 305,495   129,466   550   435,511   24.9 

60% - 70% 668,143   127,344   223   795,710   45.5 

70% - 80% 173,155   58,396   94   231,645   13.2 

80% - 90% 7,395   43,376   -   50,771   2.9 

> 90% -   650   -   650   - 

Total loans to 
customers 

1,276,998   471,493   1,256   1,749,747   100 

  
An analysis of loans to customers by region at 31 December is as follows: 

 

 2023  2022 

 £’000  %  £’000  % 

East of England 182,151   10.7 
 

193,972   11.1 

East Midlands 82,527   4.9  81,059   4.6 

London 691,616   40.7  725,467   41.5 

North East 29,921   1.8  29,004   1.7 

North West 97,478   5.7  95,622   5.5 

South East 249,142   14.7  260,795   14.9 

South West 98,080   5.8  104,888   6.0 

West Midlands 99,838   5.9  100,968   5.8 

Yorkshire and the Humber 71,304   4.1  68,247   3.9 

Total England 1,602,057  94.3  1,660,022   94.9 

Scotland 56,250  3.3  49,919   2.9 

Wales 40,747  2.4  39,806   2.3 

Total loans to customers 1,699,054  100.0  1,749,747   100.0 
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24. Risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

The following table shows at year end, all gross loans to customers as categorised by the applicable 
IFRS 9 staging together with the ECL provision held. For Stages 1 and 2, the split between ‘Low risk’ 
and ‘High risk’ is determined by an internally defined threshold based on data provided by a third-
party scorecard provider. 
 

 Gross loans  Impairment provision 

 2023  2022  2023  2022 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Stage 1        

Low risk 1,226,950  1,031,490  968  619 

High risk 27,543  10,145  138  28 

Stage 2        

Low risk 314,394  593,732  1,031  2,597 

High risk 78,318  69,252  854  846 

Stage 3        

Impaired 51,849  45,129  2,598  1,835 

Total loans to customers 1,699,054  1,749,747  5,589  5,925 

 
Credit risk – cash at financial institutions 

The Group holds cash at financial institutions as part of its management of liquidity. The table below 
provides a breakdown of cash held at financial institutions by rating of those institutions. 
 

    31 December 2023 

 AAA  AA-   A+   A-   BB+   Total  
£’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
- 

 
43,900  132,565 

 
- 

 
168 

 
176,633 

 
  

  
      

 

    31 December 2022 

 AAA  AA-   A+   A-   BB+   Total 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
- 

 
67,045  104,602 

 
- 

 
162 

 
171,809 
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24. Risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

Liquidity risk  

The table below shows the timing of future cash outflows payable on an undiscounted basis for finance 
debt (assuming securitisations are repaid at the first call date), trade and other payables and accruals. 
These amounts will differ from carrying value as they include future interest payments. The floating 
rate interest is estimated using the prevailing rate at the balance sheet date.  
  

Trade and 
other payables  

 
Accruals 

 
Finance 

debt 

 
Interest on 

finance debt 

31 December 2023 £’000 
 

£’000 
 

£’000 
 

£’000 

Within one year 744   192  953,551   80,316 

1 to 2 years -   82   820,501   24,630  

2 to 3 years  -   28  106,551   1,016  
3 to 4 years -   -  -   -   

744   301   1,880,603   105,962 
  

Trade and 
other payables  

 
Accruals 

 
Finance 

debt 

 
Interest on 

finance debt 

31 December 2022 £’000 
 

£’000 
 

£’000 
 

£’000 

Within one year 442   1,782   1,077,080   51,749  
1 to 2 years -   39   300,191   25,223  
2 to 3 years  -   24   205,878   14,047  

3 to 4 years -   7   205,561   1,955   
442   1,852   1,788,711  92,974  

The table below shows the timing of contractual cash outflows for derivative financial instruments 
entered into for the purpose of managing interest rate risk, whether or not hedge accounting is 
applied. The amounts reflect the gross settlement amount where the pay leg of a derivative will be 
settled separately from the receive leg.  The swaps are with high investment-grade counterparties and 
therefore the settlement-day risk exposure is considered to be negligible.  For further information on 
derivative financial instruments, see note 10. 

    2023  2022 
Cash outflows for derivative financial instruments at 31 December   £’000  £’000 

Up to 1 month   4,016  1,223 
1-3 months   6,679  8,303 

3-12 months   24,873  28,855 

1-5 years   19,121  57,764 

Over 5 years   (839)  58 

    53,850  96,203 
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24. Risk management and financial instruments (continued) 

Interest rate risk  

The acceptable exposure to changes in interest rate is limited by Board defined risk appetite. 

Fixed rate cash flows, whether assets or liabilities, are hedged to SONIA by means of interest rate 
swaps. SONIA is an overnight interest rate that correlates highly with the Bank of England’s Base Rate 
during normal market conditions.  Exposures to interest rate risk other than those based on BBR, 
SONIA and Vida Variable Rate are minimal.  

Net exposures are hedged with external swap counterparties to mitigate the risk from interest rate 

movements.  

The Group uses two primary methods to quantify interest rate risk exposure, Economic Value (EV) and 
net interest income (NII). EV sensitivity measures the change in net present value of the Group’s asset, 
liability and derivative positions in response to an interest rate yield curve movement. NII sensitivity 
measures the change in NII over a 12-month time horizon following a change in the underlying interest 
rate yield curve. Each of these measures is stress tested in a variety of interest rate scenarios, using 
both parallel and non-parallel yield curve shifts. 

Sensitivity analysis of EV and NII is performed on the Group balance sheet. The projected change in 
response to an immediate parallel shift of 200bps in all relevant interest rates for EV and 25bps for NII 
was: 

 
 2023 2022  

 
 £’000 £’000  

EV: Impact on increase in rates  857 2,356 

 

EV: Impact on decrease in rates  (765) (2,643)  
 

    

NII: Impact on increase in rates  22 70  

NII: Impact on decrease in rates  (22) (77)  
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25. Net cash flows from operating activities 

Group 2023  2022 

 £’000  £’000 

Profit for the year 4,840  1,162 

Adjustments for non-cash items    

Taxation credit for the year (25)  (609) 

Write down of disposed assets (1)  62 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 222  483 

Amortisation of intangible assets 807  611 

Amortisation of right of use of asset 368  1,027 

Movement in fair value hedge (3,903)  706 

Movement in provisions -  (310) 

 2,308  3,131 

    

Changes in working capital    

Decrease in loans to customers 49,725  49,581 

Increase / (decrease) in amounts owed to credit institutions 29,249  (148) 

Decrease in receivables  (4,825)  (7,432) 

Decrease in accruals & payables  
Increase in other liabilities 

4,443 

(4,607) 

 1,210 

(2,725) 

Net (decrease)/ increase in derivatives and hedged items (5,786)  630 

Cash flows from operations 68,199  44,246 

    

Income taxes paid 49  23 

Net cash flows from operating activities 70,556  44,269 
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26. Related parties 

The Company has the following subsidiaries and other related parties, all of which are incorporated in 
Great Britain and are registered in England and Wales and operate throughout the United Kingdom 
(with the exception of the Pine Brook entities, which are registered in the Cayman Islands): 

Related party 
Holding 

100% ordinary 
shares 

Principal Activities Registered Address 

Subsidiaries    

Belmont Green Funding 1 Limited * Mortgage Finance 
1 Bartholomew Lane, London, England, 
EC2N 2AX 

Belmont Green Funding 1 Holdings Limited  * Non-trading 
1 Bartholomew Lane, London, England, 
EC2N 2AX 

Belmont Green Funding 3 Limited * Mortgage Finance 
1 Bartholomew Lane, London, United 
Kingdom, EC2N 2AX 

Belmont Green Funding 3 Holdings Limited  * Non-trading 
1 Bartholomew Lane, London, United 
Kingdom, EC2N 2AX 

Belmont Green Funding 4 Limited * Mortgage Finance 
1 Bartholomew Lane, London, England, 
EC2N 2AX 

Belmont Green Funding 4 Holdings Limited  * Non-trading 
1 Bartholomew Lane, London, England, 
EC2N 2AX 

Belmont Green Funding 5 Limited * Mortgage Finance 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
England, E14 5HU 

Belmont Green Funding 7 Limited *  Non- trading 
10th Floor, 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding No.3 PLC1 * Dissolved 
40a Station Road, Upminster, Essex, RM14 
2TR 

Tower Bridge Funding No.3 Holdings Limited2 * Dissolved 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
England, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding No.4 PLC * In liquidation 
40a Station Road, Upminster, Essex, RM14 
2TR 

Tower Bridge Funding No.4 Holdings Limited * In liquidation 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
England, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2020-1 PLC * In liquidation 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
England, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2020-1 Holdings 
Limited 

* In liquidation 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
England, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2021-1 PLC * Mortgage Finance 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2021-1 Holdings 
Limited 

* Non-trading 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2021-2 PLC * Mortgage Finance 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2021-2 Holdings 
Limited 

* Non-trading 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2022-1 PLC * Mortgage Finance 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2022-1 Holdings 
Limited 

* Non-trading 
10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
England, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2023-1 PLC 
* Mortgage Finance  

10th Floor, 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2023-1 Holdings 
Limited 

* Non-trading 
10th Floor, 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2023-2 Plc * 
Mortgage Finance 

10th Floor, 5 Churchill Place, London, 
United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2023-2 Holdings 
Limited 

* 
Non-trading 

10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
London, United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2024-1 Plc * 
Mortgage Finance 

10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
London, United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2024-1 Holdings 
Limited7 

* 
Non-trading 

10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
London, United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Tower Bridge Funding 2024-2 Plc * 
Mortgage Finance 

10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
London, United Kingdom, E14 5HU 
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Tower Bridge Funding 2024-2 Holdings 
Limited 

* 
Non-trading 

10th Floor 5 Churchill Place, London, 
London, United Kingdom, E14 5HU 

Belmont Green Finance Ltd * Mortgage Finance 
1 Battle Bridge Lane, London,  
United Kingdom, SE1 2HP 

Belmont Green Midco Limited * Holding Company 
1 Battle Bridge Lane, London,  
United Kingdom, SE1 2HP 

 
Related party 

 
 
Principal Activities 

 

Other related parties    

Pine Brook PD (Cayman) Intermediate, LP  Investment Fund  

Pine Brook Capital Partners II (Cayman) AV, LP  Investment Fund  

 
1Company was officially dissolved on 28 February 2023 

2Company was officially dissolved on 19 December 2023  

 
* The share capital of the warehouses and securitisation vehicles is not owned by the Group, but the 
vehicles are included in the consolidated financial statements as they are controlled by the Group. 
Please refer to note 2(c) for more information. 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the below subsidiaries are entitled to audit exemption under 
Section 479(a) of the Companies Act 2006.  
 

Subsidiary Registration Number 

Belmont Green Funding 1 Holdings Limited 10272535 

Belmont Green Funding 3 Holdings Limited 10272604 

Belmont Green Funding 4 Holdings Limited 11066453 

Belmont Green Funding 7 Limited 13970686 

Tower Bridge Funding 2021-1 Holdings Limited 13061721 

Tower Bridge Funding 2021-2 Holdings Limited 13381541 

Tower Bridge Funding 2022-1 Holdings Limited 13688059 

Tower Bridge Funding 2023-1 Holdings Limited 14070057 

Tower Bridge Funding 2023-2 Holdings Limited 14762202 

Tower Bridge Funding 2024-1 Holdings Limited 15198553 

Belmont Green Midco Limited 09837594 

 

27. Related party transactions 

In 2022 and 2023 Belmont Green Limited entered into agreements with Pine Brook PD (Cayman) 

Intermediate, LP in which £31m shareholder interest-bearing term loans were provided to Belmont 

Green Limited.  
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  2023  2022 

 Notes  £'000  £'000 

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 34  3  3 

Other receivables 30  28,932  21,929 

Investment in subsidiaries 31  204,462  204,462 

Total assets   233,397  226,394 

 
     

Liabilities 
     

Other liabilities 32 
 

32,824  24,596 

Total liabilities 
  

32,824  24,596 

 
    

 

Shareholders’ Equity 
     

Share capital 22  
203,990  203,990 

Share premium   41  39 

Retained loss 
  

(3,458)  (2,231) 

Total shareholders’ equity 
  

200,573  201,798 

Total liabilities and equity   
233,397  226,394 

 

The loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 of Belmont Green Limited as a Company was 
£1,227k (2022: Loss after tax £822k). As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no 
separate statement of Comprehensive Income is presented in respect of the Company. 

The notes on pages 129 to 131 form part of these financial statements 
 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 July 2024 and signed on 
behalf of the Board. 
 
 
 
 
Anthony Mooney 
Company registration: 09828204  

Aimee.Landon
Anth
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Notes  

 

 
Called up 

share 
capital 

 Retained 
earnings 

 

Total 

 
  

  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Balance at 1 January 2023   
  203,990  (2,231)  201,759 

Loss for the year   
  -  (1,227)  (1,227) 

Balance at 31 December 
2023 

  

  203,990  (3,458)  200,532 

          
Balance at 1 January 2022   

  203,990  (1,409)  202,581 
 
Loss for the year  

  

  -  (822)  (822) 

Balance at 31 December 
2022 

  

  203,990  (2,231)  201,759 
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   2023  2022 

 Notes  £'000  £'000 

      
Net cash utilised in operating activities  33  (2) 

 
(39) 

Investment in subsidiaries   -  - 

Net cash utilised in investing activities    - 
 

- 

Proceeds from shares issued   2  39 

Net cash utilised by financing activities    2 
 

39 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    0  0 

      

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   3  3 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year   3 
 

3 
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28. Basis of preparation, significant accounting policies and critical judgements and 
estimates 

(a) Accounting basis  

The separate financial statements of Belmont Green Limited (the Company) are prepared and 
presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the United 
Kingdom. The significant accounting policies are the same as set out in note 2 of the consolidated 
financial statements except as noted below. 

(b) Income statement  

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the company is not required to present its 
own Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(c) Securitisation vehicles 

The sale of the beneficial ownership of the loans to customers to the special purpose vehicles (SPVs) 
fails the derecognition criteria and, hence, these loans remain on the statement of the financial 
position of the company. In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company recognises the securitised assets as 
loans and receivables and consequently also shows a deemed loan liability to the SPVs where the 
Company still holds an interest in the loans. An equivalent deemed loan asset is recognised on the 
SPV’s statement of financial position. The deemed loans are repaid as and when principal repayments 
are made by customers against their loans. The Company substantially retains the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to bear the credit risk of these mortgage assets. 

29. Loans and advances to customers  

A detailed breakdown of the loans to customers can be found in note 13 of the consolidated accounts. 
At 31 December 2023, loans to customers were £1,712m (2022: £1,761m) which included £1,699m 
(2022: £1,749m) which were part of secured funding arrangements, resulting in beneficial interest in 
these loans being transferred to the SPVs. 

30. Other receivables 

 2023  2022 

 £'000  £'000 

Amounts owed by related parties 27,572  21,004 

Prepayments 1,360  925 

 28,932  21,929 
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31. Investment in subsidiary undertakings 

 2023  2022 

 £'000  £'000 

At 1 January 204,462  204,462 

Prior year effect -  - 

At 31 December 204,462  204,462 

 

32. Other liabilities 

 2023  2022 

 £'000  £'000 

Amounts owed to related parties 32,824  24,596 
 32,824  24,596 

 

33. Net cash flow from operating activities 

 2023  2022 

 £ 000  £ 000 

Loss for the year  (1,227)  (822) 

    
Changes in working capital    
Increase in receivables (7,002)  (21,506) 

Decrease in accruals & payables  8,227  22,289 

Cash flows from operations (2)  (39) 

    

Income taxes paid -  - 

Net cash utilised in operating activities  (2)  (39) 

 

34. Cash and cash equivalent 

 2023  2022 

 £'000  £'000 

Cash and cash equivalent 3  3 

 3  3 

 

35. Amounts owed to credit institutions 

These amounts are in respect of repurchase agreements of financial securities that the Company 
entered into with the counterparties which are active at the end of year. 
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36. Related parties 

All of the Company’s related parties can be found in note 26 of the consolidated accounts. All are 
incorporated in the United Kingdom, are registered in England and Wales and operate throughout the 
United Kingdom, with the exception of Pine Brook PD (Cayman), Intermediate, LP and Pine Brook 
Capital Partners II (Cayman) AV, LP which were formed and are currently registered in the Cayman 
Islands. 

 

37. Subsequent events  

After the company’s year-end reporting period and before the issuance of the financial statements, 
BGFL completed 2 successful RMBS transactions, Tower Bridge Funding 2024-1 Plc in January 2024 
and Tower Bridge Funding 2024-2 Plc in April 2024. The securitisations enable £600m of further 
available capacity within the warehouse funding facilities. This is a non-adjusting event and noted for 
information purposes. 

On 5 April 2024, the outstanding shareholder loans had 3 month extensions to their repayment 
dates granted such that the repayment dates will now be 7 July 2024 or such later date as may be 
agreed between the parties. 
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